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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the shareholders of Banca Comerciala Romana SA

1 We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Banca Comerciala
Romana SA and its subsidiaries (the “Bank™), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements

2 Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the European Union, and for such internal controf as management determined is necessary to
enable the preparation of consoiidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's responsibility

3 Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

4 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

5 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion
6 In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Bank as of 31 December 2011, and of its financial performance and its cash

flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union.

Ernst and Young Assurance Services SRL
Bucharest, Romania

13 March 2012
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

Group Bank
RON Thousand Notes 2071 2010 2011 2010
Inleresl and similar income 4 6,160,022 6912947 6,198,088 6,648,067
Interest and similar expenses 5 (3,028,269) (3,163,184) (2,940.983) (2,994.129)
Nat interesi income 3,131,753 3,749,763 3,257,105 3,653,938
Fee and commission income B 883,475 870,137 £39,960 830,418
Fee and commission expenses 6 (303,394)  (405,763)  (209,244)  {389,566)
Net fee and commisslon income 6 580,081 464,374 550,716 440,852
Net lrading income: 7 422,384 311,051 409,322 292,566
Net gain or loss on financial assels designaled al fair value through
profit or loss {1,228} 573 (1,228) 574
Other operating income 8 184,923 76,062 187,632 23,937
Total operating income 4,317,913 4,601,813 4,403,547 4,411,867
Credit loss expense 9 {2,154,852) (1,097,668) (2,062,132} (1.727.017)
Net operating Incoma 2,163,061 2,604,145 2,341,415 2,684,850
Personnel expenses 10 (879,284) (873,693) (785,464) {770,0286)
Deprecialion and impairmenl of property and equipment 20 (166,496} (150,268) (133,006) {122,750)
Amortizalion and impairment of intangible assels 21 (88,731) (46,465) (62,374) (44,881}
Other operating expenses 1 (910,943) (891,808} (1,076,001) {867,122}
Total oparaling expenses (2,043,454) (1,962,234) (2,046,845} (1,804,759}
Profit befora tax 119,607 641,911 294,570 880,091
income tax expense 12 (48,682)  (174,269) {49,628)  (148,259)
Profii for the year 70,925 467,642 244 942 731,832
Other comprehensive incomea
Net gainf{loss) on available-for-sale financial investments (3,596) 17,401 (6.270) 17,466
Exchange differences on translalion of foreign operalions (126,593} 7.521 - -
Net gain rom cash Row hedges 10,212 - 10,212 -
el gainf{loss) on hedge of net investment 32,938 {6,208) - -
Acluarial gains on defined benefil plans 14,059 21,753 14,056 21,753
Income tax relating io the componenls of other comprehensive income (8,195) (5.234) {2,880) (6,274)
Other comprehensive Income for the year, nst of 1ax (81,175) 35,233 15,118 32,945
Total comprahensive income for the year, net of tax {10,250) 502,875 260,060 764,777
Profit attributable [o:
Equity holders of the parent 68,353 464,977 244942 731,832
Non-contralling interests 2,572 2,665 - -
Total comprehensive income attribulable to:
Equity holders of the parent {12,889) 500,192 260,060 764,777
Non-conirolling interests 2,638 2,683 - -
The financial statemenls were approved by qement Board on 13 March 2012 and were signed on ils behalf by

r. Helmuth Hintringer
ecutive Vice President
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Consolidated and Bank
at 31 December 2011

Grou Bank

RON Thousand Notes 2011 2010 2077 2010
ASSETS
Cash and balancas wilh cenlral banks 15 10,324,934 9,545,385 10,290,771 9,468,523
Due from banks 16 1,100,210 1,771,738 1,006,357 1,455,735
Derivative financial instrumants 28 86,437 43,287 85,036 43,266
Financial assels held for irading 17 701,698 966,944 701,698 966,944
Financial assels designaled at fair value through profil or loss 17 41,954 41,963 41,954 41,963
Loans and advances lo customers, nel 18 47,803,525 47,393,687 46,990,434 45,160,818
Financial inveslments — available-lor-sale 19 5,244,501 3,825,371 6,158,721 4,963,595
Financial invesiments — held-lo-maturity 19 8,011,821 5,442,218 7,155,608 4,998,420
Properiy and equipment 20 1,584,721 1,683,938 535,398 751,276
Goodwill and olher inlangible assels 21 439,820 424,320 243,528 220,638
Curreni Lax assels 177,428 192,961 177,284 189,527
Deferred lax assets 12 46,920 53,612 - -
Other assats 22 968,983 2,087,622 497,042 1,684,482
Assels held for sale 24 212,663 29,429 - -
TOTAL ASSETS 76,745,665 13,612,405 73,883,631 69,045187
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Due 1o banks 23 22,906,394 21,823,532 20,742,113 18,902,313
Repurchase agreements - 1,886 - 1,886
Derivative financial inslruments 28 1,854,888 1,788,377 1,854,888 1,788,377
Due to customers 25 39,664,200 37826936 38,942,762 37,287,146
Debl issued and olher borrowed funds 26 1,132,821 638,177 1,000,689 638,177
Current lax liabilities 4,071 21,726 - -
Deferred lax liabililies 12 534,427 498,405 506,256 465,990
Other liabilities 29 771,985 1,688,515 666,891 1,547,872
Provisions 30 305,778 253,951 207,845 226,471
Subordinated liabilities 27 2,024,690 1,967,317 2,024,690 1,967,317
TOTAL LIABILITIES 69,199,363 66,508,822 66,036,334 62,825,549
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF PARENT
Issued capital a2 2880660 2,357,433 2,880,660  2,357.433
Relained samings 3,572,337 3,559,412 3917854 3,728,440
Available-for-sale reserve 32 (34.044) (31,449) (35,846) (30,579)
Foreign currency lranslation reserve 32 14,225 141,900 - -
Other capilal reserve 32 1,088,663 1.049,835 1,084,729 1,064,344

7,532,041 7,077,131 7,847 497 7,119,638
Non-controlling interests 14,261 26,532 - -
TOTAL EQUITY 7,546,302 7,103,663 7,847,497 7,119,638
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 76,745,665 73,612,485 73,893,831 699451687

The financial slatemenls were approved by the Management Board on 13 March 2012 and were signed on ils behalf by:

. Helmuth Hintringer
ive Vice President

The accompanying netes form an integral par of these finandal statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

GROUP
Attributable to aquity holders of the parent
Other Non-
Issued Retalned capital controlling Total
RON Thousand capital earnings reserves  Total Interests aqulty
At 31 December 2010 2,357,433 3,559,412 1,160,286 7,077,131 26532 7,103,663
Net loss on avallable-lor-sale financial invesiments - - (3,546) (3,546) {50) (3.596)
Exchange differences on translalicn of foreign operations - - {126,703) {126,703) 110 (126,593)
Actugrigl gain en defined benefit plans - - 14,059 14,059 - 14,059
Nel gain from cash llow hedges - - 10.212 10,212 - 10,212
Nel gain on hedge of net investment - - 32,938 32,938 - 32,938
Income lax relaling io the components of other comprehensive income - - (8.202) {8,202) 7 (8,195)
Other comprehensive income for the year . - (81,242) (91,242} 67 (84,175)
Prafit for the year - 68,353 - 68,353 2,572 70,925
Total comprehensive Income for the year - 68,353 {81,242)  (12,009) 2,639 {10,250)
Share capital increase by shareholders' conlribulion 467,799 - - 467,799 - 467,799
Share capital increase by distributlon of retained samings 55428 (55,428} - - - -
Changes in parent's ownership inlerest in a subsidlary - - - - (12,137) {12,137)
Distribulien of dividends - - - - 12.773) (2.773)
Al 31 December 2011 2,880,660 3,672,337 1,079,044 7,532,041 14,261 7,546,302
At 31 December 2009 2,119,693 3,320,857 1,125,071 6,574,621 26,766 6,601,387
Nel gain on available-for-sale linancial inveslments - - 17,628 17,628 (227} 17.401
Exchange differences on lranslation of foreign operalions - - 7,314 7114 207 7521
Actuanal gan on defined benefil plans - - 21,753 21,753 - 21,753
Net loss on hetge of net invesiment - - {6,208} (6.208) - (6,208}
Income tax relaling to the components of olher comprehensive income - - {5,272} 5,272} 38 (5,234}
Other comprehenslva incoma for the year - - 35,215 35,215 18 35,233
Profit for Lhe year - 464,977 - 464.977 2.665 467,642
Total comprahensive Income for the year - 464,977 35,215 500,192 2,683 502,873
Share Capilal Increasa by distribulion of Retained Eamings 237,740 (237 740) - - - -
Distribution of dividends - 2,318 - 2,218 (2,917) (599)
At 31 December 2010 !.555.33 3,559,412 1,160,286 7,077,131 26,532 7,103,663
BANK
Other
{ssued Retalned  capltal
RON Thousand capital eamings reserves  Total
At 31 December 2010 2,357,433 3,728,440 1,033,785 7,110,638
Nel loss on available-for-sale financial invesimants - - (6,270) (6,270)
Acluarnial gain on defined banefil plans - - 14,056 14,056
Net gain from cash flow hedges - - 10,212 10,212
Income Lax ralating lo the components of oiher comprehensive income - - (2,880} (2.880)
Othar comprehenalve Income for the year - - 15,118 15,118
Profit for the year - 244,942 - 244,942
Tetal comprahenslve Incoma for the year - 244,842 15118 260,060
Share capital increase by shareholders’ conbribution 467,799 - - 467,799
Share capital increase by distribution of relained samings 55,428 {55,428) - -
Al 31 December 2011 88y, BT, WA, 847,
At 31 December 2008 2,118,603 3,234,348 1,000,820 6,354,081
Nat gains on available-for-sale financial investmeants - - 17,466 17,466
Actuarial gain on defined banefit plans - - 21,753 21,753
Incoma tax relating Lo Lhe components of other comprahensive income - - (6,274) (6.274)
Other comprehenslve Income for the year - - 32,045 32,045
Profi for lhe year - 731,832 - 731.832
Tolal Income and expensa for the year - 734,832 32,045 784,777
Share capiial increase by distribution of ralained samings 237,740 (237,740) - -
At 31 Decamber 2010 2,357,433 o1 28, 033, 18,

The accompanying nokes form an integral parl of hese inandal statements
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Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

Group Bank
RON Thousand Notes 2011 2010 2011 2010
Profil belore lax 119,607 641,911 294,570 880,091
Adjustments for:
Change in operating assets 35 {1,272,519) (1,644,452) (2,326.411) (3,391.567)
Change in operating liabilities 35 2,538,748 4,696,540  2,618.445 4,363,666
Non-cash items included in profil before lax 35 2,470,186 2,237,727 2,462,494 1,926,429
Nel gain from invesling aclivilies as (102,539) {23,395) {235,658} (126,951}
Payments made against provisions 35 (52,966) (20,389) {31,161) (13,548)
Income tax paid 16,285 67,399 - 58,408
Net cash flows from operaling actlvities 3,684,242 5,820,543 2,782,278 3,579,694
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of properly, equipmenl and inlangibles (353,721) (282,480} (288,702) (142,185)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipmenl 137,953 61,581 291,937 240,430
Purchasa ol linancial invesiments (7,667,026} (7.947.822) (7,172,048) (7.944,686)
Proceeds rom sale of [inancial investments 3,875,129 4094267 3,790,584 4,010,327
Acquisilion of subsidiary nel of cash acquired - (12,837) - -
Dividends received 6,294 2,950 12,772 131,708
Net cash flows used In investing activities {4,001,371) (4,084,441} (3,266,357) (3,704,408)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from subordinaled liabililies 60,782 119,650 60,782 31,652
Proceeds from issue of share capilal 467,799 - 467,799 -
Proceeds from debt issued and aolher borrowed funds 1,314,259 2,220,365 1,057,269 724,051
Repaymenl of debl issued and other borowed funds (1,368,187) {4,530,386) {783,098) (931,806)
Dividends paid lo non-conirolling inlerests {2,773 (2,817) - -
Net cash flows used in financing actlvities 470,680  (2,193,288) 802,752 {176,103)
Nel decrease in cash and cash equivalents 153,751 (457,186} 318,673 (300,817)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Januvary 11,213,678 11,670,864 10,884,616 11,185,433
Cash and cash equlvalents at 31 December a5 11,367,429 11,213,678 11,203,289 10,884,616
Operatlonal cash flows from Interest
Interesi paid 3,418,325 3,263,580 3,320,267 3,080,016
Interesl receved 7,505,646 6,776,581 7.276,175 6,628,520

The accomparntying notes form an integral part of these inancial stalements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Banca Comerciala Romana S.A. {the Bank' or 'BCR') logether with its subsidiaries (the 'Group’) provides refail, corporate banking and
inveslment banking services mainfy in Romania, As a resull of the privatizalion process organized by the govemment of Romania, Erste Bank
der oesterreichischen Sparkassen AG (“Erste Bank™) purchased 61.88% of the share capital of the Bank pursuant to a share purchase
agreement daled 21 December 2005. Until 31 December 2011, Erste Bank purchased further 27.25% from employees and cther shareholders
of the Bank, The ulfimate parenl of the Group is Ersle Group Bank Ceps Holding GmbH.

The Group provides day-to-day banking services and other financial services to govemmenlal institulions, corporale and individual clienis
operating in Romania and abroad. These services include: accounts opening, domestic and intemalional payments, foreign exchange
fransaclions, working capilal finance, medium and long term facililies, relail loans, finance micra and small enterprises, bank guarantees, letiers
of credit and lhrough subsidiaries also leasing, brokerage, financial consuliancy services and asset management.

Banca Comerciala Romana S.A. Is incorporaled and domiciled in Romania. lis registered office is al 5, Elisabela Boulevard, Bucharesl,
Romania.

The consolidated financial statements for lhe year ended 31 December 2011 were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the
Managemenl Board on 13 March 2012.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies apply 1o both the consclidaled (‘Group”) and separate financial slatements of the Bank, except for accounting of
invesiments in subsidiaries in the Bank’s financial stalements,

21. Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a hislorical cost basis modified 1o include the inflalion adjustments under
Intemational Accounting Standard (IAS) 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflafionary Economies” up lo 31 December 2003, except for available-
for-sale invesiments, Iraiding financial assets, derivative financial instruments and financial asseis at fair value through proftt or loss, thal have
been measured at fair value.

The Bank and its subsidiaries which are incorporated in Romania mainlain their books of account and prepare their statutory financial
statements in accordance with Romanian Accounling Regulations and in the case of the Bank and its subsidiaries “BCR Leasing IFN SA”,
“BCR Partener IFN" and “BCR Banca pentru Locuinle’, also in accordance with Romanian Banking Regulations. The foreign subsidiaries
maintain their books of accounl and prepare their statutory financial statements in their presentalion currencies and in accordance with the
requiations of the counlries in which they operate. The consolidated financial statemenis have been prepared from statutory financial
stalements of the Bank and its subsidiaries and presenled in accordance wilh IFRS with adjusiments and certain reclassifications for the
purpose of the fair presentalion in accordance with IFRS. These adjustments are summarized in Note 33.

The consolidated financial statements are presenied in Romanian Lei (*RON'), and all values are rounded lo the nearest RON thousands,
excepl when otherwise indicaled.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

The Bank has the foflowing subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements of lhe Group as at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010:

Shareholding
Company's name Country of 31-Dec-11 31-Dec-10
tncorporation Nature of the business

Anglo-Romaruan Bank Lld United Kingdom  Barking . 100%
BCR Chisinav SA Moldova Banling 100% 100%
Financiara SA Romania Financial 6746%  97.46%
BCR Securilies SA Romania Brokerage (company under fiquidation} 89.23% 8923%
BCR Leasing IFN SA Romania Financiai leasing 9987% 59.87%
BCR Asset Managemeni SA Romania Asset Managemenl (company under liquidation} - B125%
Bucharesl Financial Plazza SRL* Romania Real eslale 100.0% 100,00%
BCR Pensii, Socielale de Admiusirare a Fondurior de Pensi Private SA Romaria Pension Fund 99.09%  59.99%
BCR Banca pentru Locuinle SA Romania Housing loans B0.00%  B0.00%
BCR Parlener IFN SA Romana Consumer loans 99.99%  99.99%
BCR Finance BY The Nelherands  Financial 100% 100%
Suport Calect SRL Romarua Waorkout 100% 100%
BCR Procesare SRL Romama Gash processing and stenng 100% 100%
BCR Real Eslate Management SRL Romarua Real estate 100% 100%
BCR Fleel Management SRL"™ Romania Operalional leasing 9967% 99.87%
Good-Bes Service SRL Romania Mobile phone iransactions 99.96% 99.99%
BCR Paymenls SPY Romania Payments transactions 9096%  0.00%

* Company held indirectly by BCR through BCR Real Eslale Managemen| SRL
** Company held indirectly by BCR hrough BCR Leasing SA

(1) impact of inflation

Romania was a hyperinflalionary economy and was officially dectared as ceasing fo be hyperinfiationary for IFRS reporting purposes as at 4
July 2004. The financial statements of the Group and the Bank have been restated to take into account he effecis of inflation until 31 December
2003 in accordance wih lhe provisions of and guidance in 1AS 29. In summary IAS 29 requires that financial stalements prepared on a
historical cost should be restated in terms of measuring unil cumrent at the balance sheet date and that any gain or loss on the net monetary
position should be included in the profil or loss and disclosed separately.

{2) Statement of compliance

The consolidaled financial slatements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Itemational Financial Reporling Standards (IFRS)
and ils interpretations issued by the Inlemational Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the EU.

The Bank presens its statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding recovery or seftlement within 12 months
after the statemenl of financial position date (current) and more than 12 months afler the slatement of financial position date {non-current) is

presented in Note 39.

Financial assets and financial liabilifies are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position only when Lhere is a legally
enlorceable right fo offset lhe recognised amounts and there is an intention to setfle on a net basis, or lo realise the assets and seftle the liability
simultaneously. Income and expense will not be offset in the stalement of comprehensive income unless required or permitled by any
accounting standard or interpretation, as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Bank,

(3) Basis of consolidation

The consolidaled financial statements comprise lhe financial stalements of the Bank as al and for the year ended 31 December each year. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the Bank, using consistent accounting policies.
The Bank is accounling the invesimenis in subsidiaries in the separate financial stalements as “Financial investments - available-for-sale”.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resuling from intra-group fransactions are efiminated in full
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is lransferred to the Bank. Conlrol is achieved where the Bank has the power
fo govem the financial and operating policies of an enlity so as to oblain benefits from ils activities. The results of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during he year are included in lhe consolidated profil or ioss from the date of acquisition or up to the dale of disposal, as
appropriale.

The Bank sponsors the formation of special purpose eniities (SPEs), primarily for the purpose of facilitation of invesiments by the Bank’s clients,
and to accomplish certain namow and well defined objectives. The Bank consolidates those SPEs if the substance of its relationship with them
indicaies (hat it has control aver Lhem.

Non-controlling inlerests represent the portion of profit or loss and nel assels not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Bank and are presented
separalely in the profil or loss and within equity in the consalidated slalement of financial posilion, separalely from parent shareholders’ equity.
Up lo 1 July 2009, acquisitions of minority interests were accounled for using the parent eniity exlension method, whereby, the difference
between the consideralion and the fair value of the share of the nel assets acquired was recognized as goodwill. Any deficiency of he cost of
acquisition below the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired (i.e. a discount on acquisition) is recognized directly in the profit or loss in
Lhe year of acquisition. After 1 July 2009, any change in ownership interest of a subsidiary is accounted for as an equity transaclion. Therefore
such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor wil it give raise to a gain or loss.

22. Significant accounting judgments and estimates

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, managemenl has used ils judgments and made estimates in determining the
amounts recognized in the financial stalements. The most significant use of judgments and estimales are as follows:

1) Fair value of financial instruments

Where the [air values of financial assels and financial liabilities recorded on the balance sheet cannol be derived from active markels, they are
delermined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of mathemalical models. The inpul to these models is taken from
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in eslablishing fair values. The judgments
include considerations of liquidity and mode! inputs.

2 Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Group reviews its individually significanl loans and advances at each statement of financial position date lo assess whether an impaiment
loss should be recorded in the stalement of comprehensive income. In particular, judgment by management is required in lhe estimation of the
amount and timing of future cash flows when delermining the impairment loss. In estimating these cash flows, lhe Bank makes judgments
about the borrawer's financial situation and the net realisable value of collaleral. These estimales are based on assumptions about a number of
faciors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.

Laans and advances thai have been assessed individualty and found not lo be impaired and all individually insignificant loans and advances are
then assessed calleclively, in groups of assels with similar risk characteristics, o delermine whether provision should be made due to incured
loss events for which there is objective evidence bul whose effects are nol yel evidenl. The collective assessmenl takes account of data from
the loan portfolio {such as credil quality, levels of amears, credit utilisation, loan lo collateral rafios elc.), concenirations of risks and economic
dala (including levels of unemployment, real estate prices indices, counlry risk and the performance of different individual groups).

The impairment loss on loans and advances s disclosed in more detail in Note 9 and Note 18.
(3) Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments

The Group lreats available-for-sale equity investmens as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in (he fair value

below its cost or where other objeclive evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment.
The Group freals ‘significanl’ generally as 20% and ‘prolonged’ greater than 1 year. In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, such as the

share price volatility.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
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2, ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(4) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assels are recognized for all unused lax losses to the extent ihat il is probable thal taxable profit will be available against which the
losses can be utilized, Significan management judgment is required to delermine the amount of delemed tax assets thal can be recognized,
based upon the likely liming and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning sirategies.

(5) Benefits granted on the date of retirement

The cost of the defined benefit consisting of a one-off payment of up (o six monthly gross salaries on the date of refirement is determined using
actuarial valuation. The acluarial valuation involves making assumplions about discount rales, expecled rates of relum on assets, future salary
increases and mortality rates. Due to the long ferm nalure of these plans, such eslimates are subject lo significant unceriainty. See Note 31 for
the assumptions used.

(6) Goeing concem

The Bank's management has made an assessment of the Bank's ability to continue as a going concem and is safisfied that the Bank has the
resources to conlinue in business for the foreseeable fulure. Furthermore, management is not aware of any malenial uncertainties thal may cast
significant doubt upon the Bank's ability to continue as a going concem. Therefore, Lhe financial siatemenls continue lo be prepared on the
going concem basis.

23. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting poficies applied in the preparation of the separate financial statements of the Bank and of the consolidaied financial
stalements of the Group are set out below.

{1} Foreign currency translation

The financial stalements are presenied in RON, which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency. Each enlity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial statemenis of each enity are measured using that functional currency.

(il Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign cumencies are inilially recorded in the functional curency al the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the lransaclion.

Monelary assets and liabilities denominaled in foreign currencies are retranslated into the funclional currency at the rate of exchange ruling al
the statement of financial posilion date. All differences are taken to ‘Net irading income in the profit or loss, excepl for differences on foreign
currency differences arising on effective hedges against net investment in a foreign enlity. Such differences are taken directly to equity until the
disposal of the net investment, at which ime they are recognised in the profil or loss.

Non-monelary items that are measured in ferms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using lhe exchange rates as al the dales
of the initial ransaclions. Non-monelary flems measured at fair value in a foreign cumency are lranslated using the exchange rates al the date
when the fair value was determined.

(i) Group companies

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabiliies of subsidiaries are translaled into he Bank’s presentalion curency (RON) at the rate of
exchange ruling al the sialement of financial position dale, and their profits or losses are translaled al the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising on translation are taken directly lo a separale component of equity. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred
cumulalive amount recognized in equity relaling to that particular foreign operation is recognized in lhe statement of comprehensive income in
‘Other operating expenses’ or ‘Other operating income’, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31 December 2011

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
{2) Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement
{}) Date of recognition

Purchases or sales of financial assels that require delivery of assets within [he time frame generally established by regulalion or convention in
the marketplace are recognized on the setlemenl dale, Le. the date on which the agreement s seftied by delivery of assets that are subjecl of
the agreement. Derivalives are recognized on lrade dale basis, i.e. the date thal the Group or lhe Bank commits lo purchase or sell the assel.

{if) Initial recognition of financial instruments

The classification of financial instruments al inilial recognition depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired and
their characteristics. All financial instruments are measured inilially ai their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities
not a fair value through profil or loss, any direclly afirbutable incremental cosls of acquisition or issue.

(iif) Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss

Derivalives include curmency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts, interest rate swaps and inerest rate oplions. Derivalives are recorded
al fair value and carried as assels when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when Iheir fair value is negative. Changes in ihe fair value of
derivalives held for rading are included in ‘Nef trading income’.

Interest relaled o interest rale swaps is recognized as interest income and interesl expense over the period of interest rale swap instrumenls in
accordance with contraclual lerms.

(iv) Financial assets held for trading

Financial assels or financial liabilites held for trading, comprising financial instruments held for rading other than derivatives, are recorded in the
statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized in ‘Net irading income'. Interest and dividend income or
expense are recorded in ‘Net trading income' according fo the temms of the contract, or when the right to the payment has been established.

Included in this classification are debt securiies, equities and short positions in debt securiies and securities which have been acquired
principally for Lhe purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.

(v) Financial assets or financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities classified in this calegory are designated by managemenl on initial recognition when the following criteria
are met:

«  fthe designation eliminales or significantly reduces the inconsislent treatment thal would otherwise arise from measuring the assels or
liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on them on a different basis; or

+  lhe assels and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilifies or both which are managed and iheir performance
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or invesiment stralegy; or

. the financial instrument contains an embedded derivalive, unless the embedded derivative does not significantly modify lhe cash
flows of it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be separately recorded.

Financial assels and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of financial posilion at fair value.
Changes in fair value are recorded in ‘Net gain or loss on financial assets and liabilifies designated at fair value lhrough proft or loss’. Interest
eamed or incurred is accrued in interest income or expense, respectively, according to the terms of the contract, while dividend income is
recorded in Interest and similar income’ when the right fo the payment has been established.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
{vi) Held-fo-maturity financial investments

Held-to-malurity financial investmenls are those which carry fixed or determinable payments and have fixed maturties and which the Group has
the inlention and ability to hold to maturity. After inilial measurement, held-to-malurity financial investments are subsequently measured at
amoriized cost using lhe effeclive inlerest rate method, less allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is calculaled by taking inlo account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an inlegral parl of the effective interest rate. The amortization is included in ‘Interest and
similar income’ in the statement of comprehensive income, The losses arising from impairment of such invesimenis are recognized in the
statemeni of comprehensive income line ‘Other operaling expenses’.

If the Group wete to sell or reclassify more than an insignificant amounl of held-to-maturity investments before maturity (other than in certain
specific circumstances), the enlire category would be tainled and would have lo be reclassified as available-for-sale. Furthermore, the Group
would be prohibiled from classifying any financial asset as held lo maturity during the following two years.

{vij) Due from banks and Ioans and advances to customers

‘Due from banks’ and ‘Loans and advances to customers' are financial assets with fixed or deferminable payments and fixed maturities Lhat are
not quoted in an aclive markel. They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or shori-term resale and are not classified as 'Financial
assels held for irading’, designaled as ‘Financial investments - available-for-sale’ or ‘Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or
loss’. Afler initial measurement, amounts due from banks and loans and advances to cusiomers are subsequently measured at amoriized cost
using lhe effective interest rate method, less allowance for impaimment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees and costs that should be an inegral part of the effective interest rate. The amoriization is included in ‘Interest
and similar income’ in the statement of comprehensive income. The losses arising from impaimment are recognized in lhe slalement of
comprehensive income in ‘Credit loss expense’.

{viii) Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are lhose which are designated as such or do not qualify to be classified as financial investments al fair
value lhrough profil or loss, trading financial assels, held-to-maturity or loans and advances. They include equity instruments, investments in
mutual funds and money market and other debt insiruments. After iniial measuremen, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses are recognized directly in equity in the ‘Available-for-sale reserve’. When the
security is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in
‘Other operating income’ or ‘Other operating expenses’. Where the Group holds more than one investment in the same security they are
deemed 1o be disposed of on a firstin firsl-out basis. Interest eamed whilst holding available-for-sale financial investments is reported as
interesl income using lhe effective inlerest raie. Dividends eamed whilst holding avallable-for-sale financial invesiments are recognized in the
profil o loss as ‘Interest and similar income’ when the right of the payment has been eslablished. The losses arising from impaiment of such
investmenls are recognized in the profil or loss in ‘Other operaling expenses’ and removed from the available-for-sale reserve.

(ix} Debt issued and other borrowed funds

Issued financial instruments or their components, which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss, are classified as liabiliies under
Debl issued and other bomowed funds’, where the substance of the contraciual amrangemenl resulis in the Group having an obligation either to
deliver cash or another financial asset lo the holder, or to salisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or anolher
financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. Afier initial measurement, debl issued and other borowings are subsequently
measured at amortized cosl using the effective inlerest rale method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into accounl any discouni or
premium on lhe issue and cosls that should be an integral part of the effective inlerest rate.

(x) Reclassification of financial assets

For a financial asset reciassified out of the *Available-for-sale' category, any previous gain or loss on thal asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment using the effective inlerest rale method. Any difference between the
new amortised cost and the expected cash flows is also amortised over the remaining life of the assel using he effective interest rafe method. If
ihe asset is subsequently determined o be impaired then the amount recorded in equity is recycled to the profit or loss. Reclassification is al the
election of managemenl, and is determined on an instrument by instrument basis. The Group does nol reclassify any financial instrument inlo
(he fair value through profit or loss calegory after initial recognition.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

(3) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

{7} Financial assets

A financlal asset {or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or parl of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognized where:

+  the rights lo receive cash flows from the assel have expired; or the Group has fransfered its rights lo receive cash flows from Lhe asset or
has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ amangement;
and

+ either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) lhe Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has fransferred control of Lhe asset.

When the Group has Iransferred ils rights to receive cash flows from an assel or has entered into a pass-through amangement, and has neither
fransfemred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred conirol of the assel, (he asset is recognized to the
extent of the Group's continuing invoivement in the assel. Conlinuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the iransfered asset
is measured at the lower of the original camying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.

(i) Financial liabilities

A financial fiability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where an exisling financial
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is frealed as a derecognition of the original fiability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in
the respective camying amounls is recognised in profit or loss.

4 Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date (‘repos’) are nof derecognized from the siatement of financial
position. The comesponding cash received, including accrued interest, is recognized on the stalement of financial posilion as a ‘Repurchase
agreement, reflecting ils economic substance as a loan to the Group or the Bank. The difference between the sate and repurchase prices is
ireated as inleres| expense and is accrued over the life of he agreement using the effective inierest rate method. Where the transferee has the
right to sell or pledge lhe assat, the assel is recorded on the statement of financial posiiion as 'Financial asseis held for trading pledged as
collateral.

Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified future date (everse repos’) are not recognized on the statement of
financial position. The comesponding cash paid, including accrued interest, is recognized on the statement of financial position as a ‘Reverse
repurchase agreements’. The difference between the purchase and resale prices is treafed as interest income and is accrued over the life of the
agreement using lhe effective interest rate method.

{5) Securities lending and borrowing

Securilies lending and borrowing transactions are usually collateralized by securities or cash. The transfer of the securilies fo counterparties is
only refiected on the siatement of financial position if the risks and rewards of ownership are also transfemred. Cash advanced or received as
collateral is recorded as an assel or liability.

Securilies borrawed are nol recognized on the stalement of financial position, unless they are sold to (hird pariies, in which case the obligation to
retum the securities is recorded as a rading liability and measured at fair value with any gains or losses included in ‘Nef trading income’.

(6) Determination of fair value

The fair value for financial instrumenls lraded in active markets al the statement of financial position date is based on their quoied markst price
or dealer price quotations {bid price for long positions and ask price for shorl positions), withoul any deduction for lransaction costs.

1"
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

For all olher financial instruments nol listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriaie valuation techniques, Valualion
iechniques include pricing models or discounted cash flow techniques. Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated fulure cash
flows are based on management's best estimates and the discount rate is market related rate af the stalement of financial posilion date for an
instrument with similar terms and conditions. Where pricing models are used, inpuls are based on market relaied measures al the stalement of
financial position dale. Where a fair value cannot reliably be estimaled, unquoled equity instruments that do not have a quoled market price in
an aclive market are measured al cost and periodically fested for impaimment.

n Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each stalement of financial posilion date whether there is any objeciive evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial asseis is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events thal has occurred afler the initial recognition of the assel (an incumed loss event’) and (hat loss
event {or evenls) has an impacl on lhe eslimaled future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be refiably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications Lhat (he borower or a group of bomowers is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, defaull or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability lhal they will enter bankruplcy or olher financial reorganization
and where observable data indicale that there is a measurable decrease in the estimaled future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that comelale with defaulis.

{)) Due from banks and loans and advances fo customers

For amounis due from banks and loans and advances to cuslomers carried ai amorlized cost, the Bank firsl assesses individually whether
objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectivety for financial assels that are
not individually significant. lf the Group determines that no objective evidence of impainment exists for an individually assessed financial asset,
whether significani or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets wilh similar credil risk characleristics and collectively assesses them
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impaiment and for which an impairment loss is, or coniinues to be, recognized are nol
included in a colleclive assessmenl of impainmenl.

If there is objective evidence that an impaiment loss has been incumred, the amounl of the loss is measured as the difference between the
assel’s camying amount and the present value of estimaled future cash flows (excluding fuure expected credit losses thal have nol yet been
incurred). The carmying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance accounl and the amount of the loss is recognized in lhe
profit or foss. Interest income conlinues Lo be accrued on the reduced carrying amount based on the original effective inlerest rate of lhe assel.
Loans together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realislic prospect of fulure recovery and all collaieral has been
realized or has been lransfered to the Group. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of he estimated impairmenl foss increases or decreases
because of an evenl occuring after the impaimment was recognized, the previously recognized impairmenl loss is increased or reduced by
adjusling the allowance accounl. if a write-offis later recovered, the recovery is credited to the ‘Credit loss expense’.

The present value of the estimaled future cash flows is discounted al the financial asset's original effective interest rafe. If a loan has a variable
interest rale, the discount rate for measuring any impairment foss is the current effective inlerest rate. The caloutation of the present value of the
estimaled future cash flows of a collaleralized financial assel reflects the cash flows that may resull from foreclosure less costs for ablaining and
selling the collaleral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial asseis are grouped on the basis of he Group's intemal credit grading syslem
hat considers credit risk characteristics such as asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due stalus and other relevant
factors.

Future cash flows on a group of financial assets thal are collectively evaluated for impaimment are eslimated on lhe basis of hislorical loss
experience for assels wilh credit risk characierislics similar (o those in the: group. Historical loss experience is adjusled on the basis of current
observable data o reflect lhe effects of cument conditions (hat did nol affect the years on which the historical loss experience is based and fo
remove the effects of condilions in (he historical period that do not exisl currently. Estimates of changes in fuiure cash flows reflect, and are
directionally consistenl with, changes in relaled observable data from year to year (such as changes in unemployment rates, property prices,
commodity prices, payment stalus, or other factors thal are indicative of incurred losses in the group and their magnitude). The melhodology
and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss eslimates and actual loss
experience.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(i} Held-to-maturily financial investments

For held-to-malurity invesiments the Group assesses individually whelher there is objeciive evidence of impairment. If there is objective
evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between ihe assets’ carying amount
and the presenl value of estimaled future cash flows. The canying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognized in
lhe profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent year, the amounl of the estimated impaiment loss decreases because of an evenl occuring after the impairment was
recognized, any amounts formerly charged are credited o the ‘Other operaling expenses”.

(iii) Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at each slaiement of financial position date whether Lhere is objeclive evidence
that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

In the case of equity investments dlassified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the invesiment below its cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impaimment loss on thal investment previously recognized in the profit or loss - is removed
from equify and recognized in the profit o loss. Impairment losses on equity investmentls are nol reversed through the profit o loss; increases in
(heir fair value afler impairment are recognized direclly in equity.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, impairment is assessed based on the same crieria as financial assets carried al
amorlized cost. Inleresl continues to be accrued al the original effective interest rate on the reduced camying amount of lhe asset and is
recorded as part of ‘Interest and similar income’. If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt insirument increases and the increase can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impaimment loss was recognized in the profil or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through
the profil or loss.

(iv} Renegotiated foans

Where possible, the Group seeks to restructure loans rather than to lake possession of collateral. This may involve extending the payment
amangements and the agreement of new loan condiions. Once the terms have been renegotialed, the loan is no longer considered pasl due.
Managemenl continuously reviews renegotiated loans fo ensure that all criteria are met and that fulure paymenls are likely to occur. The loans
continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment assessment, calculated using the loan's original effective interesl rale.

{8) Hedge accounting

The Group makes use of derivative instruments (o manage exposures to interest rate. n order fo manage particular risks, the Group applies
hedge accounling for transactions which meet the specified criteria.

At inception of lhe hedge relationship, the Group formally documents the relationship befween the hedged ilem and Lhe hedging instrument,
including the nature of the risk, ihe objective and siralegy for undertaking the hedge and method thal will be used to assess ihe effectiveness of
(he hedging relaiionship.

Also al the inception of lhe hedge relationship, a formal assessment is undertaken to ensure the hedging instrument is expected to be highly
effective in offsetting the designated risk in lhe hedged item. Hedges are formally assessed each quarter. A hedge is regarded as highly
effective if the changes in fair value or cash flows altributable to the hedged risk during the period for which the hedge is designaled are
expecled to offsel in a range of 80% to 125%. For siluations where thal hedged item is a forecast transaction, the Group assesses whether the

transaction is highly probable and presents an exposure lo varialions in cash flows thal could uttimalely affect the profil or loss. .

(i) Fair value hedges

The purpose of the hedge is to hedge the risk of the changes in fair value of underlying flem (which are on stalement of financial position ilems)
designaled as hedged flems, by inlerest rate swaps or currency swaps designaled as hedging inslrumenls.
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2, ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

For designated and qualifying fair value hedges, Ihe change in the fair value of a hedging derivative is recognized in the profii of loss in "Net
trading income’. Meanwhile, the change in Lhe fair value of the hedged item atiribulable 1o the risk hedged is recorded as part of the carrying
value of the hedged item and is also recognized in "Net trading income'.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, lerminated or exercised, or where the hedge no longer meets the crieria for hedge accounting, lhe
hedge relationship is lerminaled. For hedged ilems recorded at amortised cost, using the effective inferest rale method, lhe difference between
the camying value of the hedged ilem on lermination and the face value is amortised over the remaining lerm of the original hedge. If the
hedged iiem is derecognized, the unamorlized fair value adjusiment is recognized immediately in the profit or loss.

(i) Hedges of a net investment

Gain or losses on Lhe hedging instrument relaling to he effective portion of the hedge are recognized as other comprehensive income while any
gains or losses relating lo the ineffective portion are recognized in the profil or loss. On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulalive value of
any such gains o losses recorded in equity is transfemed to the profit or loss.

The Group uses deposits as a hedge of its exposure to foreign exchange risk on its investments in foreign subsidiaries.
{ii} Cash flow hedge

For designaled and qualifying cash fow hedges, the effeciive portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is inilially recognised directly
in equity in the ‘Cash flow hedge’ reserve. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised immediately in ‘Net
trading income’.

When the hedged cash flow affects the profil or loss, the gain o loss on the hedging instrument is recorded in the corresponding income or
expense line of the profil of loss. When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold, lerminaied, exercised, or when a hedge no longer meets the
criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in olher comprehensive income at thal time remains in olher comprehensive
income and is recognised when the hedged forecas! transaction is ulimately recognised in the profit o loss. When a forecast transaclion is no
longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss thal was reported in other comprehensive income is immediately transferred to the profit or
loss.

{9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assels and financial liabiliies are offsel and the net amount reported in the stalement of financial position if, and only i, there is a
currenlly enforceable legal righl to offset the recognized amounts and there is an inlention lo settle on a nel basis, or 1o realize the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. This is nof generally the case with master nefling agreements, and the related assels and liabilities are
presented gross in he statement of financial position.

(10) Leasing

The determination of whether an arangement is, or confains a lease is based on lhe substance of the amangement and requires an
assessment of whether the fuliiment of the amrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assels and the amangemenl conveys a
right 1o use the assel.

(i} Group as a lessee

Leases which do not transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefils incidenal to ownership of the leased items are operaling
leases. Operaling lease payments are recognised as an expense in the profil or loss on a slraight line basis over lhe lease lerm. Contingent
rental payables are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incumred.

(i) Group as a lessor

Finance leases, where the Group lransfers substantially all the risk and benefils incidental to ownership of the leased ilem to the lessee, are
included in the staiement of financial position in ‘Loans and advances lo cuslomers’. A receivable is recognized over the leasing period of an
amount equalling the present value of the lease payments using the implicil rate of interest and including any guaranteed residual value. Al
income resutting from the receivable is included in ‘Interest and similar income' in (he statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
(1) Recognition of income and expenses

Revenue is recognized (o the extent that ii is probable hat the economic benefils will flow to the Group and lhe revenue can be reliably
measured. The following specific recognilion criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:

() Interest and similar income and expense

For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost and inlerest bearing financial instruments classified as available-for-sale financial
investments, interest income or expense is recorded al lhe effective interest rate, which is the rate that discounts esfimated future cash
payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorier period, where appropriate, lo the net carrying amount of
the financial assei or financial liability. The calculalion lakes inlo accounl afl confractual terms of the financial insirument (for example,
prepayment oplions) and includes any fees or incremental cosls that are directly atibulable to the instrument and are an integral part of the
effective interest rale, but not future credit losses. The camying amount of lhe financial asset or financial liability is adjusled if the Group revises
ils estimales of paymenls or receipls. The adjusted camying amount is calculaled based on the original effective interes! rate and the change in
camying amount is recorded as interest income or expense.

Once the recorded value of a financial assel or a group of similar financial assets has been reduced due to an impairment loss, interestincome
continues to be recognized using the original effective inlerest rate applied to (he new camying amount.

Interest related 1o inleres! rale swaps is recognized as interest income and inlerest expense over lhe period of inferesl rate swap instruments in
accordance with contraclual ferms.

(i) Fee and commission income

The Group eams fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. Fee income can be divided info the
following two categories:

Fee income eamed from services that are provided over a cerfain period of time

Fees eamed for Lhe provision of services over a period of ime are accrued over that period. These fees include commission and assel
management income, cuslody and other management and advisory fees. Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and
other credit related fees are deferred {together with any incremental costs) and recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rale on the
loan.

Fee income from providing fransaction services

Fees arising from negotiating or parficipating in the negoliation of a transaclion for a third party - such as the amangement ol the acquisition of
shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses - are recognized on completion of lhe underying Lransaction. Fees or
componenls of fees that are linked to a cerlain performance are recognized after futfiling the corresponding criteria. These fees include
underwriting fees, corporale finance fees and brokerage fees.

(i) Dividend income

Revenue is recognized when the Group's right o receive the payment is established.

(iv) Net trading income

Results arising from trading activilies include all gains and losses from changes in fair value and related inleresl income ¢r expense and
dividends for financial assels and financial liabilities held for trading. This includes any ineflectiveness recorded in hedging transactions.

{12) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as refermed Lo in the cash flow statement comprises cash on hand, current accounts with cenlral banks and amouns
due from banks on demand of with an original maturity of three months or less.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(13) Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated al cost {reslaled for hyperinflation for assets acquired prior to 31 December 2003 - Note 2.1) excluding the
costs of day-lo-day servicing, less accumulaled depreciation and accumulaled impairment in value. Changes in the expected useful life are

accounted lor by changing the amorlization period and trealed as changes in accounting estimales.

Depreciation is calculated using the straightine method lo write down the cost of property and equipmenl lo their residual values over their
estimated useful lives. Land is not depreciated. The estimaled useful lives are as follows:

¢ Buidings 30 to 50 years (mainly 50 years)
+  Office equipment 3to 10 years
s QOther fumiture and equipmenl 3lo 15 years

An flem of property and equipmen is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expecled from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the assel (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the camying amount
of the asset) is recognized in ‘Other operating income” or ‘Other operaling expenses’ in Lhe statement of comprehensive income in Lhe year lhe
asset is derecognized.

{14) Investment properties (IAS 40)

An invesiment property is measured initially al its cost taking into account any expenditure directly atirbutable to the purchase {e.g. fees paid to
the eslate agent, notarial fees, property transfer taxes and fees).

In Group afler intial recognition an investmenl property is measured at amortised cost {cost model) in accordance with IAS 16. Following that,
an investmenl property is carried at its cost less any accumulaled depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Investment properties are derecognised when either lhey have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no fulure economic benefit is expected from its disposal. The difference between the nel disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset is recognised in the profit or loss in the period of derecognition.

Investmenl properties lhat meel the criferia fo be classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 shall be measured in accordance wilh
IFRS 5.

{15) Business combinations and Goodwill
Business combinations are accounled for using lhe purchase method.

Goodwill s inilially measured al cost being Lhe excess of lhe cost of the business combination over ihe Group’s share in the nel fair value of the
acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent iabilities.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impaimenl losses. For the purpose of impairment lesling, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated lo each of the Group’s cash generating unifs that are expected lo
benelit from the synergies of the combination, irespective of whether other assets or liabiliies of the acquiree are assigned lo those unils.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associaled with the
operation disposed of is included in the camying amount of the operalion when determining the gain or loss on disposal of lhe operalion.
Goodwill disposed of in Ihis circumslance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and [he portion of Ihe cash-
generaling unit retained.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
(16) Intangible assets

Intangible assels include the value of computer software and licenses. Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on inilial recognition
at cost. The cost of inlangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value as al the date of acquisition. Following initial
recognition, intangible assels are caried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impaimment losses.

The useful lives of inlangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finile lives are amortized over lhe useful
economic life. The amortization period and the amorlization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed al leasl at each
financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or Lhe expected patiem of consumption of future economic benefils embodied in the
asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriale, and ireated as changes in accounling eslimales. The
amorlization expense on intangible assels with finile lives is recognized in the profit or loss in the expense category consisienl with the function
of the inlangible asset.

Amortization is calculated using the straight-line melhod to write down the cost of inlangible assels to their residual values over their estimaled
useful lives as follows:

+  Computer software and licenses 3-5 years

(17 Impaimment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses al each reporting date or more frequently if evenls or changes in circumstances indicate that the camying value may be
impaired, whether there is an indication that a non-financial asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required, lhe Group makes an estimale of the asset's recoverable amount. Where the camying amount of an asset {or
cash-generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amounl, the asset (or cash-generating unil) is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amounl.

Goodwilf

The Group assesses wheiher there are any indicators that goodwill is impaired al each reporting date. Goodwill is tested for impairment,
annually and when circumstances indicale thal the camying value may be impaired. Impaimment is delermined for goodwill by assessing lhe
recoverable amounl of the cash-generaling units, o which the goodwil relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generaiing units is
less than their camying amouni an impairent loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating o goodwill cannol be reversed in future periods.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.

(18) Financial guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, the Group gives financial guarantees, consisting of letlers of credit, guarantees and acceptances. Financial
quarantees are inilially recognized in the financial slatements at fair value, in ‘Other liabiliies’, being the premium received. Subsequent lo inilial
recognilion, the Bank's liability under each guarantee is measured al the higher of the amoriized premium and the bes! estimate of expendilure
required to setile any financial obligation arising as a resut of the guarantee.

Any increase in the tiabilify relating lo financial guarantees is taken to the statement of comprehensive income in ‘Credit loss expense’ and in

the slalement of financial position in “Provisions®. The premium received is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in ‘Net fees
and commission income’ on a straight line basis over (he life of the guarantee.

{19) Employee benefits

{i) Short term service benefits

Short-term employee benefits include wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contribulions. Shori-erm employee benefils are recognized
as expense when services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
{ii) Defined contribution plans

The Bank and the subsidiaries in Romania, in lhe normal course of business make payments Lo the Romanian State funds on behalf of its
Romanian employees for pension, health care and unemployment benefil, All employees of the Bank and of the subsidiaries in Romania are
members and are also legally obliged lo make defined contributions (included in the social security contribulions) fo lhe Romanian Stale
pension plan (a State defined contribution pian). All relevant contributions lo the Romanian State pension plan are recognized as an expense in
fhe profit or loss as incurred. The Bank and the subsidiaries in Romania do not have any further obligations.

The Bank and the subsidiaries in Romania do nol operate any independent pension scheme and, consequenlly, have no abligation in respect
of pensions and they do not operate any olher post retirement benefil plan. They have no obligation to provide furlher benefils to current or
former employees.

{iij) Defined benefit plans

Certain foreign incorporaled subsidiaries operate defined benefits plans for the non-Romanian employees. The defined benefit fiabiliies have
been calculated separately for each plan by eslimating the amount of future benefit that employees have eamed in relum for (heir service in the
currenl and prior periods. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. The defined benefit
obligation has been recognized in the consolidaled financial stalements of the Group.

(iv} Long-term service benefits

The Bank's net obligation in respect of long-lerm service benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees have eamed in refum for their
service in the cument and prior periods. On the basis of he Collective Labor Agreement, the Bank and one of its Romanian subsidiaries have a
contractual obligation to make a one-off payment of up lo six (the Bank), respeciively three (the subsidiary) gross monthly salaries lo retiring
employees on the dale of refiring. The defined benefit obligations are calculated by a qualified actuary taking into account the estimaled salary
at the date of retiremenl and the number of years served by each individual. In accordance with the 2004 Amendment to 1AS 18 ("Employee
Benefits — Actuarial gains and Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures”), the Bank and ils respective subsidiary have opted for actuarial gains and
losses fo be recognized in full as they arise in equity.

(20) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligalion {legal or conslruclive) as a resull of a pasi event, and il is prabable lhal an
ouifiow of resources embodying economic benefils will be required to setlle the obligation and a reliable eslimate can be made of he amount of
{he obligation.

(21) Taxes
(i) Current tax

Current lax assets and liabiliies for the currenl and prior years are measured al the amounl expected to be recovered from or paid fo the
taxation authorilies. The [ax rales and lax laws used lo compute the amount are those thal are enacied or substantively enacled by lhe
slalement of financial position date.

(i) Deferred tax

Deferred lax is provided on temporary differences af the statement of financial position date between the tax bases of assels and liabilities and
their camying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax liabiliies are recognized for all taxable lemporary differences, except:
¢« where the deferred lax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a iransaction Lhat is not a
business combination and, al the ime of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profil nor taxable profit or loss; and
s in respecl of taxable temporary diflerences associated with investmenis in subsidiaries and associates, where lhe iming of the
reversal of the lemporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will nof reverse in lhe
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

2, ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred lax assels are recognized for all deduciible lemporary differences, cammy forward of unused lax credits and unused tax losses, lo the
extent that it is probable fha laxable profil will be avallable against which the deduclible temporary differences, and the camy lorward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized except:

+  where the deferred tax asset arises from the inilial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profil or loss; and

« in respect of deduclible temporary differences associated with investmenls in subsidiaries and associates, deferred lax
assets recognized only to the extent thal it is probable that the lemporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
laxable profit will be available against which the lemporary differences can be ulilized.

The camying amount of deferred tax assels is reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced io the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profil will be available to allow all or part of the defemed lax assel to be utifized. Unrecognized deferred lax
assels are reassessed al each slalement of financial posilion dale and are recognized to lhe extent that i has become probable that future
laxable profit will allow the deferred tax assel o be recovered.

Deferred lax assets and liabililies are measured at the lax rates that are expecied lo apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is
selfled, based on lax rales (and lax laws) thal have been enacted or subslantively enacted at the stalement of financial position dale.

Curren! lax and deferred Lax relating fo items recognized directly in equity are also recognized in equity and not in lhe profil or loss.

Deferred lax assefs and defemed tax liabiliies are offsei if a legally enforceable right exisls (o set off current lax assals againsi curment lax
liabilities and the deferred taxes relale to the same laxable entity and the same taxation authority.

(22) Fiduciary assets

Assets held in a fiduciary capacity are nol reported in the financial staiements, as they are not the assets of lhe Group.

{23) Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized as a liability and deducled from equity when they are approved by the Group's shareholders,
Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are declared and no longer at the discretion of the Group.

Dividends for the year lhat are approved afer the statemenl of financial position dale are disclosed as an evenl after the sialement of financial
posilion date.

(24) Segment reporting

An operaling segment is a component of the Group:
+  hal engages in business activities from which it may eam revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating
1o transactions with other components of the Group),
¢ whose operaling results are regularly reviewed by the Group's chief operaling decision maker lo make decisions about resources to
be allocated to the segmenl and assess its performance, and
s lor which discrete financial information is available.

An operaling segment may engage in business aclivities for which it has yel to eam revenues, for example, start-up operations may be
operaling segments before eaming revenues.
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for the year ended 31 December 2011

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
24, Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations as of 1 January 2011:

IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement (Amended)
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabililies with Equity Instruments

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Amended)

IAS 32 Classification on Rights Issues (Amended)

Improvements to IFRSs (May 2010}

When the adoption of the standand or interpretation is deemed to have an impact on the financial stalements or performance of the Group, ifs
impact is described below:

IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement (Amendment)

The amendment removes an uniniended consequence when an enlity is subjecl to minimum funding requirements and makes an early
payment of contribufions lo cover such requirements. The amendment permits a prepayment of fulure service cost by lhe eniity fo be
recognised as a pension asset. The amendment is applied retrospeciively. The interpretation has no effect on either the financial position nor
performance of lhe Group.

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

The interpretation clarifies that equity instruments issued to a creditor fo extinguish a financial liability qualify as consideration paid. The equity
instrumenls issued are measured al their fair value. In case thal this cannot be reliably measured, the insirumenls are measured at the [air
value of the liability extinguished. Any gain o loss is recognised immediately in profil or loss. The interpretation has no effect on either the
financial position nor performance of the Group.

[AS 24 Related Party Transactions (Amendment)

The 1ASB issued an amendment lo 1AS 24 that clarifies the definitions of a related party. The new definitions emphasise a symmetrical view of
related party relationships and clarifies the circumslances in which persons and key management personnel affect related party relationships of
an enlity. In addition, the amendment introduces an exemplion from the general related party disclosure requirements for transactions with
govenment and entilies that are controlled, jointly conlrolled or significantly influenced by the same govemment as the reporting entity. The
amendment is applied retrospectively. The interpretation has no effect on either the financial position nor performance of lhe Group.

|AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation {(Amendment)

The IASB issued an amendment that alters the definition of a financial liability in IAS 32 lo enable enlities lo classify righls issues and certain
oplions or warranis as equity instruments. The amendment is applicable if the righls are given pro rala lo all of the existing owners of the same
class of an entity’s non-derivative equity instruments, o acquire a fixed number of the entity's own equity instruments for a fixed amount in any
cumency. The amendment is applied retrospectively. The interpretation has no effect on either the financial position nor performance of he
Group.

Improvements to IFRSs (May 2010) _
in May 2010, the IASB issued ils third omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily with a view lo removing inconsislencies and clarifying
wording, There are separale iransilional provisions for each slandard.

Amendmenls resulling from Improvements to IFRSs Lo the following standards and interprelations did not have any impact on the accounting
policies, financial position or performance of the Group:

IFRS 3 Business Combinations: The measurement options available for non-controlling interesl (NCI) were amended. Oniy components of
NCI thal conslitute a present ownership interest that enlilles their holder to a proportionate share of the entify’s net assets in the eveni of
liquidation should be measured al either fair value or at the presenl ownership instrumenls’ proportionale share of the acquiree’s idenlifiable nel
assets. All other componenls are fo be measured al their acquisition dale fair value.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES ({continued)

This improvement clarifies that the amendments lo IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and
1AS 39 Financial Inslruments: Recognition and Measuremenl, thai eliminale he exemption for contingent consideration, do not apply lo
contingent consideration hal arose from business combinations whose acquisition dates precede the application of IFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).

Finally, it requires an enfity (in a business combination) to account for the replacement of he acquiree's share-based payment lransactions
{whether obliged or voluntarily), i.e., split between consideralion and post combinalion expenses.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments - Disclosures: The amendment was intended to simplify the disclosures provided by reducing the volume of
disclosures around collateral held and improving disclosures by requiring qualitative information o put the quantitative information in conlext.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The amendment clarifies thal an enlity may present an analysis of each component of other
comprehensive income eilher in the statemenl of changes in equity or in the notes lo the financial stalements.

[AS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements: This improvement clarfies lhal lhe consequenlial amendments from IAS 27 made
o IAS 21 The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rales, IAS 28 Investments in Associales and IAS 31 Interesls in Joint Venlures apply
prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 or earfier when IAS 27 is applied earfier.

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting: This improvement requires additional disclosures for fair values and changes in classification of financial
assels, as well as changes o contingent assets and fiabiliies in inferim condensed financial slalements.

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes: This improvemenl clarifies thal when lhe fair value of award credils is measured based on lhe
value of the awards for which lhey could be redeemed, the amounl of discounls or incentives otherwise granted Lo customers nol pariicipating in
the award credit scheme, is o be laken info accounl.

25, Standards issued but not yet effective

1AS 1 Financial Statement Presentation {(Amended) - Presentation of tems of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendmen is effeciive for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012, The amendmenls fo IAS 1 change the grouping of lems
presented in OCI. ltems that could be redlassified (or ‘recycled’) to profit or loss at a future point in time {for example, upon derecognilion or
settlement) would be presented separately from items thal will never be reclassified. The amendment affects preseniation only and has no
impact on the Group's financial posfiion or performance. This amendment has not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group is in the process of
assessing the impaci of this amendment on the financial position or performance of the Group.

IAS 12 Income Taxes (Amended) - Recovery of Underlying Assets

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or afler 1 January 2012. The amendment clarified the delermination of defemed lax
on inveslment property measured at fair value. The amendment iniroduces & rebutlable presumption that deferred tax on investment property
measured using (e fair value model in IAS 40 should be determined on the basis that s camying amount will be recovered through sale.
Furthermore, i inlroduces the requirement (hat deferred tax on non-depreciable assels that are measured using the revaluation model in IAS 16
always be measured on a sale basis of the asset. This amendment has not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group does nol expecl that this
amendmen will have an impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Amended)

The amendment is effeciive for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The |ASB has issued numerous amendmenls to 1AS 19.
These range from fundamenlal changes such as removing the comidor mechanism and the concepl of expected retums on plan assets lo
simple clarificalions and re-wording. Early application is permitted. This amendment has not yel been endorsed by lhe EV. The Group does not
expect thal lhis amendment will have a significant impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

|AS 27 Separate Financial Statements (Revised)

The Standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. As a consequence of lhe new [FRS 10 and [FRS 12, what
remains of 1AS 27 is limited lo accounting for subsidiaries, joinily controlled entities, and associales in separale financial slaiements. Earfier
application is permitied. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of this amendmenl on the financial position or performance of lhe

Group.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (Revised)

The Siandard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. As a consequence of the new IFRS 11 and IFRS 12, 1AS 28
has been renamed IAS 28 Invesiments in Associates and Joint Venlures, and describes the application of the equity melhod lo investments in
joint ventures in addition to associales. Earlier application is permitted. The Group is in the process of assessing the impacl of this amendment
on lhe financial pesition or performance of the Group.

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (Amended) - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilties

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. This amendment clarifies the meaning of “currenlly has a
legally enforceable right lo set-off and also clarifies the applicalion of the IAS 32 offsetting criteria to seitiement systems (such as central
clearing house Systems) which apply gross setflement mechanisms that are nol simuttaneous. The amendments to IAS 32 are lo be
retrospectively applied. Earlier application is permitted. However, if an entity chooses fo earty adopt, it must disclose thal fact and also make lhe
disclosures required by the IFRS 7 Offsefting Financial Asseis and Financial Liabiliies amendments. This amendment has not yel been
endorsed by the EU. The Group is in the process of assessing the impaci of he amendmenl on the financial posilion or performance of the
Group.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures {(Amanded) - Enhanced Derecognition Disclosure Requirements

The amendmen is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011. The amendment requires additionat disclosure about financial
assets that have been transfemed but not derecognised io enable the user of the financial statements to understand the relationship with those
assets thal have nol been derecognised and lheir associated liabilities. In addition, lhe amendment requires disclosures about continuing
involvement in derecognised assets to enable the user lo evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, the entity’s confinuing involvement in
those derecognised assefs. The amendment has only disclosure effects. The Group is in the process of assessing lhe impact of the
amendment on the disclosures in financial stalements of the Group.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures {Amended) - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.The amendment introduces common disclosure
requiremenls. These disclosures would provide users with information that is useful in evaluaiing lhe effect or polential effect of netling
amangements on an entity’s financial position. The amendments to IFRS 7 are {o be retrospectively applied. This amendment has not yet been
endorsed by the EU. The Group is in the process of assessing lhe impact of lhe amendmenl on the disclosures in the financial staiements of
the Group.

IFRS ¢ Financial Instruments - Classification and Measurement

The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or afler 1 January 2015, IFRS 9 as issued reflects lhe first phase of the I1ASBs
work on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies to classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabiliies as defined in |AS
39, Phase 1 of FRS 9 will have a significant impact on (i} the classification and measurement of financial asseis and (ii) a change in reporting
for those enilies Lhat have designated financial liabiities using the FVO. In subsequent phases, the IASB wil address hedge accounting and
impaimenl of financial assets. The complefion of this project is expected over the first half of 2012. Early application is pemmiited. This siandard
has nol yel been endorsed by the EU. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the new slandard on the financial posilion o
performance of the Group.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or afler 1 January 2013. IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Cansolidaled
and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting for consolidated financial stalements. It also includes fhe issues raised in
SIC-12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Eniities. IFRS 10 esiablishes a single control model that applies to all entiies including special
purpose entities. The changes introduced by IFRS 10 wil require management lo exercise significant judgmenl lo determine which entiies are
controlled, and therefore, are required fo be consolidaled by a parent, compared with the requirements thaf were in IAS 27. The Group does not
expect thal this amendment will have a significant impact on the financial position or performance of lhe Group.

IFRS 11 Joint Amangements

The new standard is effeclive for annual periods beginning on or afler 1 January 2013. IFRS 11 replaces |AS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and
SIC-13 Jointly-controlled Enliies — Non-monatary Contributions by Venlurers. IFRS 11 removes the option to account for joir!lly controlh_ad
entities {JCEs) using proportionale consclidalion. Instead, JCEs that meel lhe definition of a joint venture must be accounled for using the equity
method. The Group does ot expect that lhis amendmenl will have a significant impact on he financial position or performance of the Group.
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BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IFRS 12 Disclosures of Involvement with Other Entities

The new standard is effeciive for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. IFRS 12 includes all of the disclosures that were
previously in IAS 27 related to consolidated financial staiemenls, as well as all of the disclosures (hal were previously included in IAS 31 and
IAS 28. These disclosures relate to an entity's interests in subsidiaries, joint arangements, associates and structured entities. A number of new
disclosures are also required. The Group is in the process of assessing lhe impact of the new standard on the disclosures in the financial
slatements of the Group.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under
IFRS for all fair value measurements. IFRS 13 does nol change when an enlity is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on
how 1o measure fair value under IFRS when fair value is required or permitled. This standard should be applied prospectively and early
adopion is penmitted. This standard has not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the new
standard on the financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRIC Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

The interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or afier 1 January 2013 This interprelation only applies to siripping costs incurred
in surface mining activity during the production phase of the mine (‘production stripping costs’). Costs incurred in underiaking stripping activities
are considered to create two possible benefits a) the production of inventory in the curreni period andfor b) improved access to ore fo be mined
in a future period (slriping activity asset). Where cost cannot be specifically allocaled between the inventory produced during the period and the
siripping activity asse!, IFRIC 20 requires an entity to use an allocation basis thal is based on a relevant production measure. Early application
is permitied. IFRIC 20 has nof yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group does nol expect thal the amendmenl will have impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The segment reporting format is determined to be business segments as the Group's risks and rates of retum are affected predominantly by
differences in the producls and services produced. The operating businesses are organized and managed separately according fo the nalure of

lhe products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different producls and serves different
markets.

For managemenl purposes, he Bank is organized inlo the following business segments:

Relail banking - The Group provides individuals and micro clienls with a range of financial producls and services, including lending
{consumer loans, vehicles purchase, personal needs, morigages, overdrafts, credit cards facililies and funds transfer
facilties), savings and deposit laking business, paymenl services and securities business.

Local corporate banking - Within corporate banking the Group provides corporations (including small-medium enlerprises and public instiiutions)
wilh a range of financial products and services, including lending and deposil taking, providing cash management,
foreign commercial business, leasing, investment advices, financial planning, securities business, project and slructured
finance transactions, syndicated loans and assel backed transactions. Principally handiing loans and other credit
facililies and deposil and current accounts for corporate and inslitulional customers and comprises the following:

Local corporate include:
Small and Medium Enterprises — companies having annual tumover > 1-8 millien EUR;
Large Corporate —companies having annual lumover > 8-50 million EUR;
Municipalities - according lo annual income, municipalities are managed af:
- Municipalilies Division level: > 2 million EUR;
- Commercial Centers (SME) level: < 2 million EUR.

Group corporate invesimenl banking (GCIB}- The Group provides Real eslate and GLC clients with a range of financial products and services,
including lending and deposil taking, providing cash management, foreign commercial business, leasing, invesimenl
advices, financial planning, securilies business, project and strucfured finance fransactions, syndicated loans and asset
backed fransactions; within this segment the Group also includes providing invesiment banking services and financial
products and services provided by the leasing, insurance, brokerage, assel management, real estale services and
financial consuflancy services operalions of lhe Group.

Real Estate companies - according fo the value of the financing of projecl, real estale are managed at:
- Real Estate Division level: > 3 milion EUR for Bucharest and > 2 million EUR for he branch network;
- Commercial Centers {SME) level: < 3 milion EUR for Bucharest and < 2 million EUR for the branch
network,
Group Large Corporale — companies having annual tumover > 50 million EUR;

Group capilal markets (GCM) - principally providing money markel and treasury operations, syndicated loans and structured financing
transaclions, foreign cumency and derivative transactions, financial instruments trading and investment, issuance of
bonds.

Corporate cenler { CC) - unallocated items and ilems which do not belong to business lines

The business segment reporting formal is the Group's basis of segment reporting. Transactions between business segments are conducted at
am'’s length.

Segment assets and liabililies include items directly atiributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable pasis.
Unallocated items mainly comprise property and equipment, inlangible assels, olher assets and other liabilities and laxation. The mapping of
individual accounts by main line items of income and expenses, respectively assets and liabilities and equity, for purposes of segment reporling
is done on an inlemal management approach, rather than an extemal financial reporling approach.

In order 1o spiit the Group resutts on business lines the following subsidiaries are allocated entirely on Relail segmeni: BCR Asset Managgme_nt.
Good Bee Service, BCR Pensii SAFPP, Banca pentru Locuinte, Suporl Colect, BCR Leasing, BCR Chisinau and_ some of the consolidation
adjustments are spiit befween Retail and Corporate. Intragroup eliminations and the rest of the consolidation adjustments are allocaled on

Comporate Center.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION {continued)

Group - Business segmanis 2011

Local
RON Thousand Ratail Corporate cc GCM GCiB Group
Nal Inlerest Income 2,018,047 931676  {112,289) {34.782) 3291001 3131753
Rusk Prowsions for Loans and Advances (723,229)  (1,093,423) (7,392) - (330,808) (2,154,852)
el Commissicn Income 390,961 163577 (101,033) 12,011 114,565 580,081
Nel Trading Resull 116,468 39,501 52,295 203,210 10910 422,384
Ganeral Administralive Expenses (1.420,244) {249,356) B4,951 {33,504) (77.424) (1,695577)
Other Operating Resull (113.801) (35.448)  (110571) 5723 {8,241)  (263,338)
Resull lrom financial assels - Designaled al far value tirough P&L (43) {1,185) - - {1.228)
Resull from financial assels - Available for sale . - 100,384 . . 100,384
Profil bafore lax 268,202 (243,516) {94,840) 152,658 37,103 119,607
Income lax expense {39,622) 70,810 {25.574) {42,983) {11,313) (48,682)
Profit for the year 229,580 {172,706}  (120,414) 109,675 25,790 70,925

Local
RON Thousand Retall Corporate cC GCM GCIB Group
Cash and balances with cenlral banks 115 27,306 10,297,513 . 10,324,934
Loans and advances 10 cradit nslulions 185,330 35410 869,005 375 1,100,210
Loans and advances o customers 23,622,480 21,220437 166,879 - 8.366,530 53,376,326
Risk prowsions (o loans and advances (2281,358)  (2,586,095) (99 (705249} (5.572.801)
Denvalives linancial insiruments - B6487 B - 86,487
Trading assels - 701,698 - 701,698
Financial assels - Designated at fair valua through P&L - 2513 16,820 - - 41,954
Fnancial assels - Available for sale - 205,480 4,958,021 - - 5,244,501
Financial assels - Held lo malunty 805,780 50434 7155607 . - 8011821
Intangible essels 97,325 - 342,495 - 439,820
Propertly and equipment 2337 5 1582379 - 1,584,721
Tax assels 4,159 220,189 - 224,348
Olher assals 303,302 89,017 568,924 104 7636 968,983
Assats held for sale . - 212,663 - - 212,663
TOTAL ASSETS 22,749,470 19,148,128 26,476,972 702,177 7,668,917 76,745,665

Local
RON Thousand Redall Corporate cc GCM GClB Group
Deposits by banks 988477 460,901 21,457,016 . 22,906,394
Cuslomer deposils & Debl securilies in issus 29,964,285 4322856 1,219,385 2,493,803 2,797.161 40,797,120
Denvalsves financial insirumanis - - 1854888 - - 1,854,888
Olher pravisions 6,484 58,468 136,668 - 104,158 305,778
Tax labilibies 28,919 509,579 - 538,498
Other liabillies 66,066 20,558 681,522 453 3,398 771,995
Subordinaled liabilives - - 2,024,690 - 2,024,690
Tolal Equity 1,776,809 2002242 2,638,504 62,309 976438 7,546,302
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 32,831,040 6,854,825 30,522,262 2,556,365 3,881,173 76,745,665
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION {continued)

Group - Business segmenis 2010

Local
RON Thousand Retail Corporate cc GCM GCIB Group
Nal Interesl Income 2,415,724 1,027,157 {73.458) 19,111 361,229 3,749,763
Risk Prowsions Jor Loans and Advances (795,367) {(304,657) 3,859 - (301,183)  (1,997,668)
Net Commission Income 59,639 152,508 138,192 {918) 114,553 464,374
Net Trading Resull 109,466 44,943 {20,218) 175,068 1,792 311,051
General Adminislrabve Expenses {1,453,962) (240,807) 127190 (30,374) (73,753) (1,671,806}
Other Operaling Result {121,081} (21,245)  (96,092) (202} {19,808) {254,528}
Resull from financial assets - Designated al fair value Lhrough P&L - {533) (12,975} 14,081 - 51
Result irom linancial assels - Available for sale B4 154 44,585 (671} - 44,152
Profil before {ax 214,473 57,620 110,783 176,005 82,830 641,911
Income tax expense {37,058} {3,260) {52,459) {35,448) (46,044) {174,269}
Profil lor the year 177415 54,560 58,324 140,557 36,786 457,642

Local
RON Thousand Retall Corporate cc GCM GCIB Group
Cash and balances with cenlral banks 17 24484 9,520,882 12 - 95457395
Loans and advances to credil inslilutions 125,928 72263 1,573,009 548 1,771,738
Loans and advances to cuslomers 23,745,220 20417211 697,045 - 7379121 52,238,557
Risk provisions for loans and advances (2474996)  (1,691,700)  (194,708) - {486,506) (4,844,910)
Trading assels . - - 966,944 966,944
Financial assals - Designated al fair valua through P&L - 23,964 17,998 . - 41,963
Fnancial assets - Avalable for sale . 235466 3,624,738 65,167 - 392531
Financial sssals - Held to malurity 443,665 133 4,998,420 - - 5442218
Imangible assels 103,649 - 320,671 . - 424320
Property and squipment 3 324 1,680,373 10 - 1,693,938
Tax assels 2337 - 244,236 - - 246,573
Other assels 211,342 104378 1,791,572 264 23,349 2,130,509
Assals held lor sale - - 29,429 . 20,479
TOTAL ASSETS 22,160,393 19,186,513 24,316,666 1,032,949 6,915,964 73,612,485

Local
RON Thousand Retail Corporate cc GCM GCiB Group
Depasils by banks 1,487,386 150,525 20,185,621 - 21,823,532
Repurchase agresmenis - 1,886 - 1,886
Cuslomer deposils & Debl secunbies in 155u8 28,057,081 4971,143 703,413 - 4733476 38,465,113
Denvalives financial instruments - - 1,788,317 - - 1788377
Qther provisions 5,146 99 248,706 - - 253,851
Tax liabilibes 23,763 96 496,171 101 - 520,131
Olher liabililes {115,233} 165872 1,630,829 - 7.047 1,688,515
Subordinated liabillies " 17442 1,850175 " 1,967.317
Total Equily 1,530,642 1,304,232 3484379 56,738 637,672 7,103,663
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 30,888,785 6,608,109 30,489,557 56,839 5,376,195 73,612,485
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

3.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Bank - Business segments 2011

Local
RON Thousand Retall  Corporate cc GCM GCIB Bank
Nel Interest Income 1,817,226 891,420 170,871 {34,807 32395 3,257,105
Risk Provisions for Loans and Advances (662,813)  (1,085,768) {870} - (312,681)  (2,062,132)
Nel Commission Income 385,550 160,792 (101,175) 12,013 113,536 550,716
Nel Trading Result 104,331 423719 48,692 203,210 10910 409,322
General Administrative Expenses {1,349,193)  {229,295) {43,387 {33,180) {74.277)  (1,729,332)
Other Operating Result (69,879) {10,201 (82,622) 5734 873 (156,101)
Result from financial assets - Designated al fair value through
P&L {43) {1,185) - {1.228)
Result from financial assels - Available for sate - - 26,220 - - 26,220
Profil before tax 305,022 {230,722} 16,544 152,970 50,756 294 570
Income {ax expense {43,932} 33,231 (9,585} (22,032) (7.310) (49,628)
Profil for ihe year 261,080 (19-7.491] 6,959 130,938 43,446 244,942
Local
RON Thousand Retail  Corporate cC GCM GCIB Bank
Cash and balances with central banks - - 10,290,711 - - 10,280,711
Loans and advances lo credit institutions - - 1,006,357 - - 1,006,357
Loans and advances lo customers 21,218,327 20,026,117 1,594,697 8,270,326  51,100.467
Risk provisions for loans and advances {1,325,435)  (2,111,743) - (681,855) (4,119,033}
Derivalives financial instruments . - 85,036 - - 85.0%
Trading assets - - 701,698 701,698
Financial assels - Designated at fair value through P&L 25,134 16,820 - 41,954
Fnancial assels - Available for sale - 254,242 5304479 - 6,158,721
Financial assets - Held fo maturity - - 7155608 - - 7,155,608
Iniangible assels - - 243,528 - - 243,528
Property and equipment - - 535,398 - - 535,398
Tax assets - - 177,284 - - 177,284
Ciher assels - - 497,042 - - 497.042
TOTAL ASSETS 19,892,892 18,193,750 2_7,507,020 701,698 7,588,471 73,883,831
Local
RON Thousand Retall  Corporate cC GCM GCIB Bank
Deposils by banks 54 - 20,742,059 - 20,742,113
Customer deposits & Debt securities in issue 29055900 4,268,692 1328275 2493603 2,797,481 39,943,651
Derivatives financial instruments - - 1,854,808 - - 1,854,888
Other provisions 6,453 58,468 128,766 - 104,158 297,845
Tax abiliies - - 506,256 - - 506,256
Other llabiities - - 666891 . - 666,691
Subordinaled llabilities . - 202469 - 2,024,650
Tolal Equity 1,587,352 2,009,038 3,220,323 62,285 968.499__7&7.497
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 30,649,759 6,336,198 30,472,148 2,555,868 3,869,838 73,883,831
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Bank - Business segments 2010

Local
RON Thousand Retal  Corporate cc GCM GCIB Bank
Nei Interest Income 2,199,799 981,167 125,307 19,033 328632 3653038
Risk Provisions for Loans and Advances (698,651)  {765,506) 19,108 - {281968) (1,727,017
Net Commission Income 4499 151,353 131,445 (914) 113,937 440,852
Nel Trading Result 11,111 41,297 {36,701y 175,067 1,792 292,566
General Admimstrative Expenses (1,385,260} (231,120 27445 {20,628) (70,149)  (1,688,712)
Other Operaling Resull (58,896) {6,809) {58,369) {57) (6.263)  (130,474)
Resull from fnancial assels - Designaled at far value through P&L - (833  (12.975) 14,082 . 574
Resutl from financial assets - Available for sale 84 154 38,791 {665) 38,364
Profit before iax 213178 169.963 234,051 176,918 85,981 880,091
income lax expense (35,920) {28,639) {39,401) {28.811) {14.488)  {148,259)
Prefit for the year 177,259 141,324 194,650 147,101 71,493 131,832

Local
RON Thousand Refail  Corporate cC GCM GCIB Bank
Cash and balances with central banks - - 9468523 - 9468,523
Loans and advances lo credil inshitutions - - 1,455,735 - - 1455735
Loans and advances lo cuslomers 21,204,935 19,194,564 1,315,928 - 6892310  4R.607.767
Risk prawsians for loans and advances {(1613570) (1.258,624)  ({15,651) . (423,104)  (3,446,%49)
Trading assels - - - 966,944 - 966,944
Financial assets - Designaled at fair value through PAL 23,964 17,999 - - 41,963
Fnancial assels - Available for sale - 184,879 4,713,601 65,115 - 4,963,595
Financral assats - Held lo matunify - - 4658420 - 4,998,420
Intangible assets - 220,638 220,638
Property and equipment - 751,276 - 751,276
Tax assets - 189,527 - - 189,527
Olher assets - 1,727,748 - - 177748
TOTAL ASSETS 49,591,365 16,144,813 24701,744 1,032,050 5,469,206 69,945,187

Local
RON Thousand Retall  Corporate cC GCM GClB Bank
Deposils by banks - 18902313 - 18,802,313
Repurchase agreements - . 1,886 - - 1,886
Customer deposils & Debt secunues in issue 27552212 4,900,362 739,273 4733476 37926323
Trading liabilises - - 1188317 1,788,377
Olher provisions - 22641 - 226471
Tax liabilities 465,990 465,990
Qther kabilities - 15418702 1,547,672
Subordmated liabililies - 1,967,317 - - 1,967,317
Total Equity 1,196,610 1,281,496 3,855,983 55,849 589,600 7,119,638
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 28,748622 6,181,858 29,635,482 55,949 5323076 69,945,187
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

4. INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME

Group__L Bank
RON Thousand 2011 010 2011 2010
Due from banks 141,804 181,392 140,043 176,102
Loans and advances to customers 4,563,976 5,171,416 4,55412% 4,816,650
Financial invesiments - available-for-sale 314,400 239,965 313,251 239,332
Financial invesiments - held-to-malurity $10,570 332,34 484,528 308915
Interest from derivalives 604,500 960,070 600,853 960,070
Dividend income 6,294 2,950 112,772 131,706
Rental income 5,868 11,222 9,969 12,172
Rental income of invesimen| properties 1,731 - . -
Other 10,879 13,588 2517 3120
6,160,022 6,912,947 6,198,088 6,648,067
Inlerest from derivalives includes the inleres! received from interes! rale swap and cross currency swap transactions.
5. INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSE
Group Bank
RON Thousand 201 2010 2011 2010
Due 1o banks 1,100,757 1,224,171 1,033,412 1,066,677
Due to cusiomers 1,502,163 1,530,006 1,489,057 1,518,447
Debl issued and other borrowed funds 56,995 30,999 53,348 30,999
Interest from derivatives 200,474 207,180 197,287 207,180
Subordinated tiabiliies 154,310 161,662 154,310 161,661
Other 13,570 9,166 13,569 9,165
6. NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2011 2010 2011 2010
Lending business 162,872 160,919 160,827 157,661
Payment lransfers 558,145 603,246 566,239 608,115
Other fees received 162,458 105,872 110,894 64,642
Total fees and commission income 883475 870,137 §39,960 830,418
Lending business 116,861 268,564 118,580 266,944
Payment lransfers 147,173 115,843 146,383 113,799
Other fees paid 38,760 21,356 24,281 8,823
Total fees and commission expense 303,394 405,763 289,244 389,566
Net fees and commission income "~ 530,081 464,374 550,116 440,852
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

7. NET TRADING INCOME

Group Bank
RON Thousand 201 2010 2011 2010
Debi securities and equity invesiments (i) 97,560 68,147 97,560 68,147
Net realized foreign exchange gains from foreign exchange transactions (i 3581 213,549 319,035 213,549
Net effect of translation of foreign currency denominated assel and liabiliies {1,147) 29,355 (7.273) 10,8710
Net trading income T8 060 LRy 292,566
] Net trading income from debt securities and equity inveslments classified as irading includes the effect of buying and selling, and
changes in the fair value of investments.
{ii) Net realized foreign exchange gains from foreign exchange iransactions include gains and losses mainly from money market
instruments and also from curmency swaps, spot and forward conlracls.
8. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Group Bank
RON Thousand 201 2010 2011 2010
Gains from sales of available-for-sale financial investments (i) 101,421 47531 127,259 41,743
Gains/{losses) from sales of fixed assels (i) - 3,767 - (46,498)
Net gain from disposal of commodiies 30,827 565 30,827 565
Release of provisions for Figalions {Note 30) 4197 2,694 3825 2582
Other i) 48,478 21,495 25,721 25,545

TR 602 T8 552 ik

(i) Included in “Gains/{losses) from sales of available-for-sale financial investments” are the amounts transferred from equity o profit or
loss upon derecognizing available-for-sale investments.

{ii) During 2010 BCR Bank sold land and buildings lo BCR subsidiaries specialized in real eslale management, which are fully
consolidaied in BCR Group.

(iii) Other income includes income from non-banking activities, mainly services relaied to cash transportalion and collection, indemnities
paid by insurance companies, services of Electronic Archive registration, and sales of payment documents.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

9. CREDIT LOSS EXPENSE

Group Bank

RON Thousand UL AL 2017 0
Loans and advances to customers

Retail 716,776 795,387 656,360 698,651
Local Corporale 1,039,387 002,604 1,031,732 763,453
Real Eslate 275,219 240,396 274,730 232,798
Group large corporale 56,567 28,570 38,930 16,953
Corporate Center 7,393 (3,559) 870 (19,108)

2,095,342 1,963,398 2,002,622 1,692,747

FInanclal guarantee contracts 59,510 3,270 59,510 3,270
yRLENL I A S L KL A S

Financial guarantee expense is allocaled mainly to the Local Corporate segmenl.

10. PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Group __Bank

RON Thousand 2011 2010 2011 2010
Wages and salaries 653,284 644,227 582,009 561,102
Social securiy costs 213,143 200,852 190,271 191,252
Benefit paid on normal age retirement - Defined benefit plan costs {Note 31)

Inleresl cosl 3197 5,733 4,254 5733
Current service cost 5738 7,068 5,622 7,069
Past Service Cost 783 2.362 783 2,382
Total defined benefit plan costs 9,718 15,163 10,659 15,163
Contribution pension plan 3139 4,451 2,525 2,509

L2 L L .

The number of employees of the Bank at 31 December 2011 was 8,084 employees (31 December 2010 was 8,020 employaes). The number
of the employees of lhe Group at 31 December 2011 was 9,245 employees (31 December 2010 was 9,130 employees). The expenses with the
key management remuneration during 2011was of RON 11,947 thousand ( 2010: RON 15,133 thousand).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

11. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Group Bank

RON Thousand 017 2010 pIRE) 2070
Advertising and markeling 60,948 59053 50,507 43,045
Administrative 545,259 542,327 717,200 703,030
Payment into deposH insurance fund 104,012 63,785 102,578 63,368
Allocation of impairment of financial assets available-lor-sale (i) 1,039 33719 151,039 33719
Allocation of impaiment of assets held for sale 35,083 72,222 - -
Selfing losses from properties and movables 1,485 4,735 4,372 -
Other 163117 146.307 50,305 49,280

910,943 891,808 1,076,001 867,122
{i) Impairmenl of available for sale shares and investments { Note 19).
Financial audil fees for the Group in 2011 were RON 3,621 thousand (2010: RON 3,723 lhousand).
12. TAXATION
Consolidated income statement
The components of income fax expense are:

Group Bank

RON Thousand 2N 2010 201 2010
Curment income ax 14,163 45,294 12,243 18,049
Deferred tax refating fo origination and reversal of temporary differences 34,519 128,975 37 385 130,210
Income tax expense reported in the income statement 48,682 174,269 49,628 148,259

Reconciliation of the total tax charge

A reconailiation between the tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Romania's lax rate for the years ended 31 December 2011

2010 is as follows:

Group Bank

RON Thousand —an 070 — N U3

Accounting profit before tax 119,607 641,911 294570 880,091
At statutory income tax rate of 16% (2010: 16%) 19,367 102,874 55,13 140,815
Effect of different tax rates in cther countries 214 16,062 - -
Income not subject to tax (31,373) {1,883} (48,374) {1.43)
Non deductible expenses 58,554 57216 428N 28,857
Income tax expense reported In the income statement 48,682 174,269 49,628 148,259
The effective Lax rale 40.70% 27.15% 16.85% 16.85%

and
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for the year ended 31 December 2011

12.  TAXATION {continued)
Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Delerred tax liability relaled to flems charged or credited during (he year directly to equity holders of he parent, in other comprehensive income,
is as follows:

GROUP

.11} 2011 201 A1 01 010 210 0 M0

Nel  Casnlow Actuand Tt Acluand
Avallablefor- investment  hedge  gains/ Availablefor- Investment  gains |

RON Thousand sdloreserve  hedge reserve  (losses)  Total salereserve hedge  (losses) Total
At 1 January (5,601)  {5270) . 13180 2309 (8653 (38T 9546 (2,963)
Nel gain of financial investments (available-for-sale) (%61) - . o51) 306 . - 308
Nel investment hedge - 5210 . - 5210 - {1413) - {14y
Actuarial gains / {losses) - . 249 1M - - 364 26M
el gain from cash flow hedge - . 164 164 . - - .
AL 31 December (X)) A 1Y v T 11 I . T %
BANK

014 201 201 201 2010 210 2010

Rcluanal  Lash flow Avanable-  Actuanal
Available-for-  gains ! hedge forsale  pains !

RON Theusand saloreserve  (losses)  reserve  Tolal  reserve  (losses) Total
Al1 January (5,826) 13,176 - 7,350 {8,620} 9,696 1,076
Net gain of inanca investmens (avallable-for-sale) (1.003) - - {1y 2 - 21%
Agtuanal gains / {losses) . 2,249 - 2249 - 3480 3480
Nel gann from cash flow hedge . . 164 164 . - -
At 1 Decomber 1 T < O I KL O )
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12.  TAXATION (continued)

The deferred tax included in the statement of financial position and changes recorded in the income tax expense, in profit or loss, are as foflows:

GROUP

~“Defemed fax_Uelerred tax _ Income  Dejermed lax Defemed fax  Income

asset liability  stalement asset liability ~ siatement

RON Thousand 017 FIEE] 2011 3010 2010 2070
Loans lo cuslomers, credil instilulions . {579,734) {96,334) - (482.800)  (148.515)
Available-for-sale reserve - 6.559 - - 5,601 -
Financial assels designated al fair value [hrough profil or loss - - (306) - 306 1.048
Financial invesimenis - available-lor-sale - 14 31,916 - (31,775} 2
Held (o maturity portfolio - - 11,308 - (11,308) (735)
Intangible assets . {6,429) 4,490 . {10,919) 2,930
Property and equipment - {19,600) (35.470) 19,850 (3,760) (8,324)
COther assels - (2,945} 4,669 - (7,614} 6,669
Tax losses camied forward (including curent year) 46,920 65,484 68,116 33,962 10,326 12,772
Cash Flow hedge - {1,634) - - . -
Amounts owed [o customers, credil instilulions - - 146 - {146} 176
Provisions for retiremen benefits - (7.784) (9,925} - 4,393 (3,781)
Olher provisions - - (11,944} - 11,944 6,157
Olher liabffities . 11,512 {585) - 12,007 3,626
Net investmenl hedge 5,270 -

BANK

Ueferred 1ax @ ncome e ncome

asset liability ~ stalement assei liability  slatement
RON Thousand 2011 2011 2077 2010 2010 2010
Loans to customers, credit instilulions - (560,607)  (102,053) - (456,754)  (153,184)
Available-for-sale reserve - 6,829 - - 5,826 -
Financial assets designated al fair value through profil of loss - . {1,001) - 1,081 1,046
Financial inveslments — available-lor-sale - - 30,855 - {30,855) 38
Held lo maiunity portfolio - - 734 - (734) {734)
Intangible assels - {5,830) (4,602} - {1,228) 12,216
Property and equipment - (27,665} (22,907} - (4.758) {10.011)
Olher assels - - 6,141 - {6,141) 6,848
Tax losses carried lorward {inchuding cumen! year) - 77,306 77,306 - - -
Cash Flow hedge - {1.634) - - - -
Amounts owed to cuslomers, credit institutions - - 147 - (147} 122
Previsions for retirement benefils - (7.601) {16,136) - 10,784 9,272
Olher provisions - - (17.531) - 7,531 -
Other liabifities - 13,146 11,752 - 1,395 4187
(37.359) T (Ao500)  (180.210)

Deferred tax on loans o customers is due lo the temporary difierence between stalutory allowance and IFRS allowance {refer to Note 33).
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13. COMPONENTS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Group Bank
RON Thousend 2011 X710 2011 2010
Net gain/{loss) on available-for-sale financial investments (5.183) {18,415) {5,231) (18,355)
Reclassification for gain/{ loss) included in income stalemenl 1,587 35816 {1,039) 35,821
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operalions 11,621 7.5 - -
Reclassification for gain{ loss) included in profil or loss on iransiation ol foreign
operations {138,214) -
Nel gain from cash low hedges 10,212 - 10,212
Net loss on hedge of net invesimant (5.528) {6.208) -
Nel gain included in profit or loss on closing Lhe net investment hedge 38,466 - - -
Actuarial gains on defined benefit plans 14,059 21,753 14,056 21,753
Income 1ax relating lo the components of other comprehensive income {8,196} (5,234) (2,880) {6,274)

BTI70) KLk 15,118 AL

14. DIVIDENDS PAID
Declared and paid by the Bank to the holders of he parenl during the year.

No dividends were paid in 2011 and 2010

15. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

Group Bank
RON Thousand pLEE| 2010 01
Cash on hand (Note 35) 876,818 095,116 870,069 983,537
Current account with the central banks {Nole 35} 9,448,116 8,560,279 9,420,702 8,484,986

0,585 GEa5 05 10,200,071 0,458,527

The curent accounts held by the Bank with National Bank of Romania are for compliance with the minimum reserve requirements. Mandalory
reserve rates were for RON 15% (December 2010: 15%) and for foreign currencies 20% (December 2010: 25%).

The mandatory minimum reserve level calculated for 31 December 2011 is EUR 761,616 thousand and RON 4,999,445 thousand (for 31
December 2010 is EUR 996,740 thousand and RON 4,128,162 thousand).

16. DUE FROM BANKS

Group Bank
RON Thousand = 2011 20 2017 7010
Noslre account 81,377 67,488 78,910 57,728
Placaments with the central banks (i) 19,145 416 19,145 416
Placements with olher banks 898,000 1,659,878 836,088 1,353,635
Loans and advances to banks 101,688 43,956 72214 42,956

1,100,210 1,771,738 1,006,357 1,455,735

fii Placements with the Central Bank represenl collateral deposits lor ongoing [itigations.
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17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets Held for Trading

Group Bank
RON Thousand ik 2070 PR 010
Listed equity investments (i} 3,008 1,195 3,006 1,185
Unlisted debl securities (i} 696,693 956,773 698,693 856,773
Lisied bonds - 8,976 8,976

701,698 966,944 701,698 966,944

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss

Group Bank
RON Thousand b1 L AL PLET) nw
Lisled equity investments (i) 8373 10,389 8,373 10,389
Listed debf securilies (i} 25134 23,963 25,134 23,963
Unlisted equity investments (iv) 7,447 7611 7447 7611
41,854 41,963 41,954 41,963
(i Listed equity inveslmenls include shares issued by Financial Investment Companies {SIFs), Erste Bank, BRD and Daimler and
quoled on Buchares| Slock Exchange
(@ Unlisted debt securities include Romanian treasury bills;

{ii) Debt securities issued by municipalities;
{iv) Unlisted equity investments include investmenls in units funds adminislered by Erste Asset ManagementL.

18, LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

Group Bank
RON Thousand pIRE] 2010 2011 2010
Public sector 5,100,979 6,756,286 5,100,968 6,606,271
Commercial cuslomers 24,730,747 22,869,571 24 856,099 21,082,960
Privale cuslomers 23544600 22,612,740 21,152,401 20,918,536

53,376,326 52,218,597 51,109,468 48,607,767

Less: Allowance lor impatment losses (5572801)  (4844910)  (4119.034)  (3.446949)
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18.  LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (continued)

{a) Allowancs for impairment losses

Group Bank

RON Thousand N P40 2011 — 2010

At 1 January 4,844,910 3,717,351 3,446,949 2,083,177
Charges for the year {Note 9) 2,095,342 1,963,398 2,002,622 1,692,747
Recoveries - 12177 - -
Amounts written off {i) {1,073,548) (769,350) (1,033,460) (971,494)
Effect of change in foreign exchange 39117 51,515 35,943 32700
Interesl accrued on impaired loans {333,020 {190,181) {333,020 (190,181)
Al 31 December 5.5m1 4rw1§ Iu 1, I !gluu zlmlgg

(i) During 2011 and 2010 BCR sold doubtful loans to workoul companies outside BCR Group and also fo workout companies which are BCR
subsidiaries and are fully consolidaled in BCR Group.

(b) Analysis by sector
Loans to customers
Group Bank

RON Thousand = N o0 pLEE| 10
Private households 2033428 20,188,941 18,923,951 18,666,326
Banking and insurance 482,987 611,764 710,142 801,435
Manuiaciuring 8,769,044 8,362,643 5,209,470 7549222
Construction 6,112,963 5,406,236 5.747 479 4970848
Public administralion 5,606,509 6,707,028 5,605,329 6,623,741
Trade 4,541,311 4,399,405 4,053,149 3,685,116
Agricullure and foresiry 1,610,503 1,546,461 1,485,838 1,443,917
Transport and communication 2,230,565 1,453,667 1,880,577 875,671
Other service aclivilies 647,385 708,999 499,340 544,929
Health and social work 227480 146,887 191,948 103,328
Real eslale and other business aclivilies 801,678 854,105 1,855,283 1,720,340
Energy and water supply 1,218,322 937,877 1,183,929 898,371
Hotels and restaurants 470,631 502,968 397130 415,363
Mining 294,490 362,007 265,903 330,191
Other 28,220 49,809 - 19,969

51376,326 52,238,507 54,100,468 48,607,767
Less; aliowance for impairmen losses (5572801) (4844910}  (4119,034)  (3.446,849)

ATR03505  AT90681 46,000,434 45160,818

I
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18. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (continued)

c) Finance lease receivables

The Group acls as a lessor under finance leases through the subsidiary BCR Leasing SA, mainly on motor vehicles and equipment. The leases
are mainly denominaled in EUR and typically run for a period of between 1-15 years, with lransfer of ownership of the leased assel at the end of
the lease term. Inlerest is charged over the period of lhe lease based on fixed and variable {based on EURIBOR) inlerest rales. The receivables
are secured by the underlying assets and by other collateral. Loans and advances to relail and corporate customers include the following
finance lease receivables:

RON thousand 20 210

Gross investment in finance leases 1,367,605 1,821,308
Uneamed finance income (165.425) (224,120
Allowance for impairment g292.504! !204.520!
Nat investment in finance leases 809,675 1,392,668

Net investment in finance leases, with remaining maturilies

Less than one year 237,877 423,685
Between one and five years 594,537 749,582
More than 5 years 77,261 219,401
Net investment [n finance leases 900,675 1,392,668

19. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Available-for-sale
Group Bank
RON Thousand LA 2018 2011 2010
Listed Investments
Debl securities 471,211 403,194 439,265 358,934
Equilies 17,297 20,670 19,222 17,269
758,508 323,564 458,487 377,203
Non-listed investments
Other debt securities 4,709,415 3,469,876 4,709,415 3,419,581
Unlisted equity securilies 7,684 7,446 - -
Equities
- inveslmenis in subskdlaries - - 952,224 1,141,049
- olher invesiments 38,854 24,185 34,585 25,762
" L) U 1 r i i 1)
Total available for sale invesiments 5,444,501 3,025,371 B.158,721 4583,558

Lisled equities include investments in Financial Investment Companies {*SIF's”) shares quoted on Bucharest Stock Exchange.

Lisled debt securities include state bonds quoted on Bucharest Stock Exchange and bonds issued by municipalities.

Unlisted debl securities available for sale of Group and Bank include treasury bills denominated in RON and foreign currencies, siate bonds
issued by the Romanian Govemment in foreign currencies and municipality bonds.

Unlisled equity securities include investments in unit funds adminislrated by Ersle Assel Management.

Al unquoted available~for-sale equities are recorded at fair value excepl for the Bank's invesiments in subsidiaries and other companies, in
amount of RON 990,819 (housand, which are recorded at cost since their fair values cannot be refiably estimated (2010: RON 1,166,811
(housand). There is no market for this investments and the Bank inlends to hold them for the long term.
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19. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (continued)

On 31 December 2011, govemment bonds with a nominal value of RON 89,980 thousand have been used as collaleral lo the National Bank of
Romania in order (o ensure final setilement of inlerbank multilateral clearing operations according to NBR Rule No. 1/2005, for the seflement of
transactions through ROCLEAR Bucharest, NBR’s Clearing House, and VISA and MasterCard card transactions.

(iMovemenl in investments in subsidiaries :

Subsidiaries RON Thousand  Descriprion

Anglo Romanian Bank {190,731) liquidation of lhe participation

BCR Chislnau 17,296 Increase in existing capital

BCR Asset Managemenl (617) liquidalion of the participalion

BCR Pensil, Societate de Administrare a Fondurilor de Pensil Private SA 20,020 Increase in existing capital

Suport Colect SRL §7.902 Increase in exisling capital

BCR Procesare SRL 5,758 Increase in existing capilal

Good.bee Service RO SRL 9,646 Increase in exisling capilal

BCR Payments Services SRL 1.%00 Increase in existing capital

(150,000) impairement of invesiments in subsidiaries
Total {180,826)
Held-to-maturity
Grou Bank

RON Thousand T o1 2070
Non-listed debl securiies 1,796,656 637,608 1,746,127 637,608
Listed debi securities 6,215.165 4,804 610 5,409,481 4,360,812

8,011,821 5442218 7,155,608 4,998,420

The financial investments held-to-maturity include Romanian Governmenl bonds, being eligible assels with National Bank of Romania.

On 1 November 2008, the Bank reclassified the ISIN RO0717DBN038 from 'Available-for-Sale' to 'Held-to-Maturity’ category’. Available-for-sale
reserve al the time of reclassification was RON 63 milion, which is amortized through profit or loss over the remaining maturity of lhe
instrumenl using the effective interest rale. At 31 December 2011, the balance of available-for-sale reserve related to this instrument is RON 45
million.
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20. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Group Bank

Land and Computer Other fumiture Total Landand  Computer Other fumiture Total
RON Thousand buildings hardware  and equipment buildings  hardware and equipment
Cost:
At1 January 2011 1,618,299 636,478 530,535 2785712 476074 831,076 496,626 1,603,776
Addtions 100,029 5,864 90,131 196,024 95703 4,849 87,004 187,65
Disposals {163,970} {5,544) (187916)  (357430) {210,616) (7.900) (182,884) {401,400}
Exchange adjustment 2,641 (14) 632 3.289 - - . -
At 31 December 2011 1,556,999 637,184 433,380 2EA565 364,164 628125 400,746 1,300,032
Depreciation and impaimtent;
At 1 January 2011 201,13 468,020 mM 094 70763 452495 329,242 852,500
Disposals (128,544) {4,950) (83458}  (117992)  (33884) {7.042) (89,948) {130,672
Deprecialion charge for the year 56,643 9,780 89,332 1565755 3014 8,139 85,505 123,788
Impaimenl 2,742 . 7.9% 10,741 1,19 - 7999 9,218
Exchange adjustment 2,388 {15) 19 2,566 - - - -
At 34 December 2010 223,042 472,795 346107 1042844 68242 453592 132,600 854,634
Net book value:
At1 January 2014 1,326,586 168,858 196404 1603938 405311 176,584 167,384 751,276
At 31 December 2011 1,333,057 184,389 87275 TEsATH 202919 17453 67,946 535,398
Cost:
At 1 January 2010 1,687,150 0,46 763,446 2760042 797,393 029N Té1,509 1,841,873
Addilions 51,850 37,846 ck.ey) 179543 26,898 490 Hin 132,560
Dispesals {125,957) (9.074) {19067)  (154,008) {(48.217) (5,933) {16,507} (370,657)
Retlassification - 27639 (297,639) . . 299,548 (299,548) -
Exchange adjustmenl (754) 12 (42) (675) . - - -
At 1 December 2010 1,618,209 636,878 530,535 2785712 476,074 631,076 496,626 1,603,776
Depreciation and impafrment.
A1 January 2010 309,025 431 461,545 1,034,342 135506 233955 468,683 843,144
Disposals (70,112 {9,034) {12,7680) (92,530)  (94,583) (5,932) (12,879} (113,394)
Depreciation charge for the year 53,241 66,403 30,624 150,268 29840 65,689 2 122,750
Redassificalion - 166,912 {166,912) - . 153,783 (153,783) -
Exchange adjusiment 159 {29) {436) {306) - - - -
At 31 December 2010 201,113 468,020 13040 100774 70763 452495 329,242 852,500
Net hook value; -
At 1 January 2010 1,378,125 66,574 201,001 1726600 661837 64,016 212,826 998,729
At 31 December 2010 1,326,586 168,358 198404 1603038 40531 174,381 167,384 751,276

The fair value of land and buildings is RON 1,645,655 thousand for the Group and RON 337,254 thousand for lhe Bank. The fair value of land
and buildings has been assessed as al 31 December 2009 by an independent avalvator.

There are no fixed assels pledged as collaleral as at 31 December 2011, and 31 December 2010.

The folal cost of the Bank's langible fixed assels fully amorlized at the end of 2011 was RON 426,850 thousand, (2010: RON 393,577

lhousand})
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21. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

RON Thousand Group Bank

. Computer Customer Computer

Goodwill software relationship Total software

Cost:
At 1 January 2011 46,275 519,936 106,943 673,154 455,130
Addtions - 106,377 - 106,377 101,046
Reclassificalion {7.534) (2711) (10,245) {25,828)
Disposals - 545 - 545 -
At 31 December 2011 46,275 618,324 104,232 768,831 530,348
Amortization: -
At 1 January 2011 243,551 5,283 248,834 234,492
Disposals - (6,554) - (6,554) {46)
Impairment of goodwill 34,941 - - 34,941 -
Amorlization charge for the year - 45,980 4,810 51,790 52,374
At 31 December 2011 34,941 283977 10,093 329,011 286,820
Net book value: -
At 1 January 2011 46,275 276,385 101,660 424,320 220,638
At 31 December 2011 11,34 334,347 94,139 439,820 243,528
At 1 January 2010 36,552 481,709 72,547 590,808 476,799
Additions 9723 68,435 34,502 112,660 64,850
Disposals - (30,575) {106) (30,681) {86,519)
Exchange adjustmenl - 367 - 367 -
At 31 December 2010 46,275 519,936 106,943 673,154 455,130
Amortization: -
At 1 January 2010 - 200,753 856 201,609 191,260
Disposals - {3,476) {106) (3,582) (1,629)
Amoriization charge for he year - 46,465 4,533 50,998 44,861
Exchange adjustment {191) - {(191) -
At 31 December 2010 243,551 5,283 248,834 234,492
Net book value: -
At1 January 2010 _ 3gS52 280956 71,691 389199 285539
At 31 December 2010 48,215 216,385 101,660 247370 220,638

The infangible asseis comprise mainly software and the increase is due o the acquisition of sofiware applicalions.
Customer relationships arise from acquisition of pension contracts by the subsidiary BCR Pensii, Societate de Administrare a Fondurilor de

Pensii Private SA, from another pension fund.
The tolal cosl of the Bank's intangible fixed assels fully amortized al the end of 2011 was RON 220,847 thousand {2010 : RON 160,736

thousand).
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22, OTHER ASSETS

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2011 2010 2011 2010
Accrued interest receivable, net of provision for impairment* - 1,345,624 . 1,078,087
Prepayments 58,451 78,653 34,544 61,233
Ofher receivables nel of provisions™ 855,592 663,345 458,992 545,162
Fair value hedge / measurement of hedged ilem 3,506 - 3,508 -
Invesimenl property 51,434 .

966,983 2,087,622 497,042 1,684,482

* Slarting 2011 the accrued interest is disclosed within fhe related inleres! bearing assels.
* Other receivables include accrued commissions and receivables from olher sundry debiors.

Accrued interest recelvable

Group Banca
RON Thousand 2010 2010
Due from barks 2,894 2,641
Due from customers, nel of provision 1,026,340 778,248
Financial insiruments - assels 96,685 96,356
Other interesl bearing assels 219,705 200,842

1345624 1,078,087

Investment property

Grou
RON Thousand 2011
Opening balance al 1 January 2011 -
Aquisitions of investmenl properties 52320
Depreciation in the year {386)

51,434
The investment property are presenled at cost, and the fair value al 31 December 2011 is RON Thousand 52,704. Deprecialion is calculated
using the straight-fine method and estimated useful lives between 30 to 50 years.

As at 31 December 2011, out of the fotal of the gross book value, the amount of RON 21,831 thousand {net book value of RON 21,488
thousands) is related to two investment properties for which the counterparty has a first option lo buy the asset.
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23. DUETO BANKS

Group Bank
RON Thousand 20T 7010 11 2070
Deposils from other banks 18,773,859 17,256,172 18,666,188 16,540,219
Curent accounls of other banks 199,027 97,081 109,028 93,027
Borrewings and finanging lines 3,933,508 4,470,279 1,876,897 1,866,067

22906,394 21,823,532 20,742,113 18,902,313

The lable below conlains the financing agreemenis obtained by the Bank as follows:
- for 2010 he oulslanding loans principal
- for 2011 Lhe outstanding loans principal and the accrued interests :

RONThousand 20 2010

Intenafional Finance Corporation, USA (i) 287,328 408,340
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development for morfgage loans (i) 71,557 81,503
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development - SME {ii) 375,055 428,480
European Bank for Reconstruclion and Development - SMM (iv) 69,313 71,415
EBRD- EEFF {v) 80,360 82,635
EBRD- CSF {vi) 37,082 61,211
European Investment Bank - Global Loan {vii) 203611 207,099
European Invesiment Bank - Loans for SMEs {vii) 328,576 128,544
European Invesiment Bank — Loans for SMEs (i) 260,547 -
A bank from Hungary - 28,565
4 bank from Germany - 85,696
A bank from USA 86,972 -
Other loans 76,496 285,579
Total TR TR!

The main financing agreemenls oblained by the Bank are presented below, excluding the accrued interest:
i) Intemational Finance Corporation (“IFC")
The Bank has concluded three financing agreements with IFC.

The first agreement was dated 17 December 2002, its purpose being to improve the slructure of Bank's balance sheel by reducing maturity
mismatches between foreign cumency assels and foreign cumency liabilties, and to expand Bank's activilies with privale sector firms and
individuals. Commitied amount represented USD 75,000,000 and has been fully drawn by the Bank. The reimbursements were due in biannual
installments starting wilh 15 June 2006 and ending on 15 December 2009, Inferest paymenl was biannual al a variable interest rate of LIBOR 6
months plus a revised margin. Based on the amendmenl daled December 2005, the outstanding loan payable of USD 67,500,000 was
converled inlo a EUR facility. As of 31 December 2011 the outstanding loan is EUR 7,649,806 (31 December 2010: 15,269,615). This revised
facifity is payable in semi-annual equal installments starling with 15 December 2006 and ending on 15 December 2012 with interest payments
also biannual at a variable interest rale of EURIBOR 6 months plus a revised margin.
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23. DUE TO BANKS {continued)

The second agreement is daled 5 December 2006, its purpose being to provide Lhe Bank with long-lerm funds to expand ils lending to small
and medium enterprises and to strengthen ils retaif lending. Committed amounl represents EUR 75,000,000 which has been fully drawn by the
Bank. As of 31 December 2011 the outstanding loan is EUR 15,000,000 (31 December 2010: EUR 30,000,000). The reimbursements are due
in biannual installments starling with 15 June 2008 and ending on 15 December 2012. Inlerest payment is biannual at a variable interest rale of
EURIBOR 6 months plus a revised margin.

The third agreement is dated 30 June 2008, its purpose being to provide the Bank wilh long-term funds to expand its lending lo lhe clienis from
agribusiness sector. Commitied amount represenl EUR 50,000,000 which has been fully drawn by the Bank. As of 31 December 2011 the
outstanding loan is EUR 42,857,143 {31 December 2010: EUR 50,000,000). The reimbursements are due in biannual installments starting with
15 July 2011 and ending on 15 July 2014. Inieresl payment is biannual at a variable interesl raie of EURIBOR 6 months plus a revised margin.

ii) European Bank for Reconstruction and Development {"EBRD") mortgage loans
The Bank has concluded 2 finance agreements with EBRD for morigage loans.

The first agreemenl is dated 14 January 2003, its purpose being to grant morlgages for real estate (houses, flats, and the respective land), as
the case may be and the like used or to be used by individual sub-borrowers for personal use in Romania or legal enlity sub-bomowers for
constructing or buying houses, flals or the like in Romania for Iheir employees.

Commitled amounl represents EUR 50,000,000 and drawn-downs can be efther in EUR or USD. At 25 November 2006 an amendment to this
agreement was signed, which among olher provisions stipulates that the new repaymeni period will start on 17 May 2008 in 21 biannual equal
installments on 17 May and 17 November. Interest is payable semi-annually at a variable inferesl rale of LIBOR 6 months plus a revised
margin. On the basis of (e second amendmenl signed at 7 February 2007, al 14 February 2007 a conversion of the oulslanding loan from
USD to EUR has been made. Consequently the balance of the loan afier conversion became 41,884,237 EUR and the repayment period
starled on 17 May 2008. On 30 December 2010 a prepayment in amounl of EUR 16,681,584 has been made. The balance was EUR
11,532,869 as of 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010: EUR 13,307,156).

The second agreemenl is dated 25 November 2005, ils purpose also being lo grant morigages for sub-borowers. Committed amount
represents EUR 50,000,000 and drawn-downs can be either in EUR or USD. Bank has drawn onfy EUR 8,000,000 of the agreement amount
and BERD cancelled undrawn balance in amount of EUR 42,000,000.

The loan is repayable in drawn-down in 21 equal bi-annual instaliments, starling with 17 May 2008, payable on 17 May and 17 November.
Interes! is payable semi-annually at a variable inlerest rale of LIBOR 6 months plus a revised margin. At 31 December 2011 the outstanding
balance of the loan was of EUR 4,952,381 (31 December 2010: EUR 5,714,285).

iii} European Bank for Reconstruction and Development - Small and Medium Enterprises (SME ll)

The agreement daled 30 March 2008 amounting EUR 100,000,000 represents a Credil Line for small and medium-sized enierprises, used for
financing invesimenl projects and working capilal. The loan was contracted for 5 years and has a grace period of 2 years; lhe first capilal
payment will be on 12 Seplember 2011. As of 31 December 2011 he oulslanding principal is EUR 85,714,286 (31 December 2010: EUR
100,000,000). The loan re-payment is made in equal biannual installmenis on 12 March and 12 Seplember. Interest paymeni is also made in
biannual installments.

v} European Bank for Reconstruction and Development - Small and Medium-sized Municipalities (SMM}

The agreement dated 21 December 2004 represents a Finance Facility for small and medium-sized municipalities, their associ?tions and uﬁli’gy
companies held or conlrolled by them, o improve public services, upgrade infrastructure and meet EU environmenlal directives. Under lhis
Facility, BCR and lhe SMM bomowers are the recipients of grants provided by the EU in the limit of EUR 3,000,000, in order lo support the SMM
borrowers and encourage the long term lending, as follows: for BCR — Maturity Enhancement Fee {(EUR 1,000,000), Performance Fee (EUR
275,000) and Technical Co-Operation Support (EUR 300,000); for SMM bomowers — Municipality Financial Incentive {EUR 550,000} and
Technical Assistance {EUR 875,000},

The commitied amount is EUR 20,000,000. As at 31 December 2011 the outstanding loan principal is EUR 15,979,193 {31 Dfacember 2019:
EUR 16,666,940). The loan re-payment is made in equal biannual installmenis on 19 May and 19 November. Inlerest payment is also made in

biannual installments.
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23. DUE TO BANKS (continued)

v) European Bank for Reconstruction and Development for energy efficiency projects with the support of the European Union

The agreement was concluded on 24 January 2008 and is a facility for financing investment in the industrial sector fo reduce energy
consumplicn and improving energy performance. Based on the amended dated 31 March 2010 the amount of the facility was increased up lo
EUR 30,000,000 Under this facifity, BCR and also the sub-bomowers are beneficiary of financial incenlives to encourage long-term loans as
following: for BCR the performance fee ( maximum EUR 1,150,000), and free technical assistance for BERD consuliancy fo promole the loans
ad for the training of bank’s employees related to the eligible crileria. For sub-borrowers- the incentive of EUR 4,500,000 and free (echnical
assisiance lo prepare documentation on the investment and lo verify implementation.

Commitied amount is EUR 18,571,429 al 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010: EUR 19,285,714). Loan repayment is made in biannual
installments, on June 12 and December 12 starling from 2010. Interest is paid in hatf-yearly installments.

At 26 September 2011, BCR concluded a new Loan Agreement with EBRD “Romania SME Suslainable Energy Financing Faciliy” in an
aggregale amount of EUR 20,000,000. Under this facility, the Sub-borrowers will be incentivized from the resources of European Union with
Investment Incentives (up o EUR 3,000,000 lo pursue higher efficiency investmens. Both, BCR and Sub-borrowers will benefil from free
technical assistance supported by EBRD Consultants, as follows:

for BCR lo promote the Facility and training lhe loan officers in idenfifying eligible project opporiunities;

for Sub-borrowers (o prepare technical documentation on complex energy efficiency investmenis and renewable energy projects and
establishing a List of Eligible Measure and Equipment (LEME } and a List of Equipmenl Suppliers and Installers {LESI) for Small Scale
investmenl and lo verify projects implementation. The loan will be repaid in 7 semi-annual installments on February 12 and August 12. As of 31
December 2011 no drawdown was made from this facility.

vi) European Bank for Reconstruction and Development to support the competitiveness of SMEs supported European Union and
the Romanian Govemment, through the Ministry of Development, Public Works and Housing

The agreement was concluded on 15 May 2008 and represents a facility financing lo SMEs fo meel one or more Priority Directives of the
European Union on environmental prolection, safety and health al work, quality and safety of producis applicable in the relevant industrial
sector. Under this facility, bolh BCR and SMEs are the beneficiaries of financial incentives to encourage long-lerm loans, as follows: for BCR -
Administrative incentive {up lo EUR 400,000} and free assistance provided by EBRD consuliants for the promotion of loans and for iraining of
bank staff on compliance with eligibility crileria; for SME borrowers - financial incentive: (4,000,000 EUR), and free technical assisiance fo
prepare documentation on the investmenl and to verify implementation. Committed amounl is EUR 8,571,429 al 31 December 2011 {31
December 2010; EUR 14,285,714). Loan repayment is made in biannual installments, on June 12 and December 12 slarling from 2010.
Interest payment is also made in biannual installments.

vii} European Investment Bank (EIB} - Global Loan

BCR signed with the EIB on 24 November 2006 the financing for a loan in lhe overall fotal of EUR 50,000,000, for financing investment projects
of small or medium size, developed by SMES in any field (except the fields restricted / excluded by the EIB) and / or other privale or public
enlities, regardless of lheir size and structure of social capital in fields of environmen, infrastruciure, knowledge based economy, rational use of
energy, health, education. The loan was conlracted with Erste Bank Guarantee.

As of 31 December 2011 the outstanding loan s EUR 46,666,666 {31 December 2010: EUR 48,333,333}, The first tranche amounting EUR
10,000,000 will be repaid in biannual installments, on May 23 and November 23, The loan was conlracled for 8 years and has a grace period of
2 years; lhe first capital payment was on 24 May 2010. Interest is paid in half-yearly installments, at the same dates as the principal. The second
iranche in value of EUR 25,000,000 has a bullet repayment on 10 February 2017, with a semiannual inleresi payment, The third tranche in
value of EUR 15,000,000 has a bullet repayment on 13 April 2017, with a semiannual inlerest payment.

vili) European Investment Bank (EIB) - Loan for SMEs - A
BCR signed with the EIB on 18 December 2009 the financing for a loan in the overall total of EUR 75,000,000, lor financing investments and

expenditures incurred in the context of the development of SMEs in the field of agriculiure, industry, tourism and services. The loan was
conlracted with Ersle Bank Guarantee.
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23. DUE TO BANKS {continued)

As of 31 December 2011 the outslanding loan is EUR 75,000,000 (31 December 2010: EUR 30,000,000). The first ranche amounting EUR
30,000,000 will be repaid in biannual installments, on January 12 and July 12. The firsl tranche was contracted for 12 years with a grace period
of 3 years; the firsl capital paymenl will be on 12 July 2013. The second tranche in value of EUR 30,000,000 will be repaid in biannual
installments, on January 12 and July 12. The second Iranche was conlracled for 10 years with a grace period of 3 years; lhe first capital
payment wil be on 12 January 2014. The third lranche in value of EUR 15,000,000 will be: repaid in biannual installments, on 4 February and 4
August; the first capilal payment will be on 4 February 2014. The third tranche was conlracted for 12 years with a grace period of 3 years.
Inlerest is paid in half-yearly instaliments, at the same dales as the principal.

ix} European Investment Bank (EIB} - Loan for SMEs - B

BCR signed with the EIB on 1 April 2011 the financing for a loan in the overall total of EUR 75,000,000, for financing projects promoted by small
and medium Sized enterprises, mid-caps and public seclor authorities in the field of agricufture, industry, tourism, services and other eligible
sectors on compliance with eligibility crileria. The loan was conlracted with Erste Group Bank Guaraniee.

As of 31 December 2011 lhe outstanding loan is EUR 60,000,000 (31 December 2010: EUR 0). The first tranche amounting EUR 30,000,000
will be repaid in biannual installments, on May 6 and November 6. The first franche was conlracled for 12 years with a grace period of 3 years;
(he first capital payment will be on 6 May 2014; interesl is paid in quarterly installments. The second Iranche in value of EUR 30,000,000 wil be
repaid in biannual installments, on February 26 and August 26. The second franche was conlracted for 12 years wilh a grace period of 3 years;
the first capital payment will be on 26 August 2014; interest is paid in half-yearly installments, at the same dates as the principal.

The final maturities of loans from banks and other financial institutions other than the facililies provided by EBRD, EIB and IFC, vary between
January 2012 and February 2027.

In general, the loan agreements concluded with the banks and other financial instilutions provide that if the Bank fails fo perform any of its
obfigations under these agreements or any other agreements befween the Bank and the olher banks and financial instituions and such faflure
continues for a certain period afier the other banks and financial instituions notify the Bank of that failure, these banks and ather financial
instituions may, under ceriain circumstances and by nolice fo the Bank, require the Bank to repay the loans immedialely.

No assets of lhe Bank have been pledged as collateral for the above loans.

24, ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Assets held for sale of RON 212,663 thousand in 2011 (RON 29,429 lhousand in 2010} comprise repossessed cars and wagons from the
leasing activity.
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25. DUETO CUSTOMERS

Group Bank
RON Thousand = am 10 2 VAL
Corporate customers:
Current accounis 2128145 1,767,332 2,095,165 1,739,013
Term deposils 7,569,081 8,132,202 7,788,908 8,177,304
Retall customers;
Currenl/saving accounts 5,561,867 5,197,202 5,533,932 5,179,374
Term deposits 24,405,206 22,730,200 23,524,751 22,191,365

39664209 37826936 38942762 37,287,145

Included in ‘Due to cuslomers’ were deposils of RON 1,509,674 Lhousand in 2011 (2010: RON 431,831 [housand) held as collateral for
commitments and letters of guaranties.

26. DEBT ISSUED AND OTHER BORROWED FUNDS

Group Bank
RON Thousand {3 2010 2011 2010
Bonds issued 943,906 428,044 811074 428034
Cerlificates of deposit 188,015 210,143 188,915 210,143

1,132,821 638,177 1,000,889 838477

During 2011 the Bank issued new lisled medium temm nofes denominaled in RON in amount of RON 243 410 thousand and listed mediurm lemm
noles denominated in EUR in amounl of EUR 27,200 housand.

27. SUBORDINATED LIABILITIES
In 2009, the Bank contracted one subordinated loan in EUR as follows:
«  EUR 120,000 thousand with the malurity date of 30 September 2016.

In 2008, the Bank contracted two subordinaled foans in RON as follows:

+  RON 550,000 thousand with the maturity date on 17 April 2018;
«  RON 780,000 thousand with lhe malurity date on 18 December 2018.

The loan agreements do nol stiputale circumstances in which early disbursement is required and no provisions for converting subordinaied debt
in equity or other liability.

As of 31 December 2011 lhe outstanding nominal amount of subordinaled bonds issued by BCR was : EUR 33.5 million and RON 20 million.
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28. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

RON Thousand

Hedging instruments
Cross currency and interest rate swaps
Interest rate swaps

Derivaiives-other than hedging Instruments
Foreign currency swaps and forward conlracls
Interest rate swaps

Warranls

Oplions

Cross currency and interest rale swaps

TOTAL

2011 2010
Assets Liabilites  Notional Assats Liabilities  Notional

17,03 1,783,503 10,129,160 17557  1,726250 11,626,862

13,660 - 737,648 14,755 26,524 70,000
30,696 1,783,503 10,566,808 32312 1,152,714 11,696,882

12,395 10518 3,177,760 4,703 2,788 3,184,084

37,623 52881 2,122,385 - 1,744 1,828,773
693 693 129,591 1,170 180 247,993
4,062 3231 1,955,986 5,102 6014 1,065,998
1,018 4,262 6,944 - 14,877 376,346

55,791 7,385 7,392,666 10,975 35603 6,703,194

WA 1B54B88 TS I0ATE AT 178837 8400076

Fair value hedges are used by lhe Bank to profect il against changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities due to
mavements in exchange rates and interest rates. The financial instruments hedged for interest rale risk include bonds issued and deposits.

The Bank uses cummency swaps lo hedge againsi specifically identified currency risks, and interesi rate swaps lo hedge interes! rate risk.

The fair value of hedged items attribulable lo the hedged risks amounled lo RON 268,659 thousand as liabilties, presenled in Note 28 (2010:

RON 194,757 |housand as kabililies).
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29. OTHER LIABILITIES

Group Bank
RON Thousand = an o3[ 5| PR
Acgrued interesl payable* . 391,056 - 379,284
Accounts payable and sundry credilors 457,331 1,042,577 385,272 920,169
Deferred income 46,005 60,125 42 960 53,662
Measurement of hedged item {Fair value hedge) 266,659 194,757 268,659 194,757
171,995 1,688,515 666,801 1,647,872

* Starting 2011 the accrued interesl is disclosed within the related interes! bearing liabilities.

Accrued inlerest payable related 1o the following financing sources

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2010 2010
Due to banks 157,561 136,291
Due lo customers 222,501 232,089
Debl issued and other borrowed funds 10,904 10,804

391,056 379,284
30. PROVISIONS
Group Bank

RON Thousand 2011 2010 2011 2010
Provision for guaraniees off-balance sheel 170,137 109,701 170,137 109,569
Provision for retirement benefils {Note 31} 48973 55,660 48,839 54,562
Provision for [itigations 64,134 63,267 56,335 58,244
Provision for restruciuring (i) 2254 21,227 22534 -
Provisions for lay-offs - 4,076 - 4,076

305,178 253,351 297,845 226,471

(i) Provision for restructuring BCR branches in 2011 and London and Bucharest branches of Anglo-Romanian Bank subsidiary in 2010.
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30. PROVISIONS (continued)

The movemenl of provisions during 2011 is as follows:

GROUP
Provision for

Provision for  Provision for Provislons for guarantees off
RON Thousand restructuring  litigations lay-offs  balance sheet
At 1 Janvary 2011 ravrid 63,287 4,076 109,711
Arising during the year 22,534 7,978 82,522
Released (Nole 8) (4,197) - -
Utilised (20,947} (2,585) (4,076} {23,012)
Exchange-rate difference {280} {349) 926
At 31 December 2011 22534 64,134 170,137
Bank

Provision for

Provision for Provision for Provisions for guarantess off
RON Thousand restructuring  lifigations lay-offs ~ balance sheet
At 1 January 2011 . 58,244 4,076 108,569
Arising during the year 22,534 4071 82,740
Released (Nole 8) - {3,825) - -
Utilised {1,909) {4,076) {22,830)
Exchange-rate difference - (2486) - 658
At 31 December 2014 22,534 56,335 170,137
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31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Changes in the presenl value of the defined benefit cbligation are as follows:

Group Bank

Opening defined benefit obligation 55,660 65,444 54,582 65,444
Inlerest cost 3197 5733 4,254 5733
Current service cosl 573 7,068 5,622 7,068
Benefits paid (2,346) {3,194} (2,346) (3.181)
Actuarial gains on obligalions (14,058) (21,753) (14,056) (21,753
Past service cost 783 2,362 783 2,362
Curtailment of benefils! Transler of benedits to new subsidiary - - - {1,001)

48,973 55,660 43,829 54,582

Defined benefit cbligation

According fo the colleclive labor agreement, employees of the Bank are enlitied to one lump sum paymeni on the date of nommal age
relirement, of up to 6 gross monlhly salaries (the Bank) and up to 2 gross monthly salaries {the subsidiaries), depending on seniority.

This is a defined benefit plan thal defines an amount of benefit thal an employee is entitled to receive on lhe date of normai age retirement,
dependent on one or more faclors such as age, years of service and salary. A full actuarial valuation by a qualified independenl actuary is
camied out every year.

The plan liability is measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credil method. The defined benefit plan liability is discounted using
rates equivalent (o the markel yields at the balance sheel date of high-quality comporate bonds (hal are denominaled in lhe currency in which
benefits wil be paid, and that have a maturity approximating o the terms of the relaled liability. Actuarial gains and losses arising from
experience adjustmenls and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in the statement of changes in equity.

The principal assumplions used in determining the defined benefit obligation of the Group's plan are shown below:

2011 2010
% %
Discount rale 6.5% 6.7%
Future salary increases 2.5% K}
Mortalty rates ETTL- PAGLER ETTL- PAGLER
Disability rates ETTL- PAGLER ETTL- PAGLER
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32. ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES

The statutory share capital of the Bank as at 31 December 2011 is represented by 15,534,355,438 ordinary shares of RON 0.10 each (31
December 2010: 792,468,750 ordinary shares of RON 1.30 each). The shareholders of the Bank are as follows:

2011 2010
RON Thousand Numberof  Percentage Numberof Percentage
shares holding (%)  shares  holding (%)

Erste Group Bank Ceps Holding GmbH 13845,686,043 891205 550,020,232  69.40%9
Socielatea de Investiiii Financiare ("SIF") ,Banat Crisana® 366,373,358 23585 47548125 £.0000
Socielatea de Investilii Financiare ("SIF") ,Moldova" - - 47548125 6.0000
Socielatea de Investiti Financiare ("SIF”) ,Transitvania® . - 47,548,125 6.0000
Societatea de Invesiitii Financiare {"SIF*) ,Muntenia’ 241,744,625 15562 47,548,125 6.0000

Societatea de Invesfitii Financiare {"SIF*) ,Olfenia” 1,023,534,303 55008 48,479,429 6.1175
SAl Certinvest SA . 1,000 0.0001
SC Actinvesl SA 216,081 0.0014 15,773 0.0020
SC Carina Import Export SRL 53,948 0.0004 4,376 0.0006
SC Milord Impex SRL 26,727 0.0002 1,951 0.0003
FDI Certinvest Dinamic 13,699 0.0001 - -
Individuals 56,700,654 0.3650 3,753,489 0.4736
Total T8 3en 458 00 ToL88,750 ™

In April 2011 the General Meeling of Shareholders of BCR approved the increase of the Bank’s share capital with RON 55,428 thousand from
the net profil for the year 2010, also the nominal value of shares decreased from RON 1.3 to RON 0.10.

In November 2011 the General Meeling of Shareholders of BCR approved the increase of lhe Bank’s share capilal with RON 467,799 thousand
by shareholders contribution. The share capital conlribution was paid and recorded as of 31 December 2011.

EGHB Ceps Holding GmbH increased ils participalion o 89.1295% from BCR's issued capilal, following additional buying of shares from SIF’s
and minority between 14 November -19 December 2011.

The holders of ordinary shares are entiiled lo periodically receive dividends as declared and are entilled to one vole per share al the general
shareholders’ meetings of the Bank.

The reconciliation of the slatutory share capital of the Bank o the share capital in the balance sheet is presented below:

RON Thousand 2011 2010

Share capilal as per Romanian slalulory accounts 1,553,436 1,030,209
|AS 29 hyperinflation adjustment recorded in prior years {i.e. until 31 December 2003) 1,327,224 1,327,224
Share capital in the IFRS balance sheet 2,880,660 2,357,433
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32.ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

Other Capital Reserves

The recongiliation of opening and closing balances of reserves aftributable lo the holders of the parent Bank is presented below:

GROUP 2011
Availablefor-sale  Foreigncumency  Actuarial gain/ Hanagem.em CashFlow  Melimvestment Other capital
share option Todal

RON Thousand rRserve trnslation resarve  {loss) ol

Al 1 January 2011 {31,448) 141,900 63,352 1,35 {IrGed) 1007756 1,160,286
Far value change I avatiabie-for5aie financeal 23sets {3545) - . . . - 4
Aaianal gans / {josses) on defined benefil pans - 14,059 14,059
Net gain from cash fimw hedges - 10,212
Net gain on hedge of nel imvestment . - 9%
Tax effed %1 - (2.249) (8,202
Transiton reserve {121675) - - (126,703)
At ¥ December 2014 {34.044) 14,25 80,162 138 1,079,044
GROUP 2010

Mibblorsde  Forgnoumeney Actuaiagain] TP ivestment Otercai
reserve translation mserve  {loss) Sha ofion Totd
RON Thousand
AL January 2010 {46,02) 14,402 5023 f.150m
Fair value change in available-for-sale financial asset 17,628 . . 11628
Actuarial gains | {lssses) on defined beneft plans . 175 21,753
Nel loss on hedge of nel imvesiment . - {6,208
Tax effect (3.01) (363) {5
Translation reserve 749 - 134
At 3 December 240 {31,449) 14,900 68,952 1,164,266
Bank 2011
. . Management
RON Thousand Avallw:-sale Actu:[:i;;aln I share eption Total
lan
AUt January 2011 {30,579) 69,193 1,395 1,023,765
Farr value change in available-for-sale financial assels (6,270} - {6,270)
Actuarial gains f {losses) on defined benefil plans - 14,056 14,05
Nel gain from cash flow hedges - - 10,212
Tax effect 1003 (2.249) - {2,880)
At 31 December 2011 {35,846} 51,000 1,395 1,045,883
Bank 2010
Avallable-for-sale Actuarlal gain{ Total

RON Thousand reserva {loss)

AL 1 January 2010 {45,250) 50,919 1,000,820
Fair value change In avatlable-for-sale financial assels 17,466 . 17,466
Actuarial gains / {losses) on defined benefil plans - 21,753 21,753
Tax effecl (2.794) (3.480) {6,274)
At 31 December 2010 {30,579} 69,193 1,033,765
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33. RECONCILIATION OF STATUTORY PROFIT, SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES WITH IFRS BALANCES

GROUP 2011

RON Thousand Net profit Reserves Shara capital
Bank - statulory {510,819} 3,398,272 1,553,436
Subsidiaries - statutory, net of consolidatlon adjustments {115,066) (279,674) .
Loans - allowance for impairmeni losses 795,467 3,478,634

Fair value through profit and loss 66,187 60,161

Property and equipmenl 74 (121,190) -
Equity invesiments {73,722) 105,504 .
Share capita! reslalement for hyperinflalion - (1,327,224) 1,327,224
Available-for-sale reserve - {40,529) -
Transiation reserves - 14,225

Provisions for off balance sheef commiiments (59,510 {170,136}

Defemed lax (40,655) (502,552)

Other 4,642 33,084 -
Impairment of goodwil (34,941) (34,941) -
intragroup efiminalion dividends and unrealised prfitsosses 43522 27,555

Net investimenl hedge {38,466) -

Cash fiow hedge . 10,212

Total BCR Group 69,353 4,651,381 2,880,660
Non-controlling interests 2512 14,261 -
Tofal 70,925 4,665,642 2,880,660
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33, RECONCILIATION OF STATUTORY PROFIT, SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES WITH IFRS BALANCES (continued)

GROUP 2010

RON Thousand el profit Reserves Share capltal

Bank - statutory 55,427 3,783,510 1,020,209
Subsidiaries - statutory, net of consolidation adjustments {116,461) 159,891 -
Loans allowance 886,535 3,043,913 -
Loans - effective interesl rate 45,796 250,884 -
Fair value through profit and loss {9,207) (41.862) -
Property and equipment - (439,738) -
Equity invesiments - (3,416} -
Bomowings - amortzed cosl (762) {29,353} -
Retiremenl benefil {10,890) {8,792) -
Share capital restalemenl for hyperinflation - (1,327,224) 1,327,224
Available-for-sale reserve - (36,983) -
Acluarial gainslosses - 82,372 -
Translalion reserve - 141,900 -
Impairment of assets held for sale {59,011) (71,134) -
Managemenl share option programm - 1,395 -
Deferred tax (128,975) (499,513) .
Other 1,267 142,513 -
Intragroup elimination dividends (204,950) (365,787) -
Nel invesimeni hedge 6,208 (32,938)

Total BCR Group 464,977 4,719,698 2,357,433
Non conlrolling inlerest 2,665 26,532 -
Total 467,642 4,746,230 2,357,433
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33.  RECONCILIATION OF STATUTORY PROFIT, SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES WITH IFRS BALANCES (continued)

BANK 2011
RON Thousand Net profil Reserves Share capital
Statutory {510,818} 3,398,272 1,553,436
Loans - allowance ior impairmenl losses 92,823 3,505,043
Fair value lhrough profil and loss 66,187 0,163
Property and equipment 8,284 (57.098)
Equity mvesiments {67,338) 105,504 -
Share capital resiatement for hyperinfiation . (1,327,224) 1,327,224
Available-for-sale reserve - (42,674}
Provisions for off balance sheel commitments {59.510) {170.136)
Deferred lax {49.628) {518,500}
Fair value derivatives (441) 3275
Cash flow hedge - 10.212
Other {14,516} -
Total 244 942 4,066 837 2,880,660
BANK 2010
RON Thousand Net profit Reserves Share capital
Statutory

55,421 3,753,510 1,030,209
Loans - allowance for impaiment losses 842,195 2,800,300
Loans - effiective inlerest rale 45,796 250,884
Fair value through profit and loss {9,914) {42,849)
Property and equipment (42,945) (347,517)
Equity invesiments - (3,416
Retlrement benefit {10,890) (8.918)
Finance lease liability - (1,161
Borrowings - amortized cosl (762) {29,353} -
Share capital restatement for hyperinflation - {1,327,224) 1,327,224
Available-for-sale reserve - 38,613 -
Actuarial gainsflosses - 82,372
Management share option program - 1,395
Delerred tax {130,210} {515,711)
Other (16,865) 111,260 -
Total 731,832 4,762 205 2,357,433




BCRS
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Consolidated and Bank
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34. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is the amount for which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a curren transaclion between willing parties, olher (han forced
sale or liquidation. The fair value is best evidenced by a quoted markel price, if such exisls.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimale the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments.
Financial assets

Loans originaled by the Group and leases are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rates less any impaimment reserve. The
inlerest rate of approximalely 95% of these assels is variable based on current market rates, and consequently, the camying amounts of these
assets approximale their fair value.

For deposils with banks, amortized cosl is estimated to approximale fair value due lo Lheir shori-term nature, inlerest rales reflecting curent
markel conditions and no significant fransaction costs. The amortized cost of treasury securifies was not materially difierent from their quoted
prices.

The remeasured cost net of any reserve for impairment of investments that are nol lisled at a stock exchange is estimated lo approximate their
fair value,

Financial liabilities

The amorlized cost of customer deposits and borrowings is considered (o approximaie Lheir respective fair values, since these items have
predominantly short re-pricing tems, carry interest rales reflecting curent market conditions and are seltied without significanl ransaction cosls.

The Bank uses lhe following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation lechnique:
Level 1; quoted {unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: other lechniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, ilher directly or

indirectly; and
Level 3: fechniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are nol based on observable market data.
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34, FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Group 2011
RON Thousand Laval 1 Lavel 2 Level 3 Tolal

Financlal assels

Derivative financlal Inslrumenis
Hedging Instruments

Cross currency and interes! rale swaps - 17,036 - 17,036
Interast rale swaps - 13.660 - 13,660
- 30,888 - 30,608
Derlvatlves-other than hedging Inslruments
Foreign currency swaps and forward contracls - 12,395 - 12,395
Interosl rate swaps " 37.623 . 37,623
Warranis - 693 - 693
Oplions . 4,062 - 4,062
Cross currency swaps (non-hedging) - 1,018 . 1,018
- 55,781 - 55,781
- 86,487 - 86,487
Financlal asnets held for trading
Government debt securilies - 698,693 - 698,653
Quoled securilies 3,005 - - 3005
3,005 893,803 - 701,608
Financlal assets designated at fair value through profil or loss
Quoted invesiments 8373 - - 9,373
Unquoted invasimants - 7447 - 7447
Dabt securilies - - 25,134 25,134
9,373 7,447 25,134 41,854
Financial investmenis available-for-sale
Quoled investmenls 17,297 - - 17,297
Government debl securities - 4,926,365 - 4,926,365
Debl securilies - - 254,261 254,261
Ungquoted investments - 7.684 - 7.684
17,297 4,034,040 254,261 5,205,607
20,675 5,726,878 279,305 6,035,748
Financlal lfabilllles
Darlvative financial inatruments
Hedging Instruments
Cross curency and inlerest rate swaps - 1,783,503 - 1,783,503
- 1,783,503 - 4,783,503
Derivatives-other than hedging instruments
Foreign currency swaps and lorward contracts - 10,518 - 10,518
Inieresi rale swaps " 52,681 - 52,681
warrants - 693 - 693
Oplions “ 323 . 323
Crass currency swaps (non-hedging) - 4,262 - 4.262
- 71,385 - 71,385
- 4,854,888 - 1,054,888

The RON 38,894 thousand difference between the tolal fair value of available for sale assels in the table above and {he balance sheel amount
is due to the equity invesiments recorded al cost (Nole 19).
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34. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continued)

Group 2010
RCN Thousand Level 1 Level 2 Leval 3 Total

Financlal assets

Derivative financlal Instruments
Hedging instrumenls

Cross cumency and interes! rale swaps - 17,557 - 17,557
Inleresl rale swaps - 14,7565 - 14,755
- 32,312 - 32,312
Derivatives-other than hadging insiruments
Foraign currency swaps and lorward conlracts - 4,703 - 4,703
Warrants - 1170 . 1,170
Options - 5102 - 5,102
- 10,975 - 10,975
- 43,267 - 43,287
Financlal asseis held for trading
Government debt securilies - 965,749 - 965,749
Quoted securilies 1,195 - - 1,195
1,195 865,749 - 966,944
Financlal assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Quoled invesiments 10,389 - - 10,359
Debl securities - 7,611 23,963 31,574
10,389 7,611 23,963 41,963
Financial Investrments avallable-for-sale
Quoted inveslmenls 63,930 . - £3.930
Governmant debl securities - 3,644,931 - 3,644,931
Dabt securities - - 184,879 184,879
Unquoted invesiments - 7,445 - 7,446
53,930 3,652,377 184,879 3,901,186
75,514 4,669,025 208,842 4,953,381
Financlal liabllitles
Derivative financial instrurnents
Hedging instruments
Cross currency and interesl rale swaps . 1,726,250 - 1,726,250
Inlerest rate swaps - 26,524 - 26,524
- 1,752,774 - 1,752,774
Derivatives-olher than hedging Instruments
Foreign cumency swaps and lorward conracts - 2,788 - 2,788
Inlerest rale swaps - 11.744 - 11,744
Warmants - 180 - 180
Oplions - 6,014 - 6,014
Cross currency swaps (non-hedging) - 14,877 - 14 877
- 35,603 - 35,603
- 1,788,377 - 1,788,377

The RON 24,185 Lhousand difference between the tolal fair value of available lor sale assels in the (able above and the balance sheel amount
is due to the equity investments recorded al cost {Note 19).
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34. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Bank 2011
RON Thousand Lovel 1 Lavel 2 Level 3 Tolal
Financial assets
Derivatlve financlal instruments
Hedglng instrumenls
Cross currency and Interest rate swaps - 17,036 17,036
Interesl rale swaps - 13,660 13,660
- 30,696 30,696
Darivatives-other than hedging instruments
Foreign currency swaps and forward coniracls - 12,395 12,395
Interesl rale swaps - 36,172 - 38,172
Warranis 693 - 693
Options 4,062 - 4,062
Cross cumrency swaps (non-hedging} 1.018 - 1,018
54,340 - 54,340
- 85,036 - 85,036
Other financial asseis held for trading
Governmenl| debl securities - 698,693 - 698,693
Quoted securilies 3,005 - - 3,005
3,005 698,693 - 701,698
FInancial assets designated at falr velue through profit or loss
Quoled investments 9,373 - - 9,373
Unquoled investments - 7447 - 7,447
Debi securities - - 25,134 25134
9,373 7,447 25134 41,954
Financial Investments available-for-zale
Quoted investments 18,222 - - 19,222
Governmenl debt securilies - 4,894,419 - 4,894,419
Debl securities - - 254,261 254,261
19,222 4,094,419 254,261 5,167,902
31,600 5,685,595 279,395 5,996,590
Flnancial liabllilies
Derivatlve financial instruments
Hedglng instruments
Cross currency and inlerest rale swaps - 1,783,503 1,783,503
- 1,783,503 1,783,503
Derivatives-other than hadging Instruments
Foreign currency swaps and forward conlracts 10,518 - 10,518
Interest rate swaps - 52,681 - 52,681
Warmanls - 693 - 693
Options - 323 - 3,23
Cross currency swaps (non-hedging} - 4,262 - 4,262
- 71,385 - 71,385
- 1,854,888 - 1,654,888

The RON 990,819 thousand difference between the lotal fair value of available for sale assels in lhe table above and the balance sheet

amount is due to the equity investments recorded a cost (Note 19).
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34.  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continued)

Bank 2040
RON Thousand Level1 Level 2 Lovel 3 Total
Financlal assets
Derivative financlal Instrumenls
Hedging instruments
Cross currency and Interest rate swaps - 17.567 17,557
Interesl rate swaps - 14,765 - 14,7558
- 32,312 - 32,312
Darivatives-other than hedging instruments
Foreign currency swaps and forward conlracts - 4,682 - 4,682
Warrants - 1,170 - 1,170
Opfions 5,102 - 5,102
10,954 - 10,954
- 43,266 - 43,266
Other financial asseis held for trading
Govemmenl debl securiies - 965,749 - 965,749
Quated securilies 1,195 - - 1,195
1,195 965,749 - 966,944
Financlal assets deslgnated at falr vatue through profit or loss
Quoted investments 10,389 - - 10,389
Debl securilies - 7.611 23,963 N5
10,399 7,611 23,863 41,963
Financlal investments available-for-sale
Quoted investmenis 17.269 - - 17,269
Government debt securifies - 3,504,636 - 3,594,636
Debt securities - - 184,879 184 879
17,269 3,584,636 184,879 3,796,784
28,853 4,611,263 208,842 4,848,958
Financlal liabilities
Derivative financlal Instruments
Hedging instrumenis
Cross cumency and inferesi rate swaps - 1,726,250 - 1,726,250
Interest rate swaps - 26,524 - 26,524
- 1752774 - 1,752,774
Derivalives-other than hedging Instrumenls
Fareign cumrency swaps and forward confracts - 2,768 - 2,788
Inerest rate swaps 11,744 - 11,744
Warrants - 180 - 180
Qplions - 6,014 - 6,014
Cross currency swaps (non-hedging} - 14.877 - 14877
- 35,603 35,603
- 1,788,377 - 1,788,377

The RON 1,166,811 thousand difference between the lotal fair value of available for sale assels in the table above and the balance sheet

amount is due 1o the equity investments recorded at cost (Nole 19).
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3. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continued)

Movements in level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value

Group 2011
At1 Janua At 31
RON Thousand v Purchases Sales / Settlements December
2011
2011
Financial assets - AIS 184,879 79,084 (11,511) 252,452
Financial assels - FV 23,982 2,639 (1,687) 24,914
Total level 3 flnanclal assets 208,841 81,723 {13,198) 277,366
Group 2010
A1 Janua Total gains/{losses) Total AN
RON Thousand 2010 Y recordedin profit or  galns/{losses) Purchases Dacember
loss recorded in equity 2010
Financial assels - AfS 195,757 - {11.371) 493 164,879
Financial assels - FV 26,050 (2.088) - - 23,962
Total level 3 financial assets 221,807 (2,088) (11,371} 493 208,841
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35, ADDITIONAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash and cash equivalents

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2011 2010 2011 2010
‘Tash on hand (Noie 157 B7a, : ] g
Currenl account with the ceniral banks 9,448,116 8,550,279 9,420,702 8,484,986
Due from banks 1,042,495 1,668,283 912,518 1,416,093
11,367,429 11,213,078 11,203,289 10,684,616
Change In operating asaels
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2011 2010 2011 2010
Nat changa in dua from banks {45,740) (15,168} 54,197 (&7.177)
Net change in reverse repurchase agreementis - (15,687) - {15,687)
Financial assels hekl for trading [265,246) 565,593 (265,246) 565,593
Nei change in financial assats designaled at fair value (hrough profit or loss (9) (123,574) (9) (123,574}
Nel change in loans and advances lo cuslomers 2,570,353 995,327 3,724,909 2,950,626
Nel change in olher assets {1,170,073) 273,989 (1,187,440) 62,097
Nel change in assals heid for sals 163,234 (36.028) - (281)
1,272,519 1,644,452 2,326,411 3,391,587
Change In operating llabllitles
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2011 2010 2011 2010
Nel change in dus lo banks 1,619,633 2,201,445 1,631,070 2,751,493
Nel change in repurchase agresments (1.886) 1,886 (1.886) 1,886
Nel change in derivalive financial investmenls 33,623 (88.924) 34,954 (89,907)
Nel change in due lo customers 1,816,135 2,012,332 1,634,388 1,275,749
Net change i other liabilities (928,657) 490,801 (880.981) 424,445
2,538,748 4,696,540 2,618,445 4,161,666
Non-cash Items included In profit before tax
Group Bank
RON Thousand _ 2011 2010__ 2011 2010 _
Daprecialion and impaiment of property and equipment (Nola 20) 166,496 150,268 133,006 122,750
Daprecialion of investmeni propery 836 - - -
Amoriizalion and impairment of inlangible assets (Nota 21) BB,731 50,998 52,375 44,861
Impairment losses on kans and advances lo cusiomers {Note 9) 2,095,342 1,963,389 2,002,622 1,692,748
Provision for off-balance sheel exposurs (Nole 9) 82,522 34,269 82,740 34,269
Provision charge/{releasa} for litigations {(Note 30} 3. 24,303 246 20,053
Prowisions for lay-offs (Note 30) - 4,076 - 4,076
Provisions for reslrucluring {Note 30) 22534 21,227 22,534 -
Provision for dafined benefit obligation (Nole 31) 9,718 15,163 10,659 15,163
Impairment of available-for-sale invesiments {Note 11) 1,039 3,318 151,039 3379
Nel affecl of translalion of foreign currency denominaled assal and fiabilities (Note 7) 1,147 {29,355) 7,213 10,870}
2,470,196 2,237,727 2,462,494 1,926,429
Nat gain from investing actlviiles
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2011 2010 2011 2010
Net gain/{loss) from sale of financial invesimenis (Nole 8} 101,421 47,531 127,259 41,743
Net gain/(loss) from sale of property and equipmant (5,176) (27,086} (4,372) (46,498)
Dividend income {Nole 4) 6,284 2,950 12,772 131,706
102,539 23,395 235,659 126,951
Payments made against provisions
Group Bank
RON Thousand 2011 2010 2011 2010
Provision for ratirement benefils (Nole 31) 2,346 3,194 2,345 4,271
Provision for [ay-oif and early retirament (Note 30) 4,076 6,693 4,076 6,693
Provision for restructuring 20,947 7,808 - -
Provision [or litigations and guaranteas off-balance sheat {Nole 30) 25,597 2,694 24,739 2,582
52,866 20,389 31,161 13,546
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36. INTEREST RATE SENSITIVITY

The table below analyses the Bank’s interest rale risk exposure on non-trading financial assets and liabiliies. The Bank's assets and liabililies
are included al camying amount and categorised by the eariier of contractual re-pricing or malurity dates.
The interest rate risk within the Group is mainly concentrated in the Bank's activity.

Bank 2011
lessthenl 1lo3months 3lg6months  6to12  Overlvear Notsensitive Total

RON Thousand month montls
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 9,418,584 . . g1 10,290,711
Due from banks 699,060 1,75 69,541 - - 1,006,357
Loans and advances o customers 16,330,075 16752433 7486241 653,747 3900246 1769692  46,99043
Financial investmens - available-for- sale B68751 1,463,884 981,762 1448819 677043 917,562 6,158,721
Financial invesiments ~ held-lo- maturity - - - 530000 BATTR4D 147968 7,165,608
Total assets 2146460 18254073  B537 544 2632566 11153829 3707399  T1,601.8H
Liabilities
Due to banks 11847680 5687090  2,378365 18,150 473252 37567 20,7421413
Due o cuslomers 1324733 13305576 3395551 2825350 587421 207332 38942762
Deb! issued and other borrowed funds - - 20,000 93212 426M 1,000,889
Subordinated Liabilties 1,330,000 518,364 . - - 1763 2,024,690
Total liabilities 26412420 190511,0%0 5773916 2963509  7.285675 763902 62,7045
Net 904,058 (1.256957) 2,763,628 ) 3868154 243407 8,801,437
Bank 2010

less thenl  1tod e 6t012  Overl Not Total
RON Thousand month months months  months year  sensitive
Assats
Cash and balances with central banks £,484,985 - - - - 983,537 9,468,523
Due fom banks 1,303,743 31,992 30,000 - - - 1,485,735
Loans and advances Lo customers 15,017,117 17,208,135 7,233,666 2,180,049 3,520,851 - 45,160,818
Financial imesiments - available-for- sale 483,791 41,23 B57.351 14456568 728831 1,006,721 4,963,595
Financial invesiments - held-to- maturity - - - 300,000 4,698,420 - 4,998,420
Tolal assels 25,379,637 17,882,360 8,921,017 3,925,747 8,848,102 1,090,258 56,047,091
Liabllities
Due to banks 11,384,592 4,822,756 1,718,518 216,756 759,691 - 18,902,313
Due lo cuslomers 11,730,635 15859883 3,862,963 2,083,379 3,750,286 . 37,287,146
Deb issued and other borowed funds - 192,046 16,774 - 429,357 - 638,177
Subondinaled Liabililies 1,330,000 514,176 - - 123141 - 1,967 317
Total liabillies 24445227 21,388,861 5,508,255 2,300,135 5,062,475 - 58,794,953
Nat 934,410  (3,706,501) 2,522,762 1,825,562 3,685.627 1,090,258 7,252,138
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37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

Group Bank
RON Thousand - N 200 2071 2010
Conlingent liabilities 5,225,115 3,681,801 5,213,684 3492579
Commiiments 4,551,256 3552134 4,543,514 3,416,989

9,776,311 7,233,935 6,757,198 6,809,568

Contingent liabilities
The Group issues lefters of credit, guaraniees (including slandby letters of credit) and commits io make paymenls on behalf of customers in the
event of a specific act, generally relaled lo the import or export of goods.

Undrawn loan commitments

Undrawn loan commitmenls represent contractual commitments to grani loans and revolving credits. Commitments generally have fixed expiry
dales, or olher termination clauses. Since commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the folal contract amounts do not necessarily
represenl fulure cash requirements.

However, the polential credil loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commilments to exiend credit are conlingenl uniil the
customers maintain specific siandards. The Group monitors the malurity of credit commitmenis as longer-term commitmenls generally have a
greater degree of credit risk than sharier-term commitments.

Legal claims

Litigation is a common occurence in the banking industry due lo the nature of the business. The Group has an established protocol for dealing
wilh such legal claims. Once professional advice has been obtained and the amount of damages reasonably estimaled, the Group makes
adjustments to account for any adverse effiects which the claims may have on s financial standing. The Group has several unresolved legal
claims for which the provisions were made in accordance with 1AS 37 requirements in amount of RON 56,335 thousand as at 31 December
2011 {31 December 2010: RON 58,244 thousand) for the Bank, and in amounl of RON 84,134 thousand (31 December 2010: RON 63,287
thousand) for the Group {Note 30).

Operating lease commitments -as lessee
The Group has entered into commercial leases on premises and equipment. These leases have an average life of between one and five years
wilh renewal option included in (he contracls. There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases.

Future minimum lease payments under non—cancellable operating leases as at 31 December 2011 are as lollows:

Grou Bank
RON Thousand !ﬁﬁ LK

nct later than one year 70,668 69,137
later than one year and nol later than five year 233,355 230,136
later than five years 7,615 7,615

311,628 306,888
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38, RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Parties are considered o be relaled if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant infiuence over the other parfy in
making financial or operalional decisions. In considering each possible related party relalionship, attention is directed to the substance of the
relationship, nol merely the legal form,

The nature of the related party relationships for those relaled parties with wham the Group entered inio significant ransactions or had significant
bafances outslanding at 31 December 2010 are delailed below. Transactions were enfered info with related parties during the course of
business at markef rates.

Transactions with shareholders

The following iransactions were carried out wilh its shareholders, Ersle Group Bank CEPS Holding GmbH, SIF Banat-Crisana SA, SIF Moldova
SA, SIF Muntenia SA, SIF Oltenia SA, SIF Transilvania SA, at market rates.

Group Bank
RON Thousand 201 2010 201 20
Assets
Due from banks 120,044 21,12 100,224 165,786
Financial assets designaled al fair value through profil or loss 8,069 10,390 8,069 10,380
Investments securities available-for-sale 11,641 17,260 11,641 17,269
Denvaiive financial insiruments 48,330 36,389 46,879 36,389
Other assels 44,488 B 44,488 3
Total assols ir Ao 337,168 21130 729,657
Liabilities
Deposils from cuslomers 2,204,723 91,744 - 91,744
Loans from banks and other financial insblutions 18,166,703 19,179,669 18,095,332 16,320,448
Derivalive financial inslruments 1,851,069 1,753,634 1,851,069 1,753,634
Subordinated liabililes 1,849,672 1,844,176 1,849,672 1,844,176
Cher habilities 268,659 433,190 268,659 422,992
Total liabilities IR 02413 22064732 20432098
Guaranlees granted 772,886 948,677 772,886 948,677
Income
Interesl and dvdend income 589,109 B67,168 588,895 B67,090
Commission income 21,623 42315 21,158 42315
Other aperaling income 25318 - _25.313 -
Total income BI6,050 909,501 635,301 509,405
Expense
Inieres! expense 1,334,549 1,442,884 1,268,313 1,285,742
Commissian expense 100,270 223,774 100,251 221,990
Nel rading expense 328,634 150,887 326,634 150,887
Other 597 56,427 584 53325
Total expense 1,764,050 1813072 1,607,102 1711004
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38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

Transactions with fellow subsidiaries members of Erste Group:

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2011 2010 2011 2010
Assals
Due from banks 2,551 20,243 2,551 20,243
Loans and advances 10 cuslomers 40,811 - 40,811 -
Total 43,362 20,243 43,362 20,243
Liabllities
Deposits from banks 219,340 475,049 219,240 475,049
Loans from banks and other financial institutions - 42,620 - 42,620
Due lo cuslomers 29,442 230,640 20,442 230,640
Olher liabilities - 1,591 - 1,591
Total 248,762 749,800 248,782 749,900
Income
Interest income 600 28 600 28
Commigsion income 19,898 14,508 19,898 14,508
Total income 20,498 14,537 20,498 14,537
Expense -
Inleres expense 5,262 1,012 5,282 1,012
Other operaling expanses 78,383 29,119 72197 29,119
Total expense 83,665 30,131 77478 30,131
Transaciions with management

The Group entered inlo a number of banking lransactions with the management in the nomal course of business.

Key managemenl personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, direcling and controlling the activiies of the
Group. This includes the members of the Supervisory Board, Executive Commitlee and Asset/Liability Management Committee of the Bank,

These Iransactions were carried oul on commercial terms and conditions and al markel rates. The following transaclions were carried out with
the management;

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2011 2010 2011 2010
Assals
Loans and acvances lo cuslomers 1,828 1,852 1,028 1.852
Other assels - 5 - 5
Total 1,828 1,857 1,828 1,857
Liabllitias
Deposils from cuslomers 4,384 6,196 4,384 6.196
Olher liabilities - 76 - 76
Total 4,384 8,272 4,384 6,272
Income
Inlerest and commission income 103 124 103 124
Total income 103 124 103 124
Expenss
Inleresi and olhar expenses 215 191 215 191
Total expanse 215 101 215 191
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36. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES {continued)
Transactions with subsidiaries
The Bank holds investmenls in subsidiaries with whom it entered into a number of banking transaclions in lhe normal course of business. These

transaclions were caried out on commercial ferms and conditions and al market rates. The following lransaclions were carmied oul with
subsidiaries:

Bank
RON Thousand T 2010
Assats
Due from banks 58,312 39,364
Loans and advances to customers 1.457,048 1,282,084
Othar assels 1,584 4,041
Total Ilg Ialm Ilgzgiug
Liabilities
Deposils to banks 50,661 40,780
Deposils from cuslomers 338,314 286,718
Other liabililies and provisions 10,332 20,755
Total 358,307 0,258
Income
Inlerast income 123,684 38,958
Commission incoma 14,226 13,228
Othar income - -
Total income 137,910 EL
Expense
[nterest expense 16,221 11,199
Commission axpansa - 8
Other operalin expenses 232,908 227,353
Total expense pLCR ] 798,500




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

39. RISK MANAGEMENT
39.1 Introduction

Risks are managed Ihrough a process of ongoing identification, measuremenl and monitoring, subject (o risk limits, approval aulhorities
{pouvoirs), separalion of responsibiliies and other conlrols. The Bank is exposed lo credit risk, fiquidity risk and markel risk, as well as o
operational risk.

Consislency in risk management is ensured through an integrated and methodologically coherent approach 1o all risks, along with regular
monitoring hal enables risk management to proaciively manage their own porffolios and, when necessary, take imely comective actions.

3%.2 Risk managament structure and responsibilities

Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board approves and reviews the Bank's risk profile and the Bank's strategy in respect of risk managemen.
The Risk Committea of the Supervisory Board

The Risk Commitiee of the Supervisory Board is responsible for approval of the implementalion of the main lending and risk policies,
procedures and intemal rules, approval of the delegation of the credil authorities (pouvoirs), as well as approval of the implementation of the
Management Board's approvals for granting loans with a value exceeding the credit authorities delegated.

Management Board

The Managemenl Board is responsible for lhe implementalion of the risk sirategies approved by the Supervisory Board, the mainlenance of a
proper risk exposure reporting, as well as the maintenance of the risk limits, including for crisis situation.

Operational Risk Committee

The main responsibilities of the Operalional Risk Commitiee are:
a) Pre-approves the operational risk and compliance policies, procedures and processes;
b) Sel-up the bank's operalional risk appetile given the existing intemal and extemal control standards;
c)  Analyze the major issues and trends that may influence lhe Bank's operational risk profile;
d} Informs regularty the Management Board on the Bank's operalional risk profile developmenls;
e}  Fallow-up on the action points agreed lo mitigate operalional or compliance risks (NBR reporis, intemal/Extemal audil reviews, Risk
Assessments, Compliance Assessmenls, Fraud reports, Key Risk Indicalors or major incidenls reporied);
f)  Analyze the risks entailed by new products andfor business;
g) Reviews the main risk reports covering the operational and compliance risk lopics;
h)  Enforces the development, mainlenance and festing of the Business Confinuity Plan.

Risks Functional Line

Risk management aclivities are consolidaied under the Risks Functional Line, which consisls of six divisions: Refail Risk Managemen,
Corporaie Risk Management, Risk Controlling, Antifraud, IT Security and Business Conlinuity Managemenl, Compliance.

Intemal Audit
Risk Managemen! processes lhroughout the Bank is audited annually by the intemal audit function, that examines both the adequacy of the

procedures and ihe Bank's compiance with the procedures. Intemal Audit discusses the results of all assessments with management, and
reports ifs findings and recommendations lo (he Audit and Compliance Commitiee.

69



BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

39. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

39.3 Risk Management activities

In order to manage the risks thal could affect its activity and financial performance, he Bank undertakes the necessary sleps lo idenlify the risk
sources, to assess and monitor the Bank's exposures, to set up risk limits for different counlerparties such as counlries, sovereigns, banks,
financial institutions affilialed to the banking groups, corporate customers/groups of clients (including risk limits for banking groups of affilialed
customers), markel risk limits, liquidity limits, eic.

The significant risks are identified and assessed for the whole Bank at all crganizational levels, for all the Bank (ransaciions and aclivifies.

In order lo have an appropriaie management of the significant risks, the Bank uses:

» a system of procedures for transactions authorization, which consists of competences / authority limits (pouvoirs) for granting loans and
other related credit products;

» a system for setting up risk limits in compliance with Lhe Bank's global risk profile, capilal adequacy, liguidity, loan portfolio quality etc;
+ a sysiem of reporting the risk exposure and the other issues / aspects related lo risks;

* a system of procedures for unexpected situations/crisis regarding significant risks, including measures necessary lo be undertaken by
the Bank;

» a system of procedures that prevents an inadequate information usage, in order to avoid the Bank's reputalion damage, the disclosure
of secret and confidential information and the usage of information for the siaffs personal benefits;

» staff recruitment and salaries criteria, which presume high standards in respect of qualification, experlise and inlegrity;
» staff training programs.

The Bank undertakes the necessary steps in order to ensure and maintain an adequate informalion syslem for the identification, measurement,
monitoring and reporting of the significant risks, for Lhe whole Bank and for each department or business unit.

The Bank sels up an appropriate separation of responsibilities for all the Bank's organizational fevels in order o avoid the conflict of inlerest
in front office, risk management and back office activilies.

39.4 Integration into the Erste Group standards

In 2011 BCR has conltinued to implement the necessary measures for its alignment to the standards of the Ersle Group and the Basel |l
principles, (managed under a special program}.

»  ICAAP implemented as per Ersle Group standards i.e.:
o Instruments for analyzing, moniloring & forecasting capital adequacy
o New risk management policies, covering Risk-bearing Capacity Calculation, Risk Materiality Assessment, Slress Testing,
Credit, Concentration, Operational risks etc.
o Improving of the integration into the EGB dala (data quality, processing and delivery), ceniralized RWA calculalion based
on IRB for ICAAP purposes;
+  Improving the Rating System performance and Basel Il risk paramelers measurement (PD, LGD, CCF};
»  Implementing and reporting the new standards for liuidity risk management: Survival Period Analysis, Traffic Lighl System, elc

The implementation of these standards presupposes the consolidation of the management of corporate and retail credil risks, markel risks,
operalional risks, country and banking risks, as well as ihe assessmenl of collalerals and workout, aniifraud etc. under the Risk Functional Line.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Under these terms, risk managemenl specialists are clearly delimited from an organizational poinl of view from the personnel with
responsibilities in he business development field. This clear-cut delimitation from the Front Office area represents the fundamenl for the
implementalion of the group principle conceming the two votes necessary for Lhe approval of exposures lowards the clients (1st vote is granted
by the Front Office personnel, whereas the 2nd vote is granted by the risk management personnel); the pouvoirs system is implemented for
these purposes.

The main objectives of these risk management group standards are two: supporling business lines to reach lheir projecled business largets by
ensuring (he taking of quick and efficient crediting decisions and protecting the Bank against banking risks using advanced risk management
methods and principles.

39.5 Credit risks

Credil risk is ihe risk of financial loss arising from Lhe failure of a debtor or trading counterparty to fully honor its financial or coniractual obligation
to the Bank.
Credit risk is inherent in the following forms: lending facililies, conlingent liabiliies, commitmen! liabililies and financial markels transactions.

Country risk is the risk that the Bank can suffer, in any given counlry, due to nationaiizaion, expropriation of assels, govemmenl repudiation of
indebledness el¢. and sefllement risk being the risk that the setllement or clearance of fransactions will fail

In respeci of credit risk, risk limits are set up for diflerent segments of customers: banks, counlries, sovereigns, financial institutions affiiated lo
banking groups, facloring companies, corporate clients/groups. The Bank sel up approval compelences (pouvoirs) for each type of
customers/groups of customers (comporate, retail, banks elc.), which is the maximum limii for the approval of loans and ather credit type

products.

The Bank granls loans lo the comorale cuslomers thal can generate appropriale cash-flows, with a good reputation in the business
envionment, thal have a proper credit rating and to the retail customers which have slable incomes and are Lustworthy as regards the
fulfilment of the conlract obligations lowards the Bank.

In the loans approval process the Bank is mainly interested in the first credit repayment source, lhe customer's capacity to generate cash-flows
(for corporale customers) and to gain stable incomes (for retaif customers).

In order (o assess the performances and financial slatus of its customers, the Bank uses scoring systems, ratings, methods of analyzing (he
financial perfommances { KRIMI for corporale and retail, CARLA for banks and financial instilutions affiliated 1o lhe banking groups).

In order to avoid the concentration of credil risk on a small number of clienis, the Bank monitors the dispersion of credil risk fowards client
calegories, branches, geographical regions, activity sectors and banking products.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

39.5 Credit risks (continued)

39.51. Maximum credit exposure without taking into account any collateral or other credit enhancements

Group Bank
RON Thousand 2011 2010 097 2010
Assals
Cash and balances with cenlral bank (excluding cash on hand) 9,448,116 8,550,279 9,420,702 8,484,986
Due from banks 1,100,210 1,771,738 1,006,357 1,455,735
Denvative financial instruments 86,487 43,287 85,036 43,266
Financial assets held for rading 701,699 966,944 701,698 966,944
Financlal assets designated at fair value through profl or loss 41,954 41,963 41,954 41,963
Loans and advances to cuslomers /* 47,803,525 47,393,687 45,990,434 45,160,818
Financial invesiments — available-for-sale 5,244,501 3,925,371 6,158,721 4,963,595
Financial invesimenls - held-lo-matunty 8,011,821 5,442,218 7,155,608 4,998,420
Other assels 968,983 2,087,622 497,042 1,684,482
Toial 73,507,255 78,223,100 72,057,552 67,800,200
Contingent liabilities 5,225,115 3,681,801 5,213,684 3,492,579
Commitments 4,551,256 3552134 4,543,514 3,416,989
Total T ORI 129305 515198 609,508

Total credif risk exposure 53,183,606 UL EI,E“JSU 12,705,117

1 nel loans = loans - credit provisions

3952, Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk

The maximur credit exposure to a client as of 31 December 2011 was RON 849,747 thousand (31 December 2010: RON 843,160 thousand).

3953, Risk concentration of the maximum credit exposure by geographical regions

Financial assets, before taking into account any collateral held or olher credit enhancements are distributed by the following geographical
regions :

'RON Thousand Group Bank
2010 UG 010
Europe B3.171067 77195873  B1802151 74,656,159
Uniled Kingdom and Ireland 662 218,856 662 48,015
Netherlands 4,745 21,485 4,745 153
North America 6,561 7421 6,561 4,076
Asia 300 12,926 ano 891
Auslralia and Oceania 331 483 i 483
TOTAL {1 ¥ L] [} ¥ L] L] L)
where:

Europe: Austria, Croalia, Czech Rep., Denmark, Greece, Hungary, Moldova, Poland, Romania, Slovenia, Sweden
Switzerland, Spain, Portugal, Belgium, Norway, France, Germany, ltaly, Ukraine

North America: USA, Canada

Asia; Azerbaidjan, South Korea, Saudi Arabia, Turkey, Russian Federation, Kazakhstan, India
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
395 Credit risks {continued)

3954  Credit exposure by economic sectors

An industry analysis of lhe financial assels, before and afler taking into account collaterals hetd or other credit enhancements, is as follows:

Group Total Exposure
RON Thousand 2011 2010
Gross Net maximum Gross Net maximum

maximum exposure™ maximum exposure™

exposure exposurg*
Private households 19,733,727 6,031,608 19,016,030 6,213,316
Banking and insurance 1,719540 11,129,450 11,204,986 10,629,913
Manutacturing 9,713,035 3,111,072 9,224,812 2,750,537
Construcion 7,960,576 3,012,539 6,286,554 1,244,703
Public administration 19,971,402 14,531,619 17,711,344 12,600,708
Trade 4,787,377 1,241,720 4,595,988 858,174
Transport and communication 2,397,533 1,217,769 1,459,559 148 415
Agricutture and forestry 1,683,391 424518 1,624,800 316,651
Olher service activities 706,078 147,401 834,639 145,666
Health and social work 220,513 103,977 159,631 18,454
Real eslale and other business activities 850,103 14,563 813,945 116
Energy and waler supply 1,795,798 1,109,191 1,243,835 743,355
Hotels and restauranls 466,278 36,949 530,872 40,707
Mining 620,063 369,015 666,060 577,279
Qther 558,252 551,270 2,083,599 2,074,370
TOTAL AL T X L A L S . 8
Bank Total Exposure
RON Thousand 201 2010

Gross Net maximum Gross Net maximum

maximum  exposure™  maximum exposure"

sxposure” axposure”
Privale households 18,785,111 8,174,679 17,932,365 6,575,754
Banking and insurance 12,703,406 11,985,119 11,789,926 11,046,443
Manufacturing 9,475,408 3,188,718 8,656,523 2,567,990
Construction 7,750,744 3,121,603 5877739 1,164,977
Public administration 19,096,255 13,657,586 17,145,956 12,036,623
Trade 4,539,680 1,347,381 4,083,163 791,317
Transpor and communication 2,159,724 1,247,158 1,563,022 334,297
Agriculture and forestry 1,617,934 448,091 952,347 124,509
Other service aclivities 508,813 178,779 1,083,078 549,788

Health and social work

Real estate and ather business aclivilies
Energy and waler supply

Holels and reslaurants

Mining

Other

TOTAL

* Gross maximum exposure is exposure less provisions.

191,867 104,801 119,940 17,447
2,128,692 254,259 1,743,874 12317
1,768,820 1,113,503 1,200,482 717,950

410,559 41,824 457,384 42,944
599,649 364,188 558,202 491,852
38,088 31,997 1,545,886 1,538,048

81,064,750 43,250,606 TI00.777 38,123,056

** Net maximum exposure is exposure less provisions and coliaterals, i.e. gross maximum exposure less

collaterals.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

395  Credit risks {continued)

39.54. Credit exposure by economic sectors (Continued)

Collateral and other credit enhancements

Guidelines are implemenied regarding the acceptability of types of collaieral and valuation paramelers.

The main types of collaleral accepted by Lhe Bank are as follows:
s forcommercial lending: charges over real estate properties, inventory and trade receivables;
s forretail lending: mortgages over residential properlies,
« forreal estate lending: mortgage on land and existing constructions and real movable collateral on shares or social parts (in case of
loans for the real estate projects unrolled by the specialized companies wilhin real eslate projects/especial founded for the unrolling
for these projects);

The Bank monitors the markel value of collaleral and requests additional callateral in accordance with the underfying agreement.

3955  Credit quality per class of financial assets
In 2014, the Group updaled the criteria used to map the risk grades into four different risk caiegories as follows:

Low risk - Clients with intemal ralings befween 1 - 5¢ for legal entities and between A - B2 for private individuals;

Management afteniion - Clients with inemal ralings befween 6a - 7 for legal entilies, C, C1, C2 and D1 for private individuals and
non-rated clienls;

Sub-standard - Clients with infemal rating 8 for legal entilies and O & D2 for private individuals

- Non-performing - non-performing conlaminated exposure {i.e. loans and off balance items such as: guarantees and unused
commilments), based on the more than 90 days overdue criterion for retail clients, and for corporate driven by the Basel |l defaull definilion.

In 2010, in order to assess the credit quality of financial assets, the Group used the following criteria:

The classfficalion of the portiolio in order to assess the quality is as follows:
Low risk - Clients which have a debt service between 0 and 15 days and financial performance A {based on ratings)

- Management atiention ~ Clients which have a debt service between 0 — 15 days and financial performance B or a debt service
belween 16 - 30 days and financial performance A

Sub-standard - Clients which have a debl service between 0 - 15 days and financial performance C or D or E or a debt service
between 16 - 30 days and financial performance B or C or D or E or a debt service between 31-80 days and financial performance A orBorC

orDorE

Non-performing loans (coniaminated exposure) - Clients which have a debt service over 90 days.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

39.5 Credit risks {continued)

39.55.  Credit quality per class of financial assets (Continued)

Group 2011
Management  Sub- Non-
RON Thousand LowRisk  attention  standard performing  Total
Due from banks 933,296 166,914 - 1,100,210
Financial assets designaied at fair value through profit or loss 7447 34,508 41,955
Trading Assets
Treasury bills 698,693 - 698,693
Lisled bonds 1,887 1,118 3,005
700,579 1,118 701,698
Loans and advances to customers”
Camporate lending 16,212,952 13922012 1576535 6942688 38,654,186
Small business lending (Micros) 1,027,816 498051 234314 1629098 3,389,280
Consumer lending 5,526,170 3448490 648,968 1,167,671 10,791,299
Residential morigages 4,773,584 2918479 876,180 1715939 10,284,192
Other 203877 - - - 03877
27744400 20787032 3,336,006 11,455,396 63,322,834
Financial investments - available for sale
Treasury bills 4,926,365 - 4,926,365
Listed equilies and bons 124 477 152,413 2302 279191
Nonisled invesiments - 38,944 30,044
5,050,842 191,357 2,302 5,244,501
Financial investments - held to maturity
Treasury bills 100,963 100,963
Listed debt securities 6,151,343 6,151,343
Unlisted bonds 1,758,516 1,759,516
8,011,821 8,011,841
Total 42,448,386 21,480,929 3,336,006 11,457,698 78,423,020

*|_oans and advances to cusiomers and off balance items (i.e. contingent liabilities such as commitied credit lines and guaraniees).
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

395 Credit risks (continued)

39.55.  Credit quality per class of financial assets (Continued)

Group 2010
Management  Sub- Non-
RON Thousand LowRisk  attention  siandard performing  Total
Due from banks 916,469 318,535 31,049 5685 1,771,738
Financial assets designated at fair value through prefit or loss 23,963 18,000 41,963
Trading Asseis
Treasury bills 956,773 - 956,773
Lisled bonds 9,676 435 10171
966,449 495 966,944
Loans and advances fo customers*
Corporale lending 11830927 11648469 7063344 4456972 35008712
Small business lending {Micros) 403,541 802,260 1,016536 1245643 3,467,980
Consumer lending 6,633,664 833830 876,504 1457619 9,801,617
Residential morigages 7,199.317 665075 711,366 1878285 11,054,543
Ofher 201,463 53 47844 20 249.380
26876412 13949687 971554 9,038,539 59,582,232
Financial investments - available for sale
Treasury bills 2,959,962 - . 2,959,962
Listed equilies and bons 920,552 17,21 3401 941,224
Non-lisled investments - 24,185 - 24,185
3,880,514 41,456 3401 3,925,311
Financial investments - held to maturity
Treasury bills 6,769 6,769
Listed debl securities 5,422,986 5,422,986
Unlisted bonds 12,463 12,463
5,442,218 5,442,218
Total 14828473 9,750,044 9044224 71,730,466

38,108,025

* Loans and advances to customers and off balance items {i.e. contingent liabilities such as commitied credit lines and guarantees).
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)
395  Credit risks (continued)
39.5.5. Credit quality per class of financial assets (continued)

The credil quality of financial assets is managed by the Bank using inlemal credit ratings. The lable below shows the credit quality by class of
assels:

Bank 2011
Management  Sub- Non-
RON Thousand LowRisk  attention  standard performing  Total
Due from banks 851,300 155,057 . - 1,006,357
Financial assets designated a fair value through profit or loss 1,441 34,507 . . 41,954
Trading Assels
Treasury bills 698,693 . - - £98,693
Listed bonds 1,487 1,118 - - 3,005
700,579 1,118 - - 701,698
Loans and advances to customers*
Corporale lending 16,400,430 14672031 1465946 6293054 38,831,461
Small business lending (Micros) 690,375 426527 195642 1024784 2,337,328
Consumer lending 3,734,294 2,086,265 443,342 788,509 7,054,410
Residential morigages 5,493,355 4262548 1,077,228 777,300 12,610,431
Other 203173 203,173

2521627 21,449,371 3182158 8,883,647 61,036,803

Financial investments - available for sale

Treasury bills 4,894 420 . - 4,894 420
Lisied equilies and bons 124477 146,704 - 2302 273483
Norlisted investmenls 480,569 560,249 - - 1040818
5,499,466 706,953 - 2,302 6,208,721

Financial investments - held to maturity
Listed debl securities 5,409,481 . - - 5400481
Unlisted bonds 1,746,127 - - - 1,7460127
7,155,608 - . - 7,155,608
Total 41,736,028 22347007 3182,158  B8,885349 76,151,141

* |.oans and advances to cuslomers and undrawn credit and loans commilments, promissory notes and guaranteesfliabilities out of assets
pledged as collaleral security.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39.5 Credit risks (continued)

3955  Credit quality per class of financial assets (Continued)

Bank 2010
Management  Sub- Non-
RON Thousand LowRisk  aftention  standard performing  Tolal
Due from banks 638,345 817,390 - - 1455735
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 23,963 18,000 - . 41,963
Trading Assets
Treasury bills 956,773 - - - 956,773
Listed bonds 9,676 495 - - 10,171
966,449 495 - - 966,944
Loans and advances to customers*
Corporale lending 11430329 12,050,278 6,548,549 3,760,204 33,789,450
Small business lending (Micros) 101,222 723545 665,689 816,486 2,306,942
Consumer lending 6,542,195 826605 869,349 1,327,039 9,565,188
Residential morigages 7,784,616 57694 710,802 614,308 9,767,420
Other 197,504 197,804

26,056,266  14,258122 8,794,389 6,518,127 55,626,904

Financial investments - available for sale

Treasury bills 2,866,408 - . - 2,866,408
Lisled equilies and bans 913,107 17,269 - - 930,376
Non-isted investmenls 796,888 369,923 - - 1,166,811
4,576,403 387,492 - - 4,963,595

Financial investments - held to maturity
Lisled debt securilies 4,998,420 - - - 4998420
4,998,420 . . - 4998420
Total 37259846 15481499 8794389 6,518,127 68,053,561

* Loans and advances to customers and undrawn credit and loans commitments, promissory noles and guaranlees/liabilities oul of assets
pledged as collateral security.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

39.5 Credit risks (continued)
39.56.  Loan Porffolio on time bands
The Bank exposure from loans on time bands, RON equivalent, as at 31 December 2011:
2011
RON Thousand TOTAL Exposure contaminated with the debt service
NPL (more  NPL*/Total
LOANS 1-30 days 31- 90 days than 90 days) loans
% in
% In Total Total
Amount % Amount loans Amount loans Amount %
I, Corporate clients,
-6Le* 5,258,754 176 497,878 2210 228,524 43
-LC* 7,687,951 257 545,409 89,900 1,582,153 206
- Public Sector 542,086 18 658 - . 0.0
- SME* 8,839,622 285 533,862 781,417 2,828,711 320
- Municipallies 4,515,779 151 170 - - 0.0
- Real estate 3,069,772 10.2 224 669 99,257 925,899 303
- ALM* 43,003 0.1 - - - 0.0
1.Total Corporate loans, 29,957 067 100 1,802,646 6.0 972,784 3.2 5,569,287 16.6
Il. Retall clients
- Individuals 18,023,893 895 1,629,857 725,325 1,564,566 8.3
- Micro 2,228,508 10.5 139,667 98,850 1,024,329 46.0
1l.Total Retall loans, 21,152,401 100.0 1,769,524 8.4 824,175 a9 2,588,895 12.2
Total loans {141} 51,109,468 100.0 3,572,170 70 1,796,959 3.5 8,158,182 16.0

*) GLC - Group Large Corporates; LC - Large Corporates; SME - Small and medium enterprises; ALM -Assets and liabilifies

managemenl; NPL — Non-performing loans.

The Bank exposure from loans on time bands, RON equivalent, as at 31 December 2010:

2010
RON Thousand TOTAL Exposure contaminated with the debt service
NPL*{more  NPL*/Tolal
LOANS 1 - 30 days 31- 90 days than 90 days) loans
% in
% in Total Total
Amount % Amount loans Amount  loang Amount %
1. Corporate clients,
-GLC* 4,039,460 148 - 2,498 151,406 37
-LC* 6,527,505 235 779,076 353,483 629,047 9.6
- Public Sector 217,215 08 - - . 08
- SME* 8,096,706 292 456,556 667,969 2,136,329 26.4
« Municipalilies 4,364,987 15.7 14,969 3,218 14,604 0.3
- Real eslale 2,870,850 103 104,495 - 550,039 19.2
- ALM* 1,628,145 58 - - - 0.0
. Corporate clients, out of which: 27,744,868 100 1,355,096 49 1,027,168 3.7 3,481,425 12.5
II. Retail clients
Individuaks 18,666,298 895 1,570,682 813,293 1,940,962 104
Micra 2,186 801 105 147 691 134,603 815,739 371
1I. Retall loans, out of which: 20,862,899 1000 1,718,373 8.2 947,896 4.5 2,756,701 13.2
Total loans {4} 48,607,767 100,0 3,673,469 63 1,975,064 4.1 6,236,124 12.8

*} GLC - Group Large Corporales; LC - Large Corporales, SME - Small and medium enterprises; ALM -Assels and liabilities

management; NPL — Non-performing loans.
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39, RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39.5 Credit risks (continued)
3957  Impairment assessment

The main consideralions for the loan impairment assessmenl include whether any payments of principal or interest are overdue by more than
90 days or there are any known difficullies in the cash fiows of counterparlies, credit rating downgrades, or infringement of the original terms of
the conlracl. The Bank addresses impaimenl assessment in wo areas: individually assessed allowances and colleclively assessed
allowances.

Individually assessed allowances

The Bank determines the allowances appropriale for each individually significant loan or advance on an individual basis. ltems considered when
determining allowance amounls include the sustainability of the counterparty’s business plan, its ability fo improve performance once a financial
difficutty has arisen, projected receipls and lhe expected dividend payout should bankruptcy ensue, the availability of other financial support and
ihe realisable value of collateral, and the timing of the expected cash flows. The impaimment losses are evalualed at each reporting date, unless
unforeseen circumslances require more careful atteniion.

Collectively assessed allowances

Allowances are assessed collectively for losses on loans and advances that are not individually significant (including credit cards, residential
martgages and unsecured consumer lending) and for individually significant loans and advances where there is nol yel objective evidence of
individual impafrment. Allowances are evaluated on each reporting date with each portiolio receiving a separate review.

The collective assessment takes account of impairment thal is likely fo be present in the portfolio even though there is not yel objective
evidence of the impaimenl in an individual assessmenl. Impaimmenl losses are eslimated by laking into consideration of the following
information: hislorical losses on the portiolio, current economic conditions, the approximate delay between the lime a loss s likely to have been
incurred and the fime it will be identified as requiring an individually assessed impaimnent allowance, and expected receipts and recoveries once
impaired. Local management is responsible for deciding the length of this period which can extend for as long as one year. The impaimenl
allowance is then reviewed by credit management o ensure alignment wiih the Bank's overall policy.

Financial quaraniees and letters of credit are assessed and provision made in a similar manner as for loans.




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

39, RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39,6, Liquidity risk

39.6.1 Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk arises from the potential inability to meet all payments obligalions when they come due. The Bank manages the liquidity risk with
ihe purpose of maintaining an adequate liquidity, so as to cover at all imes its financial commitments on all lime bands, as well as lo maximize
the net inlerest income.

The Bank pays careful attention to liquidity risk management by setting fundamenial objeclives such as ensuring the necessary funds fo cover,
at any time, all financial obligations assumed by the Bank, and setting an appropriale balance sheel structure, for minimizing any polentially
negalive effects. In this respect, the Bank concentrates its efforis on identifying the liquidity risk sources, evalualing its risk exposures and
sefting appropriate limits fo mitigale the possible consequences of liquidity risk.

The Bank assesses its liquidity by:
s+ Analyzing the slructure of assels, in terms of their liquidity and marketability;
«  Analyzing liabililies (in terms of their volatility) and off-balance sheet elements {implying polential insfouts of funds);
«  Analyzing main cumencies liquidity, both individually and aggregaled.

In order to evaluate and control the liquidity risk of lhe Bank's portfolio, the Bank employs the following inslruments:
¢  Asset and Liability Managemeni {ALM), focused on suitably delermining the appropriale balance sheel structure, by corelating
resources and placements in ierms of their structure and maturity;
«  Computing and monitoring the liquidity ratios by maturity ranges, based on Ihe fulure cash-flows analysis, in terms of on- and off-
balance sheel assels and liabililies;
«  Establishing minimum limits for the liquidity rafios;
»  GAP analysis (aggregaled and separated, for RON and foreign curencies};
»  Monthty computation of certain liquidity ratios.
For every financial year the Bank prepares:
« A siralegy for managing liquidity under nomal circumstances encompassing the main objectives of the Bank, with the purpose to
maintain an adequate portiolio liquidity, by re-evaluating il in line with the business environment requirements;
» A contingency funding plan that is a stralegy for managing liquidity in crisis situalions, comprising the measures required to
successfully overcome a polenlial crisis.

The table below presents the proper evelution of the ratio of liquid assets lo customers {banking and non-banking customers) liabilities:

— 11 2010
(%) (%)
December 36.20 33.60
Average 35.27 30.88
Max 7.1 3414
Min 33.79 27.57
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

39.6.2 Liquidity analysis of assets and liabilities

The lables below show an analysis of assets and liabilities analyzed according lo when they are expected fo be recovered or setlled.

GROUP 2014

Lessthand  Lessthan? Sublotal less than Sublotal over 12
RON Thousand days months Jto12 months 12 months {toSyears OverSyears months Total
ASSETS
(ash and balances wifh central banks 10,324,594 - 1032454 - - 1032494
Dlue from banks 245445 797050 - 1,042,435 57,565 150 M5 1100210
Desivaiive financial instuments 8,005 3065 659 18,063 39448 28976 68.424 86,487
Financial assets held for trading . 55 093178 698,603 - 3005 anos 701,698
Financial assets designated a1 fair value thiough
proft of loss - . - . - 4194 4184 41 %4
Loans and advanges Lo customers, net 1976153 3885716 5077602 1183041 934041 Z6650.013 35064054  4TR0BSS
Francial mvestments - avalable-for-sale - 18mes 2356 424 4% £53,672 633 1000006 5244501
Finanoial investments - held-fo-malurity . 2070 801,782 8382 5660%9 1500000 1799 801182
Property and equipmenl . - . - - 18T 1584720 158471
Goodwll and other intangible assels - - - 439,60 43980 4980
Cuerent lax assets - 177428 17748 . - iTTAB
Defermed tax assets - - - - - 46,920 46,920 46,920
{ither assets - 852,582 X826 913.408 338 0.7 5816 06888
Assets held for sale . . 212,663 12,663 - - 263
TOTAL ASSETS Tik1 4,4 i b, 143,603
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Due 1o banks 145,400 1880660 433289 TE60426 116250 3612465 15236080 22906304
Derivatve financial instumenis 450 8794 598,001 007245 1203539 LR 1247643 184 888
Due to qustomers 9660973 185021 1B488Y 32047903 758568 B0 611 7616306 39664209
Debt issued and cther bomowed funds . 81,881 81,884 568,333 482,607 1050040 11328H
Current lax babities - 40n - 40n . . 401
Defered tax fabifties - - - . 54427 Sd4T SMAD
Cifer fiabifties . 765,125 6,162 1,287 708 . MW M
Provisions 305,178 . 305,778 . . - X570
Subordinaled fabiities . - . - 000867 1423823 2004690 2024690
TOTAL LIABILITIES S 5 T K N X A7 ST T T O B YA TG T 5 15K )
Net 1122 (3516560 1,212,505 W1182478)  (5816612) 24545082 18720480 746302
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

39.6.2 Liquidity analysis of assets and liabilities {continued)

GROUP 2010

Lessthand  Lessthan? Subtotal less than Subtotal over 12
RON Thousand days months 3o 12 months 12 monhs floSyears  OverSyears months Total
ASSETS
Cash and halances with centrel banks 9,545,365 . . 0,545,366 . - 9,545,385
Due from banks 1,178,595 489,688 6% 1,668,973 54,042 #7123 10765 LR
Derivative fmancial instruments - 1477 i 25109 16401 2410 8241
Fnancial asses held for trading 965,344 . 066,044 . . 966,344
Financial assels designaled &l fair value through
profit or loss 41,963 . 41963 . . 41,963
Loans and advances to customers, net 1198267 43607 898101 16515418 13448726 17429543 NBB269 47303687
Frizncial rwestments - avariabie-for-sale Tes 2 2959867 01468 264,009 95474 192531
Fanancial vestments - held-lo-mafunty 6,902 204,808 A0 3565548 157490 5140508 5442248
Property and equipmen . . - - 16008 160353 1693.9%
Goodwll and other inlangible assels . - 42430 2430 M3
{umrent tax assefs 192961 192,961 - 192,96
Deferred tax assets . - . - 53612 53612 53612
(ther assets 102,14 155,285 1787416 8389 16313 0206 2087822
Assets heid for sale 149 - . 248 - - - 24
TOTAL ASSETS 951,686 , ALERE i Ly
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY . -
Due bo banks pre N2 2504005 6305008 13067919 2450605 155185 HMSA5N
Repuechase agreements 1,686 - 1,586 . - - 1,886
Derivative financial instruments - - 1507 1807 1786870 . 1786870 17883
Due lo cuslomers 1078555 19264766 6069613 N9 2762086 2691016 5414002 37826936
Debtissued and other bomowed funds 182,046 16714 208820 172704 256,653 v kT A
Current lax biabities - . . . 1,726 1% palyl;
Deferred Lax Gabilties . . - : 493405 403405 490405
(ther iabies 1498202 11829 1617431 69.046 1138 oM 1688515
Provisions 253,951 . - 253,951 . . - 2839
Subordinated Liabilies . . . - 1967317 1977 167307
TOTAL LIABLITIES TIBT Bowil oA A, 0, . , .
Net 652,399 (16570006 326023 (6,790,254 18956 13574959 1389317 7,000,683
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39, RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

29.6.2 Liquidity analysis of assets and liabilities (continued)

Bank 2011

Lessthand  Lessthand Subtotal less Subtotal over 12
ROM Thousand days months 3o12monthe than 12months 1w 5years  OverSyears  months Total
ASSETS
(Cash and batances with central banks 10290, - 10,280, . . 10,260,771
Due from banks 139 106,323 . 948642 57565 150 75 1006357
Derivative financiz] instruments 8005 3065 6993 1,063 39448 2750 86,973 85,036
Financial assets held for trading . 515 608,178 608,643 3005 3005 701,598
Financial assets designated at fai vafue tough
pfilor loss - - . - 41,954 41,954 419
Loans and advances to cusiomers, nel 1,967 462 2900780 5751946 10,626,168 BOI11K 27453112 B46 469904
Fnancial fwvestments - avaiable-lor-sale -1 235148 4212551 853,671 1.28024% 1946470 615872
Financial invesiments - held-lo-matunty . 3407 3467 5180914 140,007 6612111 7155608
Property and equipmen . - 535,368 535308 535308
Goodwil and other intangible assets - . . H3sn A358  HISB
(urrent tax assets . 117184 177,284 . 1%
QOther assets . 497042 - 497,042 - . 497,42
TOTAL ASSETS BN 1 4 8 Y i A5 T, . ik
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Due o banks 1448186 16620 397748 6202184 10927482 3612467 5009 74213
Derwative fnancial insfruments 450 g.red 533,001 607,245 120353 Y1 1247543 1854888
Due bo customers 8608920 18600165 3704265 00 679048 60,274 50302 38842762
Deb! issued and other bomowed mds - . B1.881 B1.881 436400 482,607 919,008 1,000,689
Defesred iax fabifties . - . 506.256 506,256 506,256
Other liabilties . 666,891 966,601 . 066,891
Provisions 267,345 . 297845 . . . 27,845
Subordinated kabilties - - . . o0eeT 1423823 204690 202469
TOTAL LIABILITIES TR LW G, s, ki il ,
Net 145415 (13,006,004) 896,183 (1195605 (5,115,675  24,6988% 078462 TRTAYT
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

39.6.2 Liquidity analysis of assets and liabilities {continued)

Bank 2010

Lessthand  Lessthan 3 Sublotal less Subtotal over 12
RON Thousand days months Jio 12 months than 12months 1toSyears  OverSyears  months Total
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central banks 9460523 - 9468323 - . 9468523
Due from banks 924048 459,688 - 141373 2379 18.208 41999 1455735
Denvalive fnancial insuments . - 1.15% 115 35709 16404 4210 43,266
Financial assets held for rading 956,944 - 966,944 . - 966,944
Financial assets designaled al fair value firough
ol of kiss 41963 . 41,963 . - 41963
Loans and advances to customers, net 3,047,586 4121791 8,557,046 157703 12915114 16608361 2423495 45160818
Financial nvestmens - available-for-sale B64569 2181819 2,866,408 701,059 1,386,128 2007487 4963505
Financial investments - held-l-maturty 82,29 292,284 3143500 1562629 4706129 4998470
Property and equipment . - 751,276 751216 751,276
Goodwil and other inlangible assels - . - 2068 106% 2063
Currenl lax assels 189,527 . 189,527 - - 189527
Qther zssets 190,612 656449 1449061 40,211 185210 25421 1684482
TOTAL ASSETS 40, s 1, ] 145, /08, i 943,
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Due ko banks 09,948 1689703 1575141 134792 13002397 2455184 15547521 16,902,313
Repurchase agreements 1,086 . 1,886 . - - 1,886
Derivative financial insiruments . . 1507 1,507 1,786,670 1786870 1768377
Due o cushomers B937680 18991607 5908793 e 273391 2835146 539057 37287146
Debl issued and other bormowed finds 192046 16,774 W80 172104 256,853 4937 633,177
Deferred tax Ratdfties - - . - 465390 465990 465990
(ther fizbitties 1,374,269 108405 148269 MU 1044 65178 1547872
Provsions 22641 - - 164N . - . prGEN
Subordinaled Liabimes . . 1961317 1967317 1867317
TOTAL LIABILITIES : 249, 194, 4, ol : :
Net G186,049  (14954417) 400,041 @WieT R (1100577) 12981537 1106685 7,119,638
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39.6.3 Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities

The tables below summarize (he maturify profile of the financial liabilities at 31 December 2011 and ai 31 December 2010 based on contractual
undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject fo notice are lreated as if nolice were given immediatety. However, Lhe
Group and the Bark expect thal many cuslomers will not request repayment on the earliest date the Group or the Bank could be required to
pay and the tables do nol reflect lhe expected cash-flows indicated by the Group's and the Bank's deposit refention hislory.

Group 2011
Lessthan3 Less than 3 Subtotal less than Sutriotal aver 12

RON Thousand days months 3lo12months 12 months to5years Over 5 years months Total

Due by banks 1459962 1,898,101 4,475,969 TRO026 13470057 4.568,49 18033406 25867432
Derivative financial instuments 450 8,74 598,001 607245 1,2035% 4440 1247643 1854888
Due b customers 9639285 1821983 3,945,169 2256437 6463410 M B536,157 40,792,504
Debt issued and ofher bomowed funds - . 83,590 8590 1,15452 492,730 181818 1901772
Current ax liabithes - 40m - 4071 - . 401
Defemed ax fiabities - . - - 534427 4T hM4E
Other Rabifiies - 765,126 6162 111,268 708 - 0w MK
Provisons 5,71 - k' ¥ ) . - 305,771
Subordinated fabilities - - . - &53.610 242,114 3215750 Q275714
Total undiscouned financlal liabilities 15414 21,20075 9,108, A5 434 2536806 814N N2 18308
Group 2010

Lessthan3 Lessthan 3 Subtotal less than Subtotal over 12

RON Thousand days months Jto12months 12 months {to5years QverSyzars months Total

Due b banks W21 348201 2971892 6514174 16820577 362445 20448000 26962176
Dervative financial instruments - - 1507 1507 1786870 . 1786870 1788377
Due b customers 7095002 19.382795 6,255,546 RIWAI 3169258 3,300,695 6469953 30.204,19%
Debl issued and other bomowed funds . 192,856 7128 200854 482513 70440 1156615 1,366,508
Currenl (ax fiabikties - - . paly] W1 A%
Defered lax fiatififies - - . 498405 408405 408406
Other fabiities - 1499202 118229 161743 09,47 1137 7084 1,688,545
Provisions 253,951 . 253,951 - - 253951
Subordinaled babities - . - - - 36660 36K 34EE69
Total undiscounied Rnanclai liabilties TN 145569 T 0 ZNLIB ML TR 151060
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

39.6.3 Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities {continued)

Bank 2011

Lessthan3 Lessthan 3 Subtotal less than Subtotal over 12
RON Thousand days months Jto12months 12 months {lo5years OverSyears months Total
Due b bartts 1452018 2% 4119646 542063 12662314 4568351 17230725 23,573 688
Deivative financial instruments 450 §7% 568,001 BOT25  12035% MM 1247643 1854808
Due b customers 0608762 18782017 3889.250 RETH  TESEH 72U 7678202 30.95083
Debt issued and other bommwed funds . #3590 83500 1116805 492673 1609478 1693088
Deferred lax liabikties . : - - 506.256 56256 506256
Other Gabies - 666,92 - 65,892 . - BBB8%2
Provisions 27844 . . 27 844 . - - W
Subordinated iabilies - - . - B53G0 242114 RYIEYE VI
Total undiscounted financial labililies Y T TR0 T
Bank 2010

Lessthan3 Less than Subtotal less than Subtolal over 12
RON Thousand days months Jo42months 12 months {1o§years Over§years months Tolal
Due b banks 9 10957 1,669.451 3469767 1685012 3631198 20486210 23955977
Desivative financial instruments . 1507 1507 1,708670 . 1786870 1788377
Due bb cusiomers 6938167 19107963 B,172.251 RAUBAL  31BN07 326033 6416841 30635244
{1eb! isued and other borowed (unds . 192,856 17128 09004 440568  T014M 105092 1360976
Delerred tax liabibtes . . . - 445,900 45000 465990
Cther Babities - 13 108,40 1432693 .14 1,045 85179 17872
Provisons 2641 . - 2641 - . 764N
Subordinted Babifioes - - . - 36610 U660 36670
Total undiscourted fnancial Vabiliies S % O P L I i
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39, RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39.6.4 Analysis of contingent liabilities and commitments by remaining contractual maturities

The tables below show the contraciual expiry by maiurity of the conlingent liabifities and commitments.

Group 2011
Subfotal less Subtotal
Lessthan3 3to12 than 12 Over 5 over 12
RON Thousand months months months 1to Syears years months Total
Conlingent liabilities 487 518 920239 1,416,757 2,773,151 1035207 3,608,358 5,225,115
Commilments 421,230 729735 1,150,965 3,315,251 85040 3,400,291 4,551,256
Total : :7'l: 'q"-—' --'-__ '“‘;" ' “' 47 v ':?"i g, 18, i
Group 2010
Subtotal less Subtotal
Lass than 3 3to12 than 12 1to 5 Over 5 over 12
RON Thousand months months months years years months Total
Contingent liabililies 559,336 799,559 1,358,895 1,675,539 647,367 2,322,906 3,681,801
Commitmenis 428,816 764,023 1,192,839 1,436,755 922,540 2,359,205 3552134
Total 988,152 1,563,582 2,551,734 3,112,294 1,569,907 4,682,201 7,233,935
Bank 2011
Subtotal less Subtotal
Lessthan3 3to 12 than 12 Ovar 5 over 12
RON Thousand months months months 1to 5 years years months Total
Contingenl liabilities 486,485 926910 1,413,395 2767275 1033014 3,800,288 5213684
Commilments 420,513 728,494 1,140,007 3,309,611 84,896 3,394,507 4,543,514
Total 906,998 1,655,404 2,562,407 6,016,886 1,117,970 7,184,796 9,757,168
BANK 2010
Subtotal lass Subtotal
Less than 3 3to12 than 12 1to 5 Over 5 over 12
RON Thousand months months months years years months Total
Contingent liabilities 530,590 758,467 1,289,057 1,589,425 614,097 2,203,522 3,492,579
Commitmenls 412,507 734,963 1.147.470 1,382,068 887 451 2269519 3,416,989
Total 943,007 1,493,430 2,436,527 2,971,493 1,501,548 4,473,041 6,909,568
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39.7 Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss Lhat could arise from adverse changes in the markel prices and rales, equily prices, foreign exchange rates and
commodity prices, the comelafions between them and their levels of volafifity.

In terms of market risk, BCR focuses on:

v sefiing an appropriate structure of its assets and liabilities, enabling il fo avoid significani negative impact on the Bank's aclivity and
financial performance, should the interes! rates, foreign exchange rales and marke! prices change;

+  identifying the causes behind the market risk, assessing its exposure to such risks and taking necessary steps to mitigale them.

The evolution of the foreign cumrency (‘FX°) positions, as perceniage of own funds, computed according fo the regulations issued by the
Nalional Bank of Romania were:

Exposure on cumrencles 20114 2010
% of own funds % of own funds
0.93%
EUR Average 6.54% s
Maximumn 9,94% '
Average 0.06% 007%
Uso 0.18%
Maximum 0,83% .
Average 6,58% 1.01%
Total
° Maximum 10,12% 3.04%

The value at risk ("VaR") of the lotal FX position was reduced accordingly for 2011, as presented below:

1 day, 99%, RON VaR 2011 2010
The VaR of the fotal FX posiion  Average 56,969 50,239
Maximum 117,862 205,156

Currently BCR computes the VaR using the Historical simulation melhod. The parameters of the VaR computalion are: holding pericd = 1 day,
confidence level = 99%, lambda = 1, length of risk faclors ime series = 730 days. This is the standard across Erste Group.

Below one can see the structure of the inlemal market risk limits as of 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2011:

»  Limits for the Trading Book
«  Limits on the FX position (for three categories: i) EUR and USD, ii) olher cumrencies except EUR and USD, iii) Tolal FX position):
o  Exposure (Defla)
o 1Day, 99%-VaR limit;

» Limits of Fixed Income Trading Book:
o  Present value of a basis point ('PVBP") and
o 1Day,93%-VaR

+ Limits on common stock position:
o  Exposure (defia) limils {for three categories: i) Erste, ii} Other, iii} Total)
o 1Day, 99%- VaR

Aggregated VaR limits:
o forFITB plus MM and the
o forthe whole TE.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)
39.7  Market Risk {continued)
»  Limits for the Banking Book
*  Limits for money market ("MM"):
o  PVBP limits for MM {for RON, EUR, USD, olher currencies and lofal);
o 1Day, 99% - VaR limit

= Limits for fixed income
o PVBP limits for FI BB - AFS and HTM {for RON, EUR, USD, olher currencies and tolal) :

o 1Day,39%-VaR
During 2011 and 2010 there were no market risk limit breaches.

The Bank developed specific norms for iransaclions with financial derivatives, used both as products offered to customers lor risk mitigation and
for hedging against the market risk exposure of its own portfolic.

In 2011, (he marke risk limits system were further improved by adding in the TB, two new, more aggregated VaR limits: one for FI TB plus MM
and the other for the whole TB, in addition to the existing ones. The one for the whole TB will also be useful for ICAAP.

As a member of the Erste Holding, BCR was included beginning with Oclober 2009 in the program of ceniralizing the trading aclivity at lhe
Holding level,

a0
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39, RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39.7 Market Risk (continued)

39.74. Currency risk

Group 2011

RON Thousand RON EUR ED) Other Total
Assels

Cash and balances wilh central banks 5,348,002 4 B67,908 43,183 65,829 10,324,934
Due from banks 681,710 M43 70,992 76,075 1,100,210
Financial assels held for Irading 701,698 . - - 701,608
Derivatwve financial inslrumenls 29,586 56,745 156 86,487
Financia assels designated at fair value lhrough profil or loss 41,954 . - - 41,954
Loans and advances (o cuslomers 17,002,012 29,357 324 1,392,588 51,601 47 803,525
Financial investments - available-for-sale 4.270,7% 941,473 - 2.2 5,244 50
Financial investmenls - held-lo-maturity 5,112,608 2,848,779 5043 8,011,821
Property and equipment 1,576,595 210 1916 1,584,721
Inlangible assels 438,862 - 938 439,820
Current lax assels 177,295 b7 46 171428
Defermed tax assels 4391 % - 2919 46,920
Olher assels 620,6% 283,350 37,455 18,273 968,983
Assels Held For Sale 212,663 - - - 212,663
Total assets 38,267,602 30,627,408 1,544,386 306,269 76,145,685
Liabilities

Due to banks 12,350,206 10,493,602 24,305 3.2 22,906,394
Denvalive financial instruments 1,783,336 1,354 198 - 1,854,888
Due to cuslomers 26,366,394 11,450,705 1,641,931 205,269 39,664,299
Deb! issued and olher bomowed funds 708,501 424 320 - - 1,132,821
Current tax liabililies 3,948 - 123 4071
Delerred lax liabilities 534,378 - - 49 534427
Other liabililies 596,17 155,855 16,646 33 71,9495
Provisions 106,181 177,498 22,089 - 305,778
Subordinaled Liabililies 1,351,866 672,624 - - 2,024,690
Total liabilities 43,801,061 23,448,158 1,705,178 246,963 69,199,383
Net (7.533,459) 15,161,250 {160,793} 59,304 7,546,302
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Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

39. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)
39.7  Market Risk (continued)

39.7.1. Currency risk {continued

Group 2010

RON Thousand RON EUR UsD Other Total
Assets

Cash and balances wilh cenlral banks 4 807,056 4,624,462 58,536 55,341 545,395
Cue from banks 735,366 607,141 255,283 173,948 1,771,738
Financial assels held for rading 966,944 - - - 966,944
Denvalive finandal inslruments 30,670 1247 146 43,287
Financial assels designated & fair value through profit o loss 41,963 - - - 41,963
Loans and advances to customers 17,351,304 28,704,031 531,209 407,053 47,393,687
Finangeal investmenis - available-for-sale 2,626,322 1,245,061 3401 50,587 382531
Financaal investmenls - held-lo-malurity 4,538,791 843,294 - 133 5442218
Progerty and equipment 1,684,293 38 9,007 1,693,5%
Inangible asses 423416 17 Ba7 424320
Current tax assels 190,596 2,365 - 192,961
Deferred (ax assels 46,507 7,025 - . 53,612
Olher assels 1,431,952 580,506 41,084 33,680 2,087,622
Assels Held For Sale 29429 - - - 20429
Total assets 34,965,269 36,626,811 1,289,749 730,636 13,612,485
Liabllities

Due to banks 129714 92717197 157,547 51,667 21,823,532
Repurchase agreements - 1,846 - - 1,886
Derivalive financid instruments 1,742,513 45,539 265 . 1,788,377
Due 1o cuslomers 24,964,904 11,203,464 1,465,739 192,799 37,826,936
Deb! issued and olher borrowed funds 385,659 252,518 - - 638,177
Currenl tax liabilibes 21,630 - 96 21,726
Deferred lax liahiliies 498,405 - - - 498,405
Other liabifilies 970,680 603,123 65,747 40,95 1,688,515
Provisions 93,904 138,700 21,206 132 253,951
Subordinated Liabililies 1,351,073 616,244 - - 1,967,317
Total liabilities 42,373,949 218,710 1,710,504 285,659 6,508,822
Net (7,408,660} 14,488,101 (420,755) 444 977 7,103,663
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
397 Market Risk (continued)

39.7.1. Currency risk (continued)

BANK 2014

RON Thousand RON EUR usp Other Tolal
Assets

Cash and balances wilh ceniral banks 5,347 850 4,858,372 KTNFL 46,825 10,200,771
Due from banks £29,220 235223 65,896 76,018 1,006,357
Finangial assels held for rading 701,698 - . - 701,698
Denvative financial instruments 29,568 55311 156 1 05,036
Financial assels designaled al fair value lhreugh profif or loss 41,954 - - - 41,95
Loans and advances lo cusiomers 16,152,681 27544014 1,286,272 1467 46,9004%
Finangial invesiments - avalable-for-sale 5,033,320 949941 - 175,460 6,158,721
Financal investments - held-lo-maturity 4,306,829 2848779 . 7,155,608
Property and equipmenl 535,308 - 535,398
Iniangible assels 243,528 243,528
Curen la assets 177,284 . - - 177,284
Olher assels 340,045 122,663 32857 1477 497042
Total assets 35530375 36614303 1,422,905 307,248 73,883,834
Liabilities

Due lo banks 12,368 857 8,235,073 2627 15,556 20,742,113
Derivative financial instrumenls 1,183,336 7,354 198 - 1,854,888
Due lo cuslomers 25,726,605 11,450,416 1628417 13134 35,942,762
Debt issued and cfher borrowed funds 708,501 262,368 - . 1,000,889
Defemred lax fiabiities 506,25 - - - 506,256
Olhey liabities 538617 109,883 16,507 1,804 666,891
Provisions 98,248 177,498 209 - 207 845
Subordinated Liabiifes 1,351,866 672,024 - - 2024650
Total liabilities ‘ 43,082,286 21,109.43% 1,689,928 154,684 66,036,334
Net (7,542,911 15,504,867 {267,023) 152,564 7,847 497
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

39.7 Market Risk {continued)

39.7.1. Cumency risk {continued)

BANK 2010

"RON Thousand RON EUR USD Other Tota
Asseis

Cash and balances wilh central banks 4,767,4% 4,589,269 49,562 42,256 9,468,523
Due from banks 666,484 459,799 187,909 141,543 1,456,735
Financial assels held for trading 966,944 - - - 066,944
Derivative financial inslrumenis 3067 12,449 148 43,266
Financal essets designaled at fair value through profit or loss 41,963 - . - 41963
Loans and advances lo customers 17489,428 26,444,627 902,285 324,478 45,160,018
Financial investments - available-for-sale 3404.429 1,401,002 - 158,164 4,963,505
Finandial invesiments - held-lo-malurity 4,185,126 843,294 . 4,998,420
Property and equipment 751,276 - 751,276
intangible assels 220,638 220638
Curren! lax assels 189,527 - - - 169,527
Other assels 1,200,922 422,558 40,039 20,963 1,684,482
Total assels 33,904,844 34172,998 1,179,941 687 404 60,945 187
Liabilities

Due to banks 12,306,524 6,566,772 13951 15,069 18,902,313
Repurchase agresments - 1,366 . - 1,868
Derivalive financial instruments 1742573 45,539 265 - 1,188,377
Due lo customers 24517903 11,222,829 1431752 114,662 37,287,146
Deht issued and olher bormowed funds 385,659 252518 - - 638,177
Deferred tax liabililies 465,99 - - - 465,990
Other habilities 937,005 506,971 63,935 39,91 1,547,872
Provisions 87,783 117,482 21,206 - 226474
Subominated Liabilities 1,351,073 616,244 - - 1,967 317
Total liabilities 41,794,507 19,330,244 1,531,109 169,692 62,825,549
Net (7,889,683) 14,842,751 (351.168) 517,12 7,119,638
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2011

39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39.7 Market Risk (continued)
39.71.  Cumency risk {continued)

As a member of Erste Bank Group, BCR was included in 2009 in the program of Irading activity centralization set up at Holding level and
according to the business model BCR- Erste Bank Group, starting with October 2009, all trading operations were Lransferred on a cenlralized
trading book on holding level, BCR foreign exchange position is closed and is transferred lo holding and the result is retumed to BCR on a pro-
raled basis, depending on the conlribution of the local trader and the volume of transactions.

39.7.2 Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk of adverse change in the fair value of financial instrumenls caused by movemenl in market interest rates. This type of
risk arises when mismaiches exist between assats and liabilities {including ofi-balance-sheet items} in respect of their maturilies o of the liming
of interes rale adjustments.

Beginning with Seplember 2010, the Bank reporis potential changes in the economic value of he bank due lo changes in interes| rates,
according to the NBR's Regulation no. 18.

In order to idenlify inleres! rate risk, all financial instruments, including transactions not recognized in the balance sheet, are grouped into
malurity bands based on their remaining term to malurity or ierm lo an interes! rate adjustment.

The following table lists the open fixed-income posilions held by the Bank in the two cumencies that camy significant inferes! rate risk: EUR and
RON, as of:

2011 in RON thousand 1-3years  3-5 years 5-10 years over 10 years

Fixed-inlerest gapin EOR posdions at 31 December 2011 1,452,274 T873,493 Z§7§,3165 i!3,§535
Fixed-interest gap in RON posiions at 31 December 2011 THoZ.005 150,085 2.238810  12./99
2010 in RON thousand f-3years  JSyears 510 years  over 10 years
Fixed-interest gap in EUR positions at 31 December 2010 1,144,483 1,117,677 (122,903) {93,048)
Fixed-interest gap in RON positions at 31 December 2010 1,467,871 1,890,597 2,212,018 16,635
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
398 Operational risk

Operalional risk is defined as Ihe risk of loss resulfing from inadequale or failed intemal processes, people and systems or from extemal evenls,
and includes legal risk. This definilion excludes stralegic and reputational risk. Legal risk is defined as the risk of loss due to the violation of
applicable laws, rules, regulations, ethical standards, intemal peficies, procedures and contractual commitments.

The Bank cannol expect o eliminate all operational risks, but through a control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks,
fhe Bank is able to manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation of dulies, access, authorizalion and reconcilialion procedures, staff
education and assessment processes, including the use of intemal audit.

The Bank administers operational risks by approaching the main operational risk cafegories (e.g. intemal fraud, extemal fraud, the requirements
relating to personnel additions and the security of the working environmenl, emoneous praclices related fo the clientele, products and activities,
etc,) and ensuring the appropriate framework for the identification, assessment, notification, moniloring and reporting of this significant risk.

The Bank remains committed o the objective of increasing shareholder value by developing and growing business that is consistent with risk
appetile, and through building more effective risk management capabilities. Responsibility for risk managemenl resides at all levels within the
BCR, from the Executive down through the organizalion 1o each business manager and risk specialist. The Bank is seeking an appropriale
balance in fls business, and confinuing to build the risk management capabiliies that will help to deliver growth plans in a controlled
environment,

In order fo decrease the Bank's exposure fo operational risk, the BCR operational risk strategy for 2011 followed these main guidelines:

s+ The set-up of the Operational Risk Commitiee at the BCR level — unique forum for discussing the main operational risk
issues and establishing (he related mitigation aclion plan with the involvement of all stakeholders

»  the implementation of proper procedures/ norms/ work instructions with the purpose of preventing/ mitigaling operational
risk and improving intemal control syslem;

+  conlinuing Lhe intemal control seff-assessment process begun in August 2009 by the functional enliies from Central
Administration (Risk and Control Self-Assessment - RCSA) in order fo identify high and medium risk areas, put forth
proper measures for the prevention/ mitigation of operational losses or undertake risks;

»  development of the RCSA mitigating measures follow up/ reporting process;

+ the centralizalion of the corporale credil and collateral conlracts writing process and the slorage of original documentalion
within the Loan Administration Projecl

+  improving Ihe risk assessment process related lo the new products;

+  developing means/ crileria for the fraud identification and prevention;

+  concluding insurance policies againsi operalional risks (for example intemal and extemal fraud, legal and civic liability,
elc.} and own patimony damages;

» the constant revisal of the plans drawn up for the re-running of activity and for unforeseen silualions.

Starting with October 2010, BCR uses the AMA method {advanced measurement approach for operalional risk} as per Nalional Bank of
Romania and Financial Markets Authority in Austria approval.
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40. CAPITAL ADEQUACY
40.1 Capital management

The primary objectives of the Bank's capital management are to ensure that the Bank complies wilh the capital requiremens and that the Bank
mainlains strong credit ralings and healthy capital rafios in order fo support ifs business and lo maximize shareholders' value.

The Bank manages its capital siructure and makes adjuslments to it in lhe light of changes in econamic conditions and Lhe risk characteristics of
ils activities.

40.2 Capital adequacy

The solvency ratio according to national regulaiions (Basel Il requirements) as at 31 December 2011 based on provisional dala was of 12.65%
{31 December 2010; 12.98% based on final financial slatemenls).

In addilion io the above ratio the Bank and the Group also monilor the adequacy of their capilal using ratics established by the Bank for
Infemnational Settiements (‘BIS™) in July 1988, based upon financial statements prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting
Slandards (IFRS).

Based upon financial informalion prepared in accordance with IFRS the Tier 1 and the Tier 1 plus Tier 2 capilal adequacy ratios at 31
December 2011 were:

. 14.33% and 17.52%, respeciively (31 December 2010: 13.69% and 16.82%, respeciively) for the Bank
' 13.30% and 17.09%, respectively (31 December 2010: 12.96% and 16.77%, respectively} for the Group.

Under BIS guidelines, on-balance sheet exposures are allocaled lo slandardized approach asset classes, a risk weighling being assigned
according lo these classes and the loan quality. The following categories of risk weighis are applied: 0%, 10%, 20%, 35%, 50%, 75%, 100%,
150%, 200% and other risk weights according to nalional law; for example cash and exposures te central banks denominated and financed in
focal currency or EUR have a zero risk weighling which means that no capital is required lo support the holding of these assels. Premises and
equipment carries a 100% risk weighting, meaning Ihat it must be supported by capital equal to 8% of the camying amount. Other assel
categories have intermediale weightings.

Off-balance-sheel credil related commitments, lefiers of guarantee and derivalives are taken into account by applying different categories of
credil conversion factors, designed to convert these ilems into balance sheet equivalents. The resulting credil equivalent amounts are then
weighted for credil risk using the same percentages as for balance sheel assets.

The total credil risk capital requirement is calculated as 8% of the risk weighted assels.

Also, in order o calculate Ihe capital adequacy ralio, the Bank computes a capital requirement for market and operalional risks.
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40.  CAPITAL ADEQUACY (continued)
402 Capital adequacy (continued)

Tier 1 capilal consists of shareholders’ eligible equity less deduclions (intangibles, participation in insurance companies and other). Tier 2
includes the Bank and the Group's subordinated liabililies.

Group Bank

RON Thousand 2011 2010 2011 2010
Tier 1 capital 7075139 6,670,090 7,149,215 6,373,432
Tier 1+ Tier 2 capital 9,089,920 B8,628162 8,738,779  7.831,713
Risk weighted assets (credit, market and operational risks) 53,193,008 51,458,544 49,886,792 46,556,973
BIS Capital ralios

Tier 1 capital 13.30% 12.96% 14.33% 13.69%
Tier 1+ Tier 2 capital 17.09% 16.77% 17.52% 16.82%
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